

Substrate engineering and advanced epitaxial growth for the production of group IV semiconductor freestanding membranes

Tadeáš Hanuš

► To cite this version:

Tadeáš Hanuš. Substrate engineering and advanced epitaxial growth for the production of group IV semiconductor freestanding membranes. Engineering Sciences [physics]. Université de Sherbrooke (Québec, Canada), 2024. English. NNT: . tel-04677116

HAL Id: tel-04677116 https://hal.science/tel-04677116v1

Submitted on 25 Aug 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Thèse de doctorat

Titre français

Ingénierie des substrats et la croissance épitaxiale

avancée pour la production de membranes autoportantes

de matériaux semi-conducteurs du groupe IV

Titre anglais

Substrate engineering and advanced epitaxial growth for the production of group IV semiconductor freestanding membranes

Par

Tadeáš Hanuš

Université de Sherbrooke

Département de Génie Mécanique

Institut interdisciplinaire d'innovation technologique

Sherbrooke, Canada

Juillet 2024

Jury members:

Prof. Abderraouf Boucherif (Supervisor)

Department of mechanical engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, Institut interdisciplinaire d'innovation technologique, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

Prof. Thierno Mamoudou Diallo (Supervisor)

Department of mechanical engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, Institut interdisciplinaire d'innovation technologique, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

Prof. Seth Hubbard (Examiner)

Rochester Institute of Technology, Rochester, NY, USA

Prof. Richard Arès (Examiner)

Department of mechanical engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, Institut interdisciplinaire d'innovation technologique, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

Prof. Nadi Braidy (Examiner)

Department of chemical and biotechnology engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, Institut interdisciplinaire d'innovation technologique, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada "Báseň snese všechno. Čím větší pitomost, tím více lidí hledá v ní zrnko myšlenky, schopnost, neobyčejný talent, a tím více lidí uznává genialitu básníka."

Jaroslav Hašek

Résumé

Les membranes autoportantes à base de semi-conducteurs (FSMs) sont récemment devenues cruciales pour l'expansion rapide de la nanoscience et de la technologie, représentant un domaine très prometteur de recherche avancée sur les matériaux. Les FSMs offrent un degré de liberté supplémentaire pour des mises en œuvre impossibles à obtenir par des méthodes conventionnelles telles que l'hétéroépitaxie de matériaux avec un désaccord de mailles cristallines très important. La fabrication de FSMs à partir de divers matériaux permet un empilement couche par couche, facilitant un couplage des propriétés physiques de matériaux différents. De plus, les structures FSMs offrent une légèreté et une flexibilité sans précédent par rapport aux substrats conventionnels. Cela démontre leur fort potentiel pour la fabrication de nouveaux dispositifs, notamment l'électronique sur la peau, les dispositifs empilés verticalement, l'optoélectronique flexible, etc., ainsi qu'une voie direct pour l'hétéro-intégration. De plus, l'utilisation de FSMs permet des économies significatives de coûts dans la production de dispositifs, en particulier pour des matériaux dont les prix sont plusieurs ordres de grandeur supérieurs à ceux du silicium, car seule une fraction du matériau est utilisée par rapport aux substrats conventionnels. Dans ce contexte, les FSMs de matériaux du groupe IV attirent beaucoup d'attention pour leurs applications dans l'optoélectronique haute performance et les dispositifs de télécommunication à haute vitesse tels que les guides d'ondes, les transmissions THz, les photodétecteurs et les lasers, ainsi que pour leur biocompatibilité et leur non-toxicité par rapport aux contreparties en matériaux III-V. Cependant, la fabrication de FSMs de haute qualité à partir des matériaux de groupe IV reste une tâche difficile.

Dans cette thèse, nous démontrons deux voies prometteuses pour produire des FSMs du groupe IV en développant les méthodes de l'ingénierie des substrats et de la croissance épitaxiale avancée. La première partie de ce travail se concentre sur l'épitaxie assistée par les matériaux 2D. Nous introduisons l'approche de nucléation par point d'ancrage permettant la croissance de FSM de haute qualité sur une surface recouverte de graphène. Grâce à un traitement au plasma, des défauts tels que des liaisons pendantes et des ouvertures nanometriques sont introduits dans la couche de graphène, agissant comme des sites de nucléation préférentiels lors de la croissance. Les données expérimentales

dévoilent la nature de ces défauts, leur rôle dans la nucléation et les mécanismes régissant cette technique. De plus, la microscopie électronique à transmission haute résolution combinée à une analyse de phase géométrique établit que les couches nouvellement formées sont parfaitement monocristallines, sans contraintes et orientées par le substrat sous la couche de graphène modifiée. Ces découvertes fournissent de nouvelles perspectives sur l'ingénierie du graphène par plasma et ouvrent une voie universelle pour l'hétéro-intégration de semi-conducteurs 3D de haute qualité sur le graphène, ainsi que la fabrication de FSMs.

La deuxième partie de ce travail se concentre sur une approche alternative pour la formation de FSMs en matériaux du groupe IV en utilisant des substrats nanostructurés. Tout d'abord, nous démontrons la formation de couches homogènes de germanium poreux (PGe) sur l'ensemble de la plaquette de 100 mm en utilisant une gravure électrochimique bipolaire, avec la possibilité de régler les propriétés physiques de la structure PGe par variation des paramètres de gravure. La nanostructure PGe maintient la nature cristalline et l'orientation du substrat de germanium (Ge), et présente une faible rugosité de surface, en faisant un substrat idéal pour l'épitaxie. La croissance à basse température permet de maintenir l'intégrité du PGe lors de la formation de FSM de haute qualité sur le dessus. La membrane peut être par la suite facilement détachée à travers l'interface poreuse et le substrat peut être nettoyé pour une réutilisation et la fabrication de plusieurs générations de FSMs à partir de même substrat. Ces découvertes offrent de nouvelles opportunités pour produire des dispositifs optoélectroniques légers et flexibles de haute performance basés sur les FSMs de Ge, tout en assurant une réduction à la fois des coûts et de la consommation de matériaux critiques.

Mots-clés: Membranes autoportantes, Matériaux du groupe IV, Germanium, Épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D, semi-conducteurs poreux, détachement, réutilisation du substrat

Abstract

Semiconductor-based freestanding membranes (FSMs) have recently become central to the rapidly expanding frontiers of nanoscience and technology, and a highly promising area of advanced materials research. FSMs offer an extra degree of freedom for implementations that cannot be obtained by conventional methods such as heteroepitaxy, which often involves significant lattice mismatch in crystalline structures. Fabrication of FSMs from various materials allows for layer-by-layer stacking, enabling an easy coupling of the physical properties of dissimilar materials. Additionally, FSM structures offer unprecedented lightweight, and flexibility compared to conventional substrates. This demonstrates their high potential for the fabrication of novel applications, such as stretchable on-skin electronics or vertically stacked devices, flexible optoelectronics, etc., as well as a straightforward path for heterointegration. Furthermore, the use of FSMs provides significant cost savings in device production, especially for materials with orders of magnitude higher prices than that of silicon, as only a fraction of the material is being used when compared to conventional wafers. In this context, group IV materials FSM attract a lot of attention for their applications in high-performance optoelectronics and high-speed telecommunication, as well as for their biocompatibility and nontoxicity compared to III-V counterparts. However, the fabrication of high-quality group IV FSMs is still a challenging task.

In this thesis, we demonstrate two promising paths for production of group IV FSMs using substrate engineering and advanced epitaxial growth. The first part of this work focuses on 2D-assisted epitaxy. We introduce the Anchor Point Nucleation approach enabling the growth of high-quality FSMs over a graphene-covered surface. Through plasma treatment defects, such as dangling bonds and nanoholes, are introduced in the graphene layer, acting as preferential nucleation sites. The experimental data unravel the nature of these defects, their role in nucleation, and the mechanisms governing this technique. Additionally, high-resolution transmission electron microscopy combined with geometrical phase analysis established that the as-grown layers are perfectly single crystalline, stress-free, and oriented by the substrate underneath the engineered graphene layer. These findings provide new insights into graphene engineering by plasma and open

a universal pathway for the heterointegration of high-quality 3D semiconductors on graphene, and fabrication of FSMs.

The second part of this work focuses on an alternative approach to produce group IV FSMs using nanostructured substrates. First, we demonstrate the formation of homogenous porous germanium (PGe) layers across the entire 100 mm wafer using bipolar electrochemical etching, with the possibility to tune the physical properties of the PGe structure by variation of etching parameters. The PGe nanostructure maintains the crystalline nature and orientation of the Ge substrate, and presents low surface roughness, making it an ideal substrate for the epitaxy. The low-temperature growth allows maintaining the PGe's integrity during the formation of high-quality FSM on top. The membrane can then be easily detached through the porous interface and the substrate can be cleaned for reuse and fabrication of multiple FSMs generations. These findings provide new opportunities to produce lightweight and flexible, high-performance optoelectronics based on Ge FSMs, while also ensuring reduction of both costs and critical material consumption.

Keywords: Freestanding membranes, Group IV materials, 2D-assisted epitaxy, Germanium, Porous semiconductors, Lift-off, Substrate reuse

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank Prof. Abderraouf Boucherif for providing me with the opportunity to pursue my Ph.D. thesis. Your trust in me and the freedom you provided to me in my research opened many opportunities I could not have taken otherwise.

I also wish to thank Prof. Seth Hubbard, Prof. Richard Arès and Prof. Nadi Braidy for taking part in my jury committee, and for reviewing this work.

I extend my sincere gratitude to Prof. Thierno Mamoudou Diallo and Dr. Bouraoui Illahi for their unwavering patience and guidance over the past years, helping me grow and focus amidst a sea of ideas and distractions. Without you, I would have tried everything but achieved nothing. Thierno, your perseverance, scientific rigor, openness, and positive attitude will always be a source of inspiration for me. Bouraoui, thank you for sharing all your wisdom and experience with me. From you, I have learned many valuable lessons that I will cherish now and forever. Thank you both for being there whenever I needed it.

Many thanks to Philippe-Olivier Provost, Hubert Peltier, Javier Arias-Zapata and Arthur Dupuy, Étienne Paradis. You have helped me to overcome many obstacles I have encountered – it was always a pleasure to work with you. A heartfelt recognition goes to Guillaume Bertrand for keeping our reactor "Peggy" running over the years against all odds, and always providing a piece of helpful advice. I also thank my fellow epi-growers – Alexandre Heintz, Jonathan Henriques, Nicolas Paupy and Ahmed Ayari – for many hours of fun throughout our growth sessions and mutual support through all the ups and downs with "Peggy". I'm thankful to all the technical staff of 3IT clean rooms, René Labrecque, Julie Ménard, Donald Ducharme, Mathieu Cloutier, Jonathan Vermet and more, for their hard work keeping the labs and tools running; without you, we couldn't do much. I thank my fellow PhDs and Postdocs since all of them in one way or another helped in my work. Honorable mention goes to Serge for keeping the "secret jar" of Swiss sour sweets loaded, helping to me and many others keep up during the long days of writing. Last, I want to thank Mr. Florian Mazure who motivated and helped me pursue my studies abroad and, in some way, set me on this scientific journey.

Outside the day-to-day work, I thank to my friends here in Sherbrooke – Raph, Gwen, Sára, Antho, Thierno, Mathieu, PA, Sofiane, Javier, Adham, Alexandre, Jonathan, Arthur, Olivier, Dorian, Ahmed and more – for keeping me in good company over the past few years and creating many incredible memories. I also thank my friends outside Canada – Eloïse, Momo, Clémence, Mylène, Cheryl, Lucka, Funty, Martin and more – for keeping up with me despite the distance. Special thanks to Burša and Strom for always being ready to embark on an adventure with basically zero preparation and still making the most of it. Our friendship goes almost as far back as I can remember, and it is incredibly valuable to me, since you always help me get things back together. So, know that I'm ready for our next unexpected journey.

For these last few lines, I'm switching to my mother tongue. Although, I'm not as well versed as I once was, I want to avoid any unnecessary translations as they are meant for my family. V neposlední řadě bych chtěl poděkovat svým rodičům a rodině. Vaše neochvějná podpora mi umožnila vydat se na tuto dlouho cestu a překonat veškeré překážky, které mě na ní potkaly. A proto veškeré moje úspěchy jsou z nemalé části i vaší zásluhou.

Table of contents

Résumév
Abstractvii
Acknowledgements x
Table of contents
Table of Figuresxviii
List of Tablesxxvii
Table of Abbreviationsxxviii
1. Introduction
1.1 Context and challenges
1.2 Objectives
1.2.1 Development of 2D-assisted epitaxy method for non-polar materials 6
1.2.2 Development of porosification lift-off for group IV semiconductor
freestanding membrane fabrication and substrate reuse
1.3 Original contributions7
1.4 Thesis overview
2. State of the art on freestanding membrane fabrication11
2.1 Membrane Production by Conventional Heteroepitaxy 12
2.1.1 Epitaxial Lift-Off
2.1.2 Laser Lift-Off
2.2 2D-assisted epitaxy and transfer techniques
2.2.1 (Quasi-)Van der Waals epitaxy
2.2.2 Remote epitaxy
2.2.3 Remote epitaxy vs. Quasi-Van der Waals epitaxy
2.3 Mechanical layer release by substrate engineering

	2.3	.1 Controlled mechanical spalling	
	2.3	.2 Smart Cut process	
	2.3	.3 Layer release through nanostructured substrates	
	2.4	Conclusions	
3.	. 2D-	assisted epitaxy of group IV semiconductors using graphene engine	ering and
Anc	hor Poi	nt Nucleation	
	3.1	Foreword	
	3.2	French abstract	39
	3.3	Graphical abstract	41
	3.4	Abstract	41
	3.5	Introduction	42
	3.6	Results and discussion	44
	3.6	.1 Anchor Point Nucleation approach	44
	3.6	.2 Effect of plasma treatment on SLG	
	3.6	.3 Preferential nucleation induced by defects	
	3.6	.4 Growth of Ge on engineered graphene using APN approach	51
	3.7	Conclusion	56
	3.8	Methods	57
	3.8	.1 Graphene transfer	57
	3.8	.2 Plasma treatment	57
	3.8	.3 Epitaxial growth	57
	3.8	.4 Characterizations	58
	3.9	Author Contributions	59
	3.10	Acknowledgement	59
	3.11	Supplementary materials	60

4. Formation of Uniform High-quality PGe layers at wafer-scale, and tailoring of their
physical properties
4.1 Foreword
4.2 French abstract
4.3 Graphical abstract
4.4 Abstract
4.5 Introduction
4.6 Results and discussions72
4.7 Conclusion
4.8 Methods
4.8.1 Bipolar Electrochemical Etching
4.8.2 Materials Characterization
4.9 Author Contributions
4.10 Acknowledgement
4.11 Supplementary materials
5. Growth on PGe Substrates and Fabrication of Monocrystalline Ge FSMs
5.1 Foreword
5.2 French abstract
5.3 Graphical abstract
5.4 Abstract
5.5 Introduction
5.6 Results and discussions
5.7 Conclusion
5.8 Methods
5.8.1 Sample preparation

	5.8.	2 Characterization	106
	5.9	Author Contributions	107
	5.10	Acknowledgement	107
	5.11	Supplementary materials	108
6	. Sub	strate reuse and sustainable production of Ge FSMs	.113
	6.1	Foreword	.114
	6.2	French abstract	.115
	6.3	Abstract	.117
	6.4	Introduction	.117
	6.5	Results and discussions	120
	6.6	Conclusion	128
	6.7	Methods	129
	6.7.	1 Sample preparation	129
	6.7.	2 Characterization	130
	6.8	Author Contributions	131
	6.9	Acknowledgement	131
	6.10	Supplementary materials	132
7	. Con	clusions and perspectives	134
	7.1	Conclusions (Français)	135
	7.1.	1 Épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D	135
	7.1.	2 Décollement par porosification	137
	7.2	Perspectives	140
	7.2.	1 Épitaxie assistée par 2D	140
	7.2.	2 Porosification des substrats	141
	7.2.	.3 Fabrication de FSMs du groupe IV	144

7.4.4 N	ettoyage et réutilisation des substrats
7.3 Co	nclusions (English)147
7.3.1	2D-assisted epitaxy 147
7.3.2	Porosification lift-off
7.4 Per	rspectives
7.4.1	2D-assisted epitaxy 151
7.4.2	Substrate porosification
7.4.3	Fabrication of group IV FSMs155
7.4.4	Substrate cleaning and reuse
8. Scientifi	c Contributions, Awards and Distinctions 158
8.1 Pul	plications
8.1.1	Principal contribution158
8.1.2	Coauthor
8.3 Aw	ards and Distinctions
8.5 Co	nference organization
8.6 Sci	entific communications161
9. List of F	References 164

Table of Figures

Figure 1-1: Illustration of group IV semiconductor FSMs and their advantages
Figure 2-1: Illustration of different fabrication techniques of FSMs11
Figure 2-2: Schematic illustration of conventional heteroepitaxy, (a) freestanding form
of the layer and substrate with their natural lattice parameters, (b) Pseudomorphic growth
of strained epilayer below its critical thickness, (c) Partially relaxed epilayer with mismatch
defects[85]12
Figure 2-3: Schematic illustration of the ELO process: (a) Growth of the sacrificial layer

Figure 2-8: Remote epitaxy of different materials. (a) Schematic illustration of the RE growth, Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) image of the GaAs/Graphene/GaAs interface and Electron Backscatter Diffraction (EBSD) of the exfoliated GaAs surface. (b) Optical images of the FSM obtained by RE, including GaAs, INP, GaP, GaN and LiF, and typical EBDS of the transferred FSM showing monocrystalline nature of the membranes

Figure 2-11: Schematic illustration of controlled spalling. (a) Deposition of the stressor layer with conditions avoiding spontaneous fractures, (b) Application of the flexible handle, (c) controlled propagation of the fracture using the handle[151]. Optical image of (d) 100 mm Ge membrane[161] and (e) 50 mm GaN membrane[162] obtained by controlled spalling. Photographs of post-spalling (f) 100 mm flexible InGaP/(In)GaAs tandem solar cells on plastic[159], and (g) thin SOI integrated electronic circuits[163]. 28

Figure 3-4: Growth of Ge layer (500 nm) on a plasma treated (18 s) single layer graphene on Ge (100) substrate using the APN approach. (a) Low magnification plan-view SEM image showing homogenous surface with some defects induced by the nucleation on multilayer graphene, (b) SEM image of the red square on (a) showing a surface without any defect, (c) AFM image of a scan $5 \times 5 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ area showing smooth surface with an RMS roughness of 2 nm, (d) EBSD map of the layer showing single orientation, which demonstrates its single-crystalline nature.

Figure 3-5: TEM analysis of as-grown Ge layer on a plasma treated single layer graphene on Ge substrate using the APN approach. (a) Cross-sectional HAADF-STEM image of Ge epilayer grown on the engineered SLG on Ge. The SLG interface is marked off by the red lines and the red arrow shows a small hole at the interface induced by the overgrowth on the SLG, (b) cross section HRTEM image of a defect-free sample (similar region displayed in Figure 3-4b) showing the graphene interface between the substrate and the epilayer. The yellow arrows mark off the regions where nucleation occurred directly on the substrate through the nanoholes created by the plasma treatment, (c) and (d) FFT patterns of the epilayer and the substrate, respectively, showing the same diffraction spots demonstrating the epitaxial relationship between the substrate and the epilayer, and the Ge(220) planes of the layer and the substrate highlighted by red arrows in (c) and (d), respectively, with a d-spacing of ~ 0.2 nm, (g)-(j) Geometrical phase analysis (GPA) deformation maps of the Ge layers grown on engineered SLG on Ge substrate converted from (b).

Figure 4-3: (a) Linear growth of etching rate of PGe layer with increasing current density. (b) Linear increase of PGe layer thickness over etching duration for 1, 2 and 4 mAc \cdot m⁻² etching current densities. (c) Porosity of the PGe structure versus applied etching current density variation with (I) corresponding to domain with fast porosity increase from medium to high porosity and (II) to slow progressive increase in high porosity domain. (d-i) Cross-sectional SEM micrographs of PGe structures etched with 0.50, 0.75, 1.00, 1.50, 2.00 and 5.00 mA \cdot cm⁻² corresponding to 40, 45, 53, 65, 71 and 80% porosity, respectively.

Figure 5-2: Initial growth stages of Ge on the PGe substrate (a-d) cross-sectional and (e-h) top view SEM micrograph of Ge layer at 5/30/60/100 nm of grown nominal thickness.

Figure 5-3: (a-f) $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ AFM scans of the Ge membrane for various Ge epilayers thicknesses. (g) Evolution of the surface RMS roughness during all the growth stages, where the Red dashed line indicates the complete coalescence of the layer and the blue one corresponds to the initial surface roughness of the PGe layer. (h) Surface pits' depth and

Figure 6-4: (a) $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ AFM scan of the Ge membrane grown on PGe with surface roughness <1 nm (b) In-plane pole figure of the Ge FSM around Ge (220) axis, the red circle and arrow represent the 6° off-cut orientation of the membrane compared to normal axis.

Figure S3-4: Grazing incident X-ray diffraction (GIXRD) data of Ge epilayer grown on SLG that has undergone 0 s (gray), 6 s (red) and 18 s (blue) of plasma treatment. Gray data set shows the polycrystalline nature of the Ge epilayer grown on pristine SLG, caused by its low surface energy. Red data set corresponds to Ge epilayer grown on engineered SLG with predominantly dangling bonds defect, improving SLG wettability. This results in preferential orientation of the layer along Ge (111) orientation, which is the most favorable for QVdW of Ge on SLG. The blue data set represents the Ge epilayer grown by APN with

Figure S3-6: (a) Cross section HRTEM image taken at a defect similar to those displayed in Figure 4a in the main manuscript, showing the different crystalline planes and defects (highlighted by red arrows) in the epilayer, (b) and (c) FFT patterns of the layer and the substrate, respectively. In contrast to the substrate, the diffraction spots in the epilayer are random with different orientations, demonstrating the polycrystalline nature of the epilayer in those regions. Stacking faults and microstructure twinning can be seen in the epilayer.

Figure S4-1: Optical image of PGe layers over 100 mm wafer using standard symmetrical BEE recipe with (a) 1.5 mA·cm-2 etching current density and (b) 2.0 mA·cm-2 etching current density. Both images show large inhomogeneous areas of the PGe layer

Figure S5-3: (a-f) AFM scans illustrating the evolution of the surface topology during the nucleation on pore walls, 3D seeds growth and coalescence into the homogenous layer.

 .11	0

List of Tables

Table S3-1: Area% evolution of different bonding species during different treater	atment
durations of the SLG	64
Table S6-1: List of chemicals employed in porosification and chemical cleaning	of the
substrates	132

Table of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Signification
2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
AFM	Atomic force microscopy
AlAs	Aluminum arsenide
AlInP	Aluminum indium phosphide
AlN	Aluminum nitride
APN	Anchor point nucleation
As	Arsenic
BEE	Bipolar Electrochemical Etching
CBE	Chemical beam epitaxy
CCD	Charge-coupled device
CMP	Chemical mechanical polishing
COMS	Complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor
CPV	concentrated photovoltaics
CrN	Chromium nitride
Cu	Copper
CVD	Chemical vapor deposition
DIW	Deionized Water
EBSD	Electron Backscatter Diffraction
EE	Electrochemical etching
ELO	Epitaxial Lift-off
EtOH	Ethanol
FFT	Fast Fourier transform
FIB	Focused ion beam
FSM	Freestanding membrane
FWHM	Full width at half maximum
Ga	Gallium
Ga ₂ O ₃	Gallium oxide
GaN	Gallium nitride
GaAs	Gallium arsenide
Ge	Germanium
GIXRD	Grazing incident X-ray diffraction
GoN	Germanium-on-Nothing
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HAADF-STEM	High-angle annular dark-field STEM
hBN	Hexagonal boron nitride
HBr	Hydrobromic Acid

_

HC1	Hydrochloric acid
HF	Hydrofluoric acid
HRTEM	High-resolution Transmission electron microscopy
HRXRD	High-resolution X-ray diffraction
IFFT	Inverted Fast Fourier Transform
InAlAs	Indium aluminum arsenide
InGaAs	Indium gallium arsenide
InP	Indium phosphide
IPA	isopropyl alcohol
IR	Infrared
LED	Light-emitting diode
LLO	Laser lift-off
ML	Monolayer
Mo	Molybdenum
N_2	Nitrogen
Nb_2N	Niobium Nitride
O ₂	Oxygen
O3	Ozone
PDMS	Polydimethylsiloxane
PGe	Porous germanium
PMMA	polymethyl methacrylate
Pt	Platinum
PTEF	Polytetrafluoroethylene
QVdWE	Quasi-Van der Waals epitaxy
RE	Remote Epitaxy
RF	Radio frequency
RMS	Root Mean Square
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
Si	Silicon
SiC	Silicon Carbide
SiO ₂	Silicon oxide
SLG	Single layer graphene
Sn	Tin
SOI	Silicon-on-Insulator
SoN	Silicon-on-Nothing
STEM	Scanning Transmission electron microscopy
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TPV	Thermophotovoltaics
VdW	Van der Waals
VdWE	Van der Waals epitaxy

_

XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
XRD	X-ray diffraction
XRR	X-ray reflectivity
ZnO	Zinc oxide

Chapter I

1. Introduction

This chapter introduces the general context of the semiconductor freestanding membranes (FSMs) and their potential for future generations of electronics and main challenges in their fabrication. It also presents the context, objectives, original contributions, and an overview of this work.

1.1 Context and challenges

Semiconductor materials and devices are the fundamental components of modern electronics and optoelectronics. Ranging from individual LEDs (Light-emitting diodes), sensors, and lasers to computer clusters, LED displays, and solar panel arrays, semiconductors are ubiquitous in our daily lives and have a significant impact on our society. The progress in epitaxial growth and heterointegration technology has enabled the creation of high-quality layers and heterostructures on specific and suitable substrates. These structures are then transformed into functional devices like lasers, photodetectors, or transistors using conventional microfabrication processes. These devices can be then individually packaged and assembled into a final functional devices and systems.

In many cases, the host substrate is retained throughout the device fabrication or even plays an active role in the device structure. However, there is an increasing number of applications where the semiconductor layers need to be very thin (from tens of nm to a few μ m), detached from the growth substrate, and transferred to a new one. One example of such application is near-field thermophotovoltaics (TPV) for heat-to-electricity conversion, where the initial thick growth substrate causes parasitic radiative coupling[1,2]. The use of membrane-based devices prevents this from happening, and it enables the use of backside reflectors, further improving the device efficiency.

Another area highly interested in membrane-based structures is advanced device fabrication and packaging. As an ever-expanding variety of materials needs to be integrated together and the device size slowly approaches its physical limits, both academia and industry focus on the development of new strategies for material heterointegration and nanofabrication. Today, heteroepitaxy is the most used technique for direct heterointegration of monocrystalline materials on top of each other, enabling the fabrication of high-quality crystalline heterostructures. However, the combination of materials accessible by this technique is very limited, due to the lattice mismatch and thermal expansion coefficient difference between the substrate and epitaxial layer, causing layer strain. Indeed, beyond a critical thickness, the epitaxial layer plastically relaxes, causing the formation of defects (mainly dislocations), which are detrimental to the electric and photonics performances of the final device. Currently, only a few materials are industrially produced in the form of substrate wafers (Si, Ge, GaAs, GaP, GaSb, InP, InSb, InAs, SiC, GaN, AlN, CdS, sapphire), all the remaining monocrystalline semiconductor materials such as SiGe, GeSn, InGaAs, InAs, etc., are currently grown on top of these substrates by conventional heteroepitaxy. In contrast to conventional substrates, freestanding membranes (FSMs) offer an extra degree of freedom for implementations such as heterointegration of dissimilar materials with high lattice mismatch in crystalline structures, by allowing for various materials to be stacked on top of each other and enabling easy coupling of highly dissimilar material's properties. Layer stacking also has tremendous potential for vertical device architectures, further pushing the limits of miniaturization[3]. Additionally, layer transfer techniques enable simple path for 3D integration of various device components such as lasers, LEDs, detectors, solar cells, etc., on mature Si-based platform allowing the creation of novel complex high-performance devices, which could not be otherwise realized on a single substrate[4–6]. Moreover, the ability to FSMs from various materials can further broaden the selection of available substrates, including materials that can't be produced in bulk form.

The development of light and/or flexible devices stands as another significant driver for the necessity to create cost-effective techniques for layer and chip transfer. Flexible electronics possess a wide array of potential applications, including flexible or stretchable displays[7–20], flexible transistors[8–16], flexible solar cells[30–39], flexible sensors[40– 47], wearable medical devices [48–52], and human-machine interfaces [53–56]. Although organic semiconductors are naturally well suited for producing flexible devices due to their compatibility with solution-based processes and conformal coatings on flexible substrates, they often exhibit compromises in device performance when compared to their inorganic counterparts. Conversely, inorganic semiconductors generally offer superior electron mobility, stability, and lifetime, but they cannot be directly grown on plastic substrates. This limitation is partly attributed to the incompatible processing conditions of inorganic semiconductors with flexible substrates. This, in turn, obstructs the direct fabrication of inorganic devices on plastic substrates since the processing temperature exceeds the thermal tolerance of flexible plastics. Consequently, a more feasible approach involves separating the fabrication of inorganic devices from the assembly process onto flexible substrates.
Finally, the use of FSMs provides significant cost savings for device production, especially for materials with 2-3 orders of magnitude higher prices than that of Si, compared to their bulk counterparts. Not only that the use of a few µm-thick FSM instead of a few hundreds µm-thick conventional substrates notably reduce the quantity of generally expensive materials such as III-V, III-N, Ge, but also layer transfer techniques usually offer the possibility to reuse the same substrate for production of multiple FSMs. Both those factors play an important role in the final substrate's price. By using membrane-based substrates this price could be significantly reduced, driving the overall cost of device production down.

The conventional methods for layer transfer are generally based on wafer bonding of the structure and substrate thinning either by mechanical[57–59], chemical[60,61], or dry etching methods. However, the main challenge of these methods is an accurate control of the membrane thickness and surface roughness, especially over large surfaces. The membranes produced by these methods cannot reach sub 10 µm threshold and often uses costly chemical-mechanical polishing to reduce the surface roughness. Moreover, most of the initial wafer's material is lost during the thinning process. To face these challenges a plethora of transfer techniques is being studied and developed, including sacrificial layer epitaxial lift-off techniques, 2D-assisted epitaxy and exfoliation, and mechanical release methods.

For instance, 2D-assisted epitaxy techniques such as Van der Waals epitaxy (VdWE) and remote epitaxy (RE), using 2D material interlayers, has shown tremendous potential for fabrication of III-N and III-V semiconductor compounds FSMs[62–64], as well as other materials such as various oxide compounds[65–78], perovskites[79], metals[80], and 2D materials[81–83]. This variety of applications makes 2D-assisted one of the most promising techniques for the development of highly mismatched heterostructures and FSMs. Nonetheless, its application for non-polar group IV materials such as Ge and its alloys there is very challenging due to the lack of interactions of the epilayer with the 2D interface and/or underlying bulk substrate. These materials are especially useful for applications in high-performance optoelectronics and high-speed telecommunication devices such as waveguides, THz transmission, photodetectors, biosensors, lasers, or

thermophotovoltaics. A variety of alternative techniques have been demonstrated to produce non-polar group IV material FSMs, namely epitaxial lift-off, mechanical spalling, and use of nanostructured substrates. Despite the progress made, their general adoption is still hindered by many obstacles including process complexity, high-cost, and substrates damage and/or contamination issues.

The focus of this thesis is on the development of novel techniques, using substrate engineering and epitaxial growth for fabrication of group IV material FSMs and their direct heterointegration with 2D materials. Namely, we introduce a novel technique for 2D-assisted epitaxy enabling growth of high-quality non-polar epilayers, and porosification lift-off process using wafer-scale porous Ge substrates for fabrication of FSMs and substrate reuse. This is a crucial steppingstone for the development of next-gen group IV FSM-based applications and devices (Figure 1-1).



Figure 1-1: Illustration of group IV semiconductor FSMs and their advantages.

1.2 Objectives

The objectives of this thesis can be subdivided into two principal development axes for fabrication of freestanding membranes through 2D-assisted epitaxy and porosification lift-off, respectively.

1.2.1 Development of 2D-assisted epitaxy method for non-polar materials

- Conceptualize a novel approach for 2D-assisted epitaxy of non-polar materials enabling growth of high-quality layers on graphene.
- Study of the graphene interlayer engineering by using plasma treatment.
- Identify the effects of various graphene defects on epitaxial nucleation and growth.
- Demonstrate high-quality epilayers grown on a non-polar substrate covered with engineered graphene.

1.2.2 Development of porosification lift-off for group IV semiconductor freestanding membrane fabrication and substrate reuse

- Establish the process of uniform porous germanium (PGe) layer formation at waferscale through electrochemical etching.
- Identify etching parameters that enable the modulation of the physical properties of the PGe.
- Develop non-destructive characterization methods to evaluate the uniformity of the PGe layers.
- Study the growth stages of Ge on PGe substrate.
- Demonstrate the fabrication of high-quality and large-scale Ge FSMs on PGe substrate.
- Implement a chemical treatment for substrate reconditioning after detachment.
- Demonstrate a successful substrate reuse.

1.3 Original contributions

The original contribution of the present research work is as follows:

- Application of Anchor Point Nucleation for Heterointegration on 2D materials and FSMs fabrication:
 - Implementation of graphene surface engineering through plasma treatment to create nanometric openings in the graphene lattice.
 - Understanding of the nucleation process on engineered graphene substrates, along with the through-hole crystal orientation transfer.
 - Demonstration of high-quality, monocrystalline Ge membranes over graphenecovered substrates.
- Implementation of Bipolar Electrochemical Etching (BEE) for Homogenous PGe Layers:
 - Identification and optimization of BEE parameters to mitigate lateral inhomogeneity of PGe layers.
 - Development of new porosification tools for edge-to-edge porosification of entire wafers.
 - Tuning of PGe layer properties, including layer thickness and porosity.
 - Application of fast feedback, non-destructive characterization methods to assess the homogeneity of PGe layers.
- > Fabrication of Wafer-Scale Ge FSMs and Substrate Reuse:
 - Establishment of nucleation and growth mechanisms on PGe substrates.
 - Epitaxial growth of high-quality, monocrystalline Ge membranes at low temperatures on PGe substrates.
 - Successful detachment of wafer-scale Ge FSM.
 - Implementation of a chemical cleaning process to remove PGe residues, allowing the substrate reuse.
 - Reporosification of a cleaned and reconditioned substrate

1.4 Thesis overview

This thesis consists of seven chapters, each developing one of the research objectives. **Chapter I** introduces the general context of the research project, presenting the main advantages of semiconductor FSMs compared to traditional bulk structures. It highlights their potential for dissimilar material heterointegration and applications in flexible electronics, as well as the economic and sustainability benefits of using FSMs. The chapter also addresses the major limitations and challenges in the fabrication methods of semiconductor FSMs, especially for group IV materials. Additionally, it defines the objectives of the research work and emphasizes the originality of this research.

In **Chapter II**, a comprehensive state-of-the-art review introduces the ever-growing plethora of techniques employed for FSMs fabrication. This review positions our work within the broader research efforts in FSM development. The chapter introduces the concepts of 2D-assisted epitaxy techniques, relying on weak Van der Waals bonding between the 2D material-covered substrate and the FSM. Unique epitaxial challenges of heterointegration on 2D materials, particularly for non-polar materials such as Si, Ge, and GeSn, are identified, leading to the introduction of our approach called Anchor Point Epitaxy, using engineered 2D interface. This chapter also discusses alternative techniques for the production of group IV FSMs, employing nanostructured substrates, and highlights the major roadblocks in their widespread adoption. This underscores the significance of our work on the large-scale substrate nanostructuring process and the use of such substrates for the epitaxial growth of group IV FSMs.

Chapter III represents a research article published in the scientific journal *Small*, summarizing the work on the heterointegration of 3D materials on 2D substrates using Anchor Point Epitaxy. The article demonstrates the surface engineering of the graphene surface by plasma treatment, creating nanometric openings in the graphene lattice. These openings serve as preferential nucleation sites for epitaxial growth, efficiently anchoring the membrane on the substrate and orienting its crystalline structure. As a result, fully relaxed, defect-free, and dense membranes with monocrystalline quality are formed over graphene-covered substrates, showcasing the potential of the Anchor Point Epitaxy as a universal approach for heterointegration on 2D materials and for FSM fabrication.

Chapter IV represents research article published in *Advanced Materials Interfaces*, reporting on the large-surface formation of homogenous porous Ge layers and their fast feedback, non-destructive characterization. The optimized bipolar electrochemical etching process and newly developed porosification cells, introduced in this work, enable the formation of highly uniform edge-to-edge PGe structures over the entire 100 mm wafer, with the possibility to tailor their physical properties, such as porosity and thickness, for specific applications. Moreover, the characterization, using X-ray reflectivity and ellipsometry measurements, establishes a nondestructive quality control method for PGe substrates.

Chapter V presents a research article published in *Materials Today Advances*, which details our work on epitaxial growth on PGe substrates and the fabrication of 100 mm wafer-scale Ge FSM. The paper elucidates the initial growth stages on 3D porous substrates and the transition from island nucleation to the layer-by-layer growth regime. This enables the formation of high-quality membranes on top of unreconstructed PGe layers. The PGe nanostructure tuning then allows for easy detachment, resulting in large FSM. Additionally, the proposed chemical cleaning process, allows for efficient dissolution of the PGe residues on the parent substrate, preparing its surface for reuse and the production of multiple FSM.

Chapter VI showcases a research article published in *Sustainability*, presenting the optimized process of the Ge FSM fabrication with further reducing the Ge consumption. The publication details the cleaning process of the PGe residues, involving slow chemical etching of the nanometric crystals remaining on the substrate surface after the detachment as well as successful reporosification of the recovered substrate.

Finally, **Chapter VII** summarizes the results presented in this work and discusses the perspectives and opportunities for further development and applications of the processes introduced in this thesis.

Chapter II

2. State of the art on freestanding membrane fabrication

This Chapter provides an overview of various FSMs fabrication techniques, their principles, and most used materials. This includes techniques using conventional heteroepitaxy approach, 2D-assisted epitaxy, and substrate engineering as illustrated by Figure 2-1. It also positions the advancements achieved in this thesis into a larger context.



Figure 2-1: Illustration of different fabrication techniques of FSMs.

2.1 Membrane Production by Conventional Heteroepitaxy

Conventional heteroepitaxy is an instinctively apparent pathway for fabrication FSMs, as it is commonly used for the direct heterointegration of high-quality materials. To allow layer separation, sacrificial layers that can be selectively etched or decomposed without affecting the rest of the epitaxial stack are employed[84]. To achieve high-quality epilayers, fit for device applications, the sacrificial layer must be suitable for heteroepitaxial growth. The two primary parameters to consider achieving high-quality monolithic heteroepitaxy are lattice mismatch and expansion coefficient difference between the substrate (sacrificial layer in this case) and the epilayer. During heteroepitaxial growth, the chemical covalent bonding at heterointerface force the elastic deformation of the epilayer's lattice parameter to accommodate the difference with the substrate, causing the strain in the layer (Figure 2-2b)[85].



Figure 2-2: Schematic illustration of conventional heteroepitaxy, (a) freestanding form of the layer and substrate with their natural lattice parameters, (b) Pseudomorphic growth of strained epilayer below its critical thickness, (c) Partially relaxed epilayer with mismatch defects.

For systems with low lattice mismatch (<1%), the first layers of the growth allow this elastic deformation by strain, enabling the pseudomorphic growth. However, the accumulated strain in the epilayer increases with the thickness of the layer. Eventually, when the epilayer thickness exceeds the critical thickness, at which point, the system

cannot accommodate the strain and relaxes by formation of defects such as dislocations (Figure 2-2c). Similarly, for systems with high expansion coefficient difference between the growth substrate and epilayer, the layer stress is formed during the heating and cooling cycles due to the varying lattice expansion/contraction, causing the formation of the cracks in the structure when it is cooled at room temperature after the growth. In both cases the defects formed in the epilayer are detrimental for its electronic and optoelectronic performance.

These fundamental limitations of conventional heteroepitaxy then apply to epitaxial and laser lift-off techniques used for FSMs production, limiting their application to nearly lattice matched structures, and thus significantly reducing the variety of applicable materials. For this reason, epitaxial and laser lift-off techniques, using conventional heteroepitaxy for FSM fabrication, employs nearly lattice matched structures to avoid defect formation in the membrane.

2.1.1 Epitaxial Lift-Off

Epitaxial Lift-off (ELO) has been first introduced in the late '80s as a means to produce thin GaAs (Gallium arsenide) membranes for applications in concentrated photovoltaics (CPV)[86]. Since then, this approach for layer transfer has received significant attention and has been applied to other III-V materials[87] as well as III-N[88,89] and II-VI[90] compounds, Ge[91,92], complex oxides[93], or metal films[94].

ELO relies on sacrificial layers introduced between the substrate and epilayer, which can be removed using chemical etching solutions to separate the epilayer from the substrate, while preserving their integrity (Figure 2-3). The main requirements for this technique are: (i) Growth compatibility of the epilayer with the sacrificial layer (ii) High etching selectivity of the sacrificial layer with respect to the substrate and epilayers.



Figure 2-3: Schematic illustration of the ELO process: (a) Growth of the sacrificial layer and device membrane, (b) etching of the sacrificial layer, (c) release of the device membrane from the substrate[84].

This significantly limits the options for choice of the material stack as the sacrificial layer should be matched as closely as possible to the epilayer and the substrate, to avoid defect formation. For III-V semiconductors, lattice matched sacrificial layers such as AlAs (Aluminum arsenide) or AlInP (Aluminum indium phosphide) for GaAs[87], and InGaAs (Indium gallium arsenide) or InAlAs (Indium aluminum arsenide) for InP (Indium phosphide)[95], are commonly used, enabling high quality epilayer. In case of III-N materials, dissimilar sacrificial layers are generally employed since most lattice matched III-N alloys have very similar etching selectivity, making them unsuitable for ELO process. Layers such as ZnO (zinc oxide)[88,96], AlN (Aluminum nitride)[97,98], Ga₂O₃ (Gallium oxide)[99], SiO₂ (Silicon oxide)[100–102], and CrN (chromium nitride)[103] have been demonstrated for the successful release of GaN (Gallium nitride) epilayers. Although, this makes the growth of epi-stack more challenging and can cause the formation of defects in the epilayer, it enables the application of ELO for III-N semiconductors.

The second major criteria, for the choice of the sacrificial layer, is the etching selectivity. To successfully perform ELO, the sacrificial layer needs to manifest a significantly higher etching rate in the solution of choice compared to the epilayer and the substrate. This allows us to under-etch and release the epilayer from the substrate without its degradation. Thus, appropriate combination of sacrificial layer/etching solution needs to be identified. For example, both AlAs/HF (hydrofluoric acid) and AlInP/HCl (hydrochloric acid) sacrificial layer/etching solution combinations have been successfully used for ELO of GaAs-based FSMs. The use of AlAs/HF causes the formation of residues and high roughness of the

surface of the released membrane as well as the substrate. On the contrary, by using AlInP/HCl, a clean and smooth surface of the FSM and substrate can be obtained, enabling the prospect of the substrate reuse. Similarly, InP-based FSMs can be obtained using InGaAs sacrificial layer and either HF/H₂O₂ (Hydrofluoric acid/Hydrogen peroxide)[104] or H₃PO₄/H₂O₂ (Phosphoric acid/Hydrogen peroxide)[95] etching solutions. Alternatively, InAlAs can be used as the sacrificial layer, providing improved etching selectivity compared to InGaAs[105]. In every case, a suitable combination of sacrificial layer and etching solution is necessary to allow successful ELO process while preserving the quality of the FSM.

Another common challenge of the ELO is the long time necessary to chemically etch and release the epilayer. Although small samples can be released relatively quickly, at wafer-scale the lift-off process can take from a few hours to a few days, depending on the surface area and specific sacrificial layer. This imposes impractical limitations on the largevolume production and wide industrial adoption of ELO. To face this challenge several approaches are being developed.

To accelerate the chemical etching process, various micro/nanopatterned sacrificial layer structures can be used. These nano/microstructures are produced using various methods including selective area epitaxy, photolithography and dry etching or electrochemical etching[98,106–108]. The presence of the nano/microstructures in the sacrificial layer increases the surface area that can be etched and facilitates the wet etching of the sacrificial layer (Figure 2-4b-c). In some cases, the presence of the nano/microstructure can also improve the quality of the epilayer by reducing the quantity of dislocations, especially in case of growth on dissimilar materials, as it is the case for GaN.



Figure 2-4: (a) (top) Demonstrations of the transferred GaAs thin films to the rigid substrate (from left, GaAs on 100 m Si wafer, GaAs on curved solid object, GaAs on glass) and (bottom) flexible substrates[84] (b) An LED epitaxial layer was grown on the patterned sapphire substrate with V-shaped air channels enabling faster layer under etching[98] (c) Photograph under UV illumination of full 100 mm GaN membrane release using ELO and layer perforation[106].

Alternatively, multiple stacks of sacrificial layer/epilayer can be grown on top of each other to produce multiple FSMs during single etching step[109]. Although, this approach increases the throughput of the method, it brings additional challenges such as the compatibility of the top epi-stack layer with growth of second sacrificial layer, as well as the FSM handling issues, since only the topmost epilayer of the stack can be bonded on the handle substrate before the lift-off process.

While ELO of various materials have been demonstrated, its wide adoption is still limited. For instance, the ELO of III-N compound semiconductors is still in the early stages of development and its commercial application has not been proven yet. In case of III-V semiconductor FSM, the ELO has been researched over many years, and it's now well developed for commercial applications, especially in high-efficiency III-V solar cells. However, it's still limited to niche markets, namely space photovoltaic, due to the high cost of the process. This is mainly due to slow FSM release by wet etching as well as expensive chemical mechanical polishing (CMP) of the substrates, necessary for their reuse and production of multiple FSMs.

Although, Ge has similar lattice parameters to GaAs and can be grown on top of the same AlAs sacrificial layer, these two materials are rarely grown in the same chamber, due to the cross contamination and residual doping between Ge and III-V layers. Moreover, Ge presents lower etching solution resistance and lower etching selectivity in acidic aqueous etching solutions[110–112] compared to GaAs. This is due to the presence of various unstable Ge suboxides, which can be easily etched even by water, causing partial dissolution of the Ge layer during the lift-off process. Consequently, this makes the obtention of high-quality and large surface Ge FSMs by ELO very challenging task, due to the long exposure to the etching solution.

2.1.2 Laser Lift-Off

In previous part, the ELO process has been discussed, showing its success especially for III-V materials. However, wet chemical etching, involved in ELO, often results in partial damage to the epilayer, which is being released. Finding a chemical etching solution that is completely non-reactive with the epilayer while maintaining a high etching rate for the sacrificial layer is an extremely challenging task. This is further made difficult by the extended etching duration of multiple hours required by ELO to release wafer-scale FSMs, imposing a limitation for fast production. Consequently, various "dry" lift-off techniques are explored to reduce the damage induced by wet etching and to accelerate the layer release. Like ELO, the laser lift-off (LLO) is based on monolithic heterointegration by epitaxy. However, instead of sacrificial layers and wet etching, LLO uses the difference in laser light absorption between the substrate and the epilayer. This generates localized heat at the interface, melting/decomposing the material near the interface, thereby separating the epilayer from the substrate (Figure 2-5)[113–116].



Figure 2-5: Schematic illustration of (a) laser lift-off process, and of (b) selective area membrane release by LLO[113,114].

A typical application of LLO is the release of GaN epi-structures grown on sapphire to support the substrate. GaN epilayer has a band gap of ~3.3 eV, compared to the sapphire's band gap of ~9.9 eV. This makes sapphire transparent to short-wavelength laser light, which is, on the other hand, absorbed by GaN epilayer generating heat. The localized heat at the interface sapphire/GaN causes the decomposition of the GaN into Ga droplets and nitrogen gas, enabling the release of the epilayer[117–120]. This membrane can be then transferred on various support substrates including Mo (molybdenum)[121], GaAs or flexible polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS)[122]. Initially this technique was limited to production of 50 mm GaN FSM wafers, but recently it was also demonstrated at 100 mm scale[123–125].

The major limiting factor of LLO on large surfaces is the formation of cracks in the epilayer, induced by thermal strain relaxation due to the local heating by laser. This effect can be reduced by using a heating plate during the LLO process to reduce the thermal strain and avoid the formation of cracks. Another important parameter affecting the laser-induced damage is laser spot size[123].

The LLO process can be used for local detachment of small devices as well as the entire 100 mm wafers, and the entire process of the release takes only a few seconds. However, to obtain defect-free FSM by LLO, the beam quality of the laser must be well controlled to avoid damage to the epilayer. Another disadvantage of the LLO is the overall cost of the tools limiting its availability for regular use. Finally, the necessary difference in optical properties of the substrate and epilayer limits the use of LLO to only a few structures such as GaN on sapphire.

2.2 2D-assisted epitaxy and transfer techniques

Compared to conventional heteroepitaxy, during 2D-assisted epitaxy, only weak Van der Waals (VdW) bonding is formed between the substrate and the epilayer, due to the presence of the 2D material at the interface, creating a weak VdW gap at the heterointerface (Figure 2-6)[85]. This lack of covalent bonding between the epilayer and the substrate prevent the accumulation of the strain in the epilayer during the growth, and enables its elastic relaxation without the introduction of the defects[126], allowing the even growth of highly mismatched systems or layers with completely different lattice symmetries from the substrate[62]. Moreover, the VdW bonding provides a weak interface with low adhesion, which is ideal for the detachment. Applying force to the epistructure, grown by 2D-assisted epitaxy, causes the detachment of thin epilayer from the 2D material substrate, enabling the formation of semiconductor FSMs[127].

The weakly bonded VdW heterointerface also brings new challenges for the epitaxial growth. In general, 2D materials have a low surface energy, making the epitaxial nucleation process very difficult. Moreover, the lack of covalent bonding with the substrate complicates the crystal orientation of the epilayer, as it depends only on weak interactions in case of 2D-assisted growth. To harness the potential of this approach, two growth techniques called (Quasi-)Van der Waals epitaxy (VdWE) and remote epitaxy (RE) has been introduced[62,127].



Figure 2-6: Schematic illustration of (a) conventional heteroepitaxy, (b) purely Van der Waals epitaxy 2D/2D, and (c) Quasi-Van der Waals epitaxy 3D/2D.

2.2.1 (Quasi-)Van der Waals epitaxy

The concept of VdWE has been first introduced in 80s by demonstrating the growth of crystalline MoS₂ on NbSe₂ using VdW interactions[128]. However, it gained lots of popularity last decade, thanks to the discovery and advancements in development of high-quality graphene and other 2D materials[81,129–133]. The VdWE provides a direct heterointegration road for fabrication of 2D/2D VdW heterostructures including highly mismatched materials. For example, previously mentioned epi-stack MoS₂ on NbSe₂ represent a lattice mismatch of around 10%, but still enables a high-quality growth of materials. However, this is true for the growth of 2D/2D heterostructures. The direct integration of 3D massif semiconductors on 2D substrates and vice versa, is more complex as the interactions at the heterointerface are not purely VdW and also involve the dangling bonds of the 3D material interacting with 2D VdW interface. In this case, we talk about Quasi-Van der Waals epitaxy (QVdWE). Despite this difference, the QVdWE structures maintain similarly weak VdW interface enabling the separation of the epilayer from the substrate.

Fabrication of 3D semiconductor FSMs using QVdWE has been demonstrated for the first time on AlGaN/GaN LED structures grown on single-crystal hexagonal Boron Nitride (hBN) interlayer[126]. The AlGaN buffer used as a seeding layer for growth of GaN on hBN (Figure 2-7a). The final GaN LED structure is then transferred on metallic indium sheet to fabricate first FSM-based LED as shown in Figure 2-7b. This process is later scaled

up to 50 mm wafer, thanks to the development of a large surface, high-quality hBN monolayer (ML) growth[134], and it is also demonstrated on other III-N materials[135]. The QVdWE has been also used for growth of various oxide compounds such as ZnO, MoO₂, CoFe₂O₄, Fe₃O₄, PbZrTiO₃, VO₂[67–73]. Similarly, an effort was made also to produce FSMs of III-V[136] and group IV[137,138] materials using QVdWE. Although, an improved nucleation on graphene surface either by initial adsorption of gallium (Ga)/arsenic (As) layer on the surface for growth of GaAs(Figure 2-7c), or ozone (O₃) treatment of the graphene for growth of Ge (Figure 2-7d), the final epilayers resulted in polycrystalline 3D structures due to the lack of interactions enabling uniform crystal orientation. This challenge has been later resolved for III-V materials by the introduction of remote epitaxy.



Figure 2-7: (a) Schematic illustration of the multiple quantum well LED materials design, release and transfer process[126], (b) optical image of the transferred structure (top) and of the transferred blue LED (bottom) produced by QVdWE[126] (c) Schematic illustration of the growth of GaAs on graphene covered Si via QVdWE[136] (d) SEM image of the Ge crystals grown on ozone treated graphene (top) and corresponding TEM image of the Ge crystal.

2.2.2 Remote epitaxy

Recently in 2017, a new technique called Remote Epitaxy (RE), based on QVdWE, has been introduced[62]. It was shown that single-layer graphene is transparent to the ionic field of the crystalline substrate underneath, which can be used for nucleation and orientation of the epilayer[63]. This allows maintaining a coherent interaction between the epilayer and the substrate, enabling the growth of the substrate oriented, monocrystalline layer despite the presence of graphene interface. The growth by ionic interactions through graphene interlayer was first experimentally demonstrated on GaAs epilayer grown on graphene covered GaAs substrate (Figure 2-8a)[62]. These observations were later supported by theoretical simulations of the ionic interactions at the graphene surface[63]. Furthermore, recent studies have suggested that the presence of native oxides beneath the graphene can induce the formation of pinoles within the graphene interface, helping the orientation of the epilayer[139], in addition to remote polar interactions through the graphene.

RE has been demonstrated at wafer-scale, enabling the production of large singlecrystalline FSMs. Since its discovery, the use of RE have been broadened to a variety of III-V (InP, GaP, etc.), III-N (AlN, GaN, etc.)[140] and complex oxide[66,141] materials (Figure 2-8b). Moreover, multiple substrate reuse[142,143] and high throughput multi-FSM stack production[143] have been investigated (Figure 2-8 c-d), making RE a promising alternative to ELO for production of III-V and III-N FSM.



Figure 2-8: Remote epitaxy of different materials. (a) Schematic illustration of the RE growth, Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) image of the GaAs/Graphene/GaAs interface and Electron Backscatter Diffraction (EBSD) of the exfoliated GaAs surface. (b) Optical images of the FSM obtained by RE, including GaAs, INP, GaP, GaN and LiF, and typical EBDS of the transferred FSM showing monocrystalline nature of the membranes obtained by RE. (c) Schematic illustration of the substrate reuse after RE (d) Schematic illustration of the single-crystalline FSM production process using RE by direct growth of multiple stacks of 3D/2D layers and layer-by-layer exfoliation[143,144].

Nevertheless, the success of RE growth relies on the polarity of the substrate and the epilayer. Consequently, it is impractical for applications involving non-polar materials such as Si and/or Ge. Both growth of Ge/Si epilayers and growth on Ge/Si substrates using graphene interlayer have resulted in the formation of polycrystalline epilayer without any crystal alignment between the substrate and epilayer[63,145]. This is due to the lack of ionic interaction through graphene interface caused by the non-polar bonding nature of Ge and Si. The ionicity of the substrate is a crucial factor for good epitaxial growth by RE,

since it determines the thickness of the graphene interface through which the substrate can interact with the epilayer. For example, in case of GaAs (30% ionicity), GaN (50% ionicity) and LiF (90% ionicity) this thickness is 1, 2 and 3 ML of graphene respectively (Figure 2-9). This remains the main limiting factor of the RE and it is the reason why RE cannot be used for growth of non-polar materials such as Si, Ge and other group IV alloys.



Figure 2-9: (a) EBSD characterization of various material FSM grown on increasingly thicker graphene interlayer. (b) Plot of graphene thickness vs. material ionicity, showing maximal thickness of the graphene interlayer for each material[144].

2.2.3 Remote epitaxy vs. Quasi-Van der Waals epitaxy

Although, RE and QVdWE have a lot in common, their main difference is the nature of the interactions defining the crystalline orientation of the epilayer. While the QVdWE depends mostly on the direct interaction between the 2D interface and the epilayer, the RE relies on the ionic interactions between the bulk substrate and epilayer through the 2D interface. This makes the choice of 2D interface for successful RE very important, as using ionic 2D materials such a crystalline hBN interfere with the ionic interactions between the bulk substrate and the epilayer[63]. Indeed, various studies on polar 2D materials such as hBN[126] or MoS₂[146], have shown that their polarity affects the crystalline orientation and the nucleation density of the 3D material during the growth.

The relation between the RE and the QVdWE has been further studied on GaN growth using increasingly thicker interlayers of hBN and graphene to elucidate the influence of the 2D interface[63]. Due to graphene's non-polar nature, it allows coherent ionic interactions between the bulk substrate and epilayer through up to 2 ML thick interlayer (for GaN), resulting in monocrystalline substrate oriented epilayer (Figure 2-10a). For interlayers of 3 ML and thicker, these ionic interactions become too weak to orient the epilayer, causing difficult nucleation and random oriented seeds on the surface of the graphene, and leading to a polycrystalline epilayer. On the other hand, by using the polar hBN interlayer a competition between the ionic interactions of the bulk substrate and of the 2D interlayer results in polycrystalline epilayer (Figure 2-10b). As the thickness of hBN increases, the bulk substrate's interactions with epilayer get weaker, resulting in increasing orientation of the epilayer along the hBN interlayer. Eventually for hBN interlayers of 3 ML and thicker, the epilayer becomes perfectly monocrystalline, following hBN interlayer. These results show that both the bulk substrate's and 2D interlayer's nature as well as the thickness of the 2D interface play an important role in the final growth mode (QVdWE or RE). While polar substrates and non-polar interlayers promote RE growth mode, it can be easily hindered by the thickness of the 2D interlayer. In case of the QVdWE, a high nucleation density and good quality of the epilayer are promoted by increasing the polarity of the interlayer. Other aspects such as the quality of the 2D material can also play an important role during the growth on 2D interlayers. Any defect and contamination present on the 2D interface can result in random nucleation sites, leading to polycrystalline epilayers[145].



Figure 2-10: Schematic illustration (Top) and EBSD analysis (bottom) of the exfoliated GaN surface grown of varying numbers of monolayers (ML) of (a) hBN: 1 ML/h-BN (left), 2 ML/h-BN (middle) et 3 ML/h-BN (right), and (b) graphene: 1 ML/Graphene (left), 2 ML/Graphene (middle) et 3 ML/Graphene (right)[63].

Both VdWE and RE have shown tremendous potential for fabrication of FSMs and much of research is focused on better understanding and improvement of these methods. Today, they are mostly used for growth of high-quality 2D materials on semiconductor substrates and single crystal 3D membranes of polar materials. Their applications on non-polar 3D materials (e.g., Si and Ge) remain a challenge since the lack of interactions between the epilayer and 2D interlayer/substrate makes them incompatible with such materials.

To overcome this limitation, recent studies focus on defect engineering and nanopatterning of the 2D interface, enabling direct link between the substrate and epilayer, while maintaining most of the epilayer's surface weakly bonded to the 2D interface[139,147,148]. This solution to the limitations of 2D-assisted epitaxy is further explored in the Chapter III of this manuscript, focusing on the use of nanoengineering of the graphene interlayer to improve nucleation of non-polar 3D materials on top, while allowing the substrate orientation of the epilayer and growth of monolithic single crystalline FSMs of group IV semiconductors.

2.3 Mechanical layer release by substrate engineering

Alternatively, to both conventional and 2D-assisted epitaxial techniques, the formation of FSMs can be achieved through a variety of substrate engineering methods combined with mechanical release. These methods include controlled mechanical spalling, Smart cut technology, and nanostructured layer release. In all cases, the process is based on formation of mechanically weak interface below the surface of the substrate, enabling the layer separation of the membrane when mechanical force is applied.

2.3.1 Controlled mechanical spalling

Controlled mechanical spalling is a method to separate semiconductor membranes by inducing mechanical fractures in the substrate at room temperature. This is achieved by the deposition of a stressor layer on top of the substrate creating a crack at an equilibrium depth below the interface[149,150]. To achieve controllable fractures and uniform membrane transfer a flexible handle layer is attached on top of the stack. A small force is then applied on the handle, to mechanically guide and propagate the crack, resulting in separation of the portion of material from the substrate[149]. The entire process is illustrated by Figure 2-11a-c. Controlled spalling has been studied for many years and now it's possible to use it for wafer-scale transfer of variety of materials such as Si[151,152], Ge[153,154], GaAs[155], InP[156] and GaN[157]. The process can also be used for release of complete device structures, leading to a wide range of flexible devices, namely high efficiency solar cells[39,158–160], LEDs[161], CMOS[162,163], etc. Some examples of spalled membranes and examples of flexible circuits are shown in Figure 2-11d-g.



Figure 2-11: Schematic illustration of controlled spalling. (a) Deposition of the stressor layer with conditions avoiding spontaneous fractures, (b) Application of the flexible handle, (c) controlled propagation of the fracture using the handle[150]. Optical image of (d) 100 mm Ge membrane[160] and (e) 50 mm GaN membrane[161] obtained by controlled spalling. Photographs of post-spalling (f) 100 mm flexible InGaP/(In)GaAs tandem solar cells on plastic[158], and (g) thin SOI integrated electronic circuits[162].

One major disadvantage of controlled spalling is the fracture depth (thickness of transferred membrane). Although, it is possible to control the fracture depth by a variety of factors such as choice of stressor material and its thickness as well as the nature of the substrate materials. The accurate control of the final membrane remains a very challenging task[153]. Moreover, resulting membranes are in order of tens of microns thick, with the thinnest layers being around 10 μ m. Another challenge for mechanical spalling is the fracture interface. In general, this interface is formed by crystal faceting with a height of few microns, causing high surface roughness as shown in Figure 2-12. The faceted surface is mainly concerning for the substrate reuse as the successful reconditioning necessitate either costly CMP treatment or chemical etching combined with epitaxial planarization to enable the formation of a new high-quality membrane from the same parent substrate[39,164]. While spalling offers an interesting pathway for the device detachment at wafer-scale and weight reduction, the high membrane thickness limits its use for the substrate production and device thinning.



Figure 2-12: SEM micrographs of spalled (a) (110) and (100) GaAs surfaces and (b-c) InP surface[156]. (d) illustration of faceting after spalling of (100) InP and GaAs substrates[155].

2.3.2 Smart Cut process

The Smart Cut process technology is best known as a technique of manufacturing silicon-on-insulator (SOI) wafers (Figure 2-13), but later it was also adapted to other materials[165]. In this process, a thin membrane is transferred from the surface of a donor silicon substrate to another target silicon substrate. First, a silicon oxide (SiO₂) layer is formed on at least one of the silicon wafers. This layer will become the insulator separating the membrane from the substrate at the end of the process. The donor substrate is then submitted to implantation of hydrogen or helium ions. Both substrates are cleaned, mechanically bonded

by weak VdW forces and annealed[166]. During the annealing, a covalent bonding is formed between the surfaces, linking both substrates together. At the same time, microcavities are formed at implantation depth with highest ion concentration enabling to form splitting interface, during annealing of the structure, and separating the donor substrate from the SOI structure[167]. This substrate can be then repolished by CMP and reused for further production. Moreover, this process has been scaled at 200 mm and 300 mm wafer-scale, making it very lucrative for industrial applications.



Figure 2-13: Schematic illustration of the SOI Smart cut process including wafer oxidation, ion implantation, cleaning and bonding to target substrate, releasing of the layer, polishing of the final layer and substrate reuse[168].

Similarly, Smart Cut technology has been adapted on a variety of materials such as GaAs[169], InP[165], Ge[170,171], SiC (Silicon Carbide)[172], GaN[173–176], or AlN[177], by switching the donor substrate to wafer of given material. Furthermore, the final properties of the membrane, e.g., crystalline orientation, doping, offcut, can be adjusted directly by choice of donor substrate. The membrane can also be transferred on a variety of other substrates than Si[178]. For example, InP have been already successfully transferred on GaAs, Sapphire, or Ge[165]. This offers the versatility of feasible structures.

Unlike Si, commercially available wafer sizes are much more limited for other materials. For instance, GaAs and InP are produced in maximal size of 150 mm and 100 mm, respectively, limiting the industrial scalability. To tackle this challenge a novel technique for pseudo-donor substrate has been developed. This approach is based on the preparation of smaller tiles from commercially available substrates. They are then fixed on the handle substrate in size of 200 mm or 300 mm to create a much larger pseudo-donor substrate, which can be then used for Smart Cut process (Figure 2-14a-b). This has been demonstrated on InP at 200 mm scale (Figure 2-14c-d).

In case of GaN, an alternative splitting method is being studied. Instead of ion implantation and annealing, an exposure to a laser beam is being used to induce micro

cavities in the substrate, enabling the separation of the membrane from the donor substrate. This is achieved on a similar promise as the LLO. A laser is shined at GaN layers causing a formation of microcavities, due to the GaN decomposition, enabling the formation of cracks and separation of the layer[179].

Smart Cut is a well established and commercialized process, allowing formation of membranes with thickness ranging from $0.2 \,\mu\text{m}$ to $1.0 \,\mu\text{m}$. However, its successful application necessitates the availability of the material in substrate form, significantly limiting its application to few materials and reducing its potential as a universal transfer method of semiconductor membranes. Moreover, its substrate reuse relies on costly CMP process, raising the final price of the fabricated membrane. Nevertheless, Smart Cut technology has found an industrial/commercial success in case of materials such as Si, Ge, GaAs, InP, GaN and SiC.



Figure 2-14: Schematic illustration (a) of the donor substrate preparation using tiling technique and (b) of its use in Smart Cut process. Optical images of (c) 200 mm InP tile pseudo-donor substrate and (d) its membrane transferred on Si substrate[165].

2.3.3 Layer release through nanostructured substrates

Another approach for FSMs fabrication is the use of nanostructured interface between the substrate and the membrane. This nanostructure serves as the membrane support during the fabrication process of devices, as well as a fragile interface facilitating the mechanical separation of the membrane from the substrate, thus limiting the formation of defects compared to mechanical spalling.

Silicon-on-Nothing (SoN) has been developed as an alternative to SOI produced by Smart Cut technology[180]. This SoN is based on the microstructure transformation of the Si to form large voids beneath the surface, enabling the detachment of the membrane (Figure 2-15)[180,181]. First an array of macropores is formed by lithography and dry etching. The voided layer underneath the surface is then obtained by high temperature annealing of the microstructure. Later, this technique has been adapted to Ge, allowing the production of Ge FSMs[182,183]. Although this approach enables perfect control of the microstructure, and it is easily scalable on large size wafers, the use of other nanostructuring techniques can reduce the complexity as well as the price of this FSM fabrication process. One such a technique is electrochemical etching (EE), enabling the formation of porous nanostructure on the surface of the semiconductor wafers.



Figure 2-15: (a-b) Schematic illustration and SEM images of the thermal transformation of two different macropores structures in Si resulting in voids trapped beneath the surface[180].

Electrochemical porosification is a well-established method, and extensively studied the process in case of Si substrates. By applying an electrical bias on Si in electrolytic solution, pores are etched into the Si crystal. Formation of porous structures of other materials such

as GaAs[184–188], SiC[189–192], GaN[193–199], InP[200–202], Ge[203–205], etc., has also been demonstrated using EE. Although, the main principle of the porosification by EE remains the same, the specifics of the process vary depending on the material. For instance, in case of Ge the EE process is more complex than for Si, as the application of unipolar bias results in continuous dissolution of already formed PGe layer or even in complete dissolution of the Ge surface (e.g., Electro polishing) at current density [204]. In order to obtain porous structure in Ge, a bipolar EE (BEE) has to be used, where applications of the positive bias enable the etching of the PGe and the following negative bias forms a passivation layer around the pores, effectively protecting them from further dissolution[206–208]. Although, various PGe morphologies and double-layered structures have been demonstrated [205,209-213], the main challenge remains in fabrication of homogenous PGe layers over large surfaces. Moreover, destructive SEM observations are mainly used for the characterization of PGe structures, leaving space for the development of non-destructive quality control techniques. For these reasons, Chapter IV focus on fabrication of high-quality PGe layers, with tunable physical properties at wafer-scale. Additionally, fast feedback, non-destructive characterization techniques are introduced for quality control of produced PGe structures.



Figure 2-16: (a) SEM image of reconstructed double layered PGe structure after annealing[214] (b) SEM image of 4H-SiC epilayer grown directly on porous SiC substrate, demonstrating partial reconstruction[215].

Despite the challenges with the formation of uniform PGe, a successful formation of Ge membrane has been demonstrated[214,216]. Similarly to other materials, this is in general achieved by high temperature annealing of multilayered PGe structures, resulting in not

fully densified membranes with encapsulated voids inside (Figure 2-16a)[214,216–218]. Alternatively, the membrane can be grown directly on the porous substrate, producing high quality membrane, but usually also resulting in at least partial of the porous structure reconstruction into larger pillars (Figure 2-16b)[215,219–222]. The thermal stability of the porous substrates plays an important role as it needs to maintain its structure to enable the formation of the membrane on top, encapsulating the microstructure at the interface. This is particularly challenging in case of the PGe layers which demonstrate very low thermal stability and rapidly reconstruct at temperatures above 400 °C[223]. For this reason, The Chapter V explores the low temperature growth on non-reconstructed PGe substrates and discuss the growth mechanisms as well as the formation of fully densified, high-quality membranes.

Similarly to mechanical spalling and smart cut technology, the substrate recovery is also a challenging task in case of nanostructured substrates. After the detachment, the part of the nanostructured interface remains on the substrate's surface, causing high surface roughness and making it unsuitable for direct substrate reuse. To successfully reuse the substrate the reconditioning process is necessary to eliminate the remnants of the nanostructure on the surface. This can be accomplished using costly CMP techniques as in case of other mechanical release methods[224]. Alternatively, a wet chemical etching can be used, taking advantage of the anisotropic etching of the nanostructure features on the substrate's surface compared to the bulk material, which enables an efficient flattening of the surface[225,226]. This has been demonstrated on Si substrate reuse, using either KOH etching solution with etching rates of few µm/min. A single substrate has been reused up to 14 times before breaking[225]. However, in both cases an etching of a substantial thickness of the substrate (few µm) was necessary to flatten large features of the nanostructure remaining on the surface, wasting a non-negligible amount of the material, and reducing the possible number of reuses. Moreover, a slight degradation of the membrane's surface quality has been observed with each cycle. To tackle this issue, Chapter VI focus on the possibility to minimize the amount of etched material, while enabling an efficient reconditioning of the substrate by using unreconstructed PGe layers.

2.4 Conclusions

This chapter reviews the state of the art of techniques used for FSMs fabrication. It introduces their basic principles, advances, advantages, challenges, and opportunities. 2D-assisted epitaxy and layer release through nanostructured substrates are identified as promising techniques for fabrication of group IV semiconductor FSMs. 2D-assisted epitaxy presents a new but rapidly advancing branch of research on FSMs fabrication. However, it's one of its main limitations is the growth of non-polar materials due to the lack of interaction with the substrate. To face this issue Chapter III of this thesis introduces a novel approach based on substrate engineering of the 2D interface enabling the growth of non-polar materials by 2D-assisted epitaxy.

On the other hand, layer release through nanostructured substrates is relatively wellestablished method especially in case of the Si. However, its application on other materials, specifically Ge and its alloys are very limited. The challenges in formation of uniform PGe structures, direct growth of high-quality layers on unreconstructed PGe media, and lowcost substrate reconditioning for substrate reuse, are being the main obstacles for adoption of this technique. Chapters IV, V and VI of this manuscript address these challenges, respectively, offering a viable approach for sustainable Ge alloy FSMs production.

Chapter III

3. 2D-assisted epitaxy of group IV semiconductors using graphene engineering and Anchor Point Nucleation

This chapter focuses on the challenges of 2D-assisted epitaxy for non-polar group IV semiconductors. The chapter is in form of scientific article published in the journal *Small*. It introduces a novel approach of heterointegration of Ge layers on graphene through substrate engineering. A plasma treatment of the graphene covered substrate allows the formation of nanohole defects in the graphene lattice. These defects serve as preferential nucleation sites, enabling it to anchor the epitaxial layer on the graphene surface and to orients its crystalline structure. The full high-quality epitaxial layer is then formed through a lateral overgrowth on top of the graphene surface. This paves the way for 2D-assisted growth of non-polar semiconductors and fabrication of FSMs.

3.1 Foreword

Authors and affiliations:

Tadeáš Hanuš, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Abderraouf Boucherif:

Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

Gilles Patriarche:

Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, Centre de Nanosciences et de Nanotechnologies (C2N), Palaiseau, 91120, France

Andreas Ruediger:

Nanoelectronics-Nanophotonics INRS-EMT, 1650, Boulevard Lionel-Boulet, Varennes, J3X 1P7 QC, Canada

Status: Accepted – Final version published

Acceptation date: 01/11/2023

Journal: Small

Reference: [148]

French title: Hétéro-intégration des semi-conducteurs 3D sur le graphène par la nucléation des points d'ancrage

Contribution to the manuscript:

This article contributes to the thesis by demonstrating the heterointegration of non-polar Ge layers on graphene. It introduces a new original approach using substrate engineering of graphene and through-hole nucleation to obtain high-quality layers over graphene covered substrate. This is an important step towards universal substrate for production of high-quality semiconductor FSMs.

3.2 French abstract

L'hétérointégration du graphène avec des matériaux semi-conducteurs et le développement de dispositifs hybrides fonctionnels à base de graphène dépendent fortement du contrôle de l'énergie de surface. Bien que la Remote Epitaxy (RE) offre l'une des techniques les plus attrayantes pour la mise en œuvre des hétérostructures 3D/2D, elle convient uniquement aux matériaux polaires et dépend énormément de la qualité de l'interface du graphène. Dans cette étude, nous avons démontré la croissance de couches de germanium (Ge) monocristallines sans défauts sur un substrat de Ge recouvert de graphène en introduisant une nouvelle approche appelée nucléation par point d'ancrage. Cette approche puissante basée sur l'ingénierie de surface du graphène permet la croissance de semi-conducteurs sur n'importe quel type de substrat recouvert de graphène. Grâce à un traitement au plasma, des défauts tels que des liaisons pendantes et des ouvertures nanométriques, qui agissent comme les sites de nucléation préférentiels, sont introduits dans la couche de graphène. Nos données expérimentales ont révélé la nature de ces défauts, leur rôle dans la nucléation et les mécanismes régissant cette technique. De plus, la microscopie électronique de transmission à haute résolution combinée à l'analyse de phase géométrique a établi que les couches formées sont parfaitement monocristallines, sans contrainte et orientées par le substrat situé sous la couche de graphène. Ces découvertes fournissent de nouvelles perspectives sur l'ingénierie du graphène par le plasma et ouvrent une voie universelle pour l'hétérointégration de semi-conducteurs 3D de haute qualité sur le graphène, et la fabrication des FSMs.
Unraveling the heterointegration of 3D semiconductors on graphene by Anchor Point Nucleation

Thierno Mamoudou Diallo^{†*1,2}, Tadeáš Hanuš ^{†*1,2}, Gilles Patriarche³, Andreas Ruediger⁴ and Abderraouf Boucherif^{*1,2}

1: Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

2: Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

3: Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, Centre de Nanosciences et de Nanotechnologies (C2N), Palaiseau, 91120, France

4: Nanoelectronics-Nanophotonics INRS-EMT, 1650, Boulevard Lionel-Boulet, Varennes, J3X 1P7 QC, Canada

*Corresponding authors: thierno.mamoudou.diallo@usherbrooke.ca; tadeas.hanus@usherbrooke.ca; abderraouf.boucherif@usherbrooke.ca

† Equal contribution

Keywords: Graphene, Heterointegration, Van der Waals epitaxy, Anchor Point Nucleation, Substrate engineering

3.3 Graphical abstract



3.4 Abstract

The heterointegration of graphene with semiconductor materials and the development of graphene-based hybrid functional devices are heavily bound to the control of surface energy. Although remote epitaxy offers one of the most appealing techniques for implementing 3D/2D heterostructures, it is only suitable for polar materials and is hugely dependent on the graphene interface quality. Here, we demonstrated the growth of defectfree single-crystalline germanium (Ge) layers on a graphene-coated Ge substrate by introducing a new approach named Anchor Point Nucleation. This powerful approach based on graphene surface engineering enables the growth of semiconductors on any type of substrate covered by graphene. Through plasma treatment, defects such as dangling bonds and nanoholes, which act as preferential nucleation sites, are introduced in the graphene layer. Our experimental data unraveled the nature of those defects, their role in nucleation, and the mechanisms governing this technique. Additionally, high-resolution transmission microscopy combined with geometrical phase analysis established that the asgrown layers are perfectly single crystalline, stress-free, and oriented by the substrate underneath the engineered graphene layer. These findings provide new insights on the graphene engineering by plasma and open-up a universal pathway for the heterointegration of high-quality 3D semiconductors on graphene for disruptive hybrid devices.

3.5 Introduction

The monolithic heterointegration of three-dimensional (3D) bulk materials and 2D layered materials has sparked great interest, since their extraordinary intrinsic properties can be conjugated to obtain unique functionalities arising from the physical stacking of such materials[144,227]. Quasi-Van der Waals epitaxy (QVdWE) can theoretically enable epitaxial growth of crystalline 3D semiconductors on 2D materials, while circumventing the lattice and thermal mismatch issues, thereby extensively reducing defect density in the epilayers[85,228]. However, while the QVdWE of 2D/3D heterostructures[144] has been well established, the epitaxial growth of single-crystalline 3D on 2D heterostructures is an ongoing challenge[136,229–232]. This is mainly due to the dissimilar lattice structure of the substrate and epilayer, chemical bonding across the interfaces between 3D and 2D materials[233], but also due to the low surface energy of 2D materials[136].

Remote epitaxy (RE) has been proposed as a promising technique to circumvent these limitations and achieve high-quality single-crystalline layers[62]. In this approach, graphene is used as a non-polar interlayer. The epilayer's crystalline orientation is achieved via remote interactions that permeate through graphene. This technique has been applied for the growth of single-crystalline III-V, III-N semiconductors[62-64], and other materials including metals[80], complex oxides[141], halide perovskites[79], etc. In recent years, substantial advancements and significant progress in understanding the fundamental physics and principles governing RE[79,234,235], have solidified RE as a prospective method for the fabrication of freestanding membranes. Furthermore, recent studies have suggested that the presence of native oxides beneath the graphene can induce the formation of pinoles within the graphene interface, helping the orientation of the epilayer[139], in addition to remote polar interactions through the graphene. The quality of the graphene interface is a critical factor influencing the quality of the final membranes. The presence of residues, multilayers, wrinkles, or grain boundaries within the graphene can lead to the formation of polycrystalline layers[145]. To address these issues, several innovative solutions have been recently introduced, such as dry transfer techniques[145], or the growth of high-quality graphene directly on semiconductor substrates[236,237]. Nonetheless, a significant challenge persists in the realm of RE. Given that the success of RE growth depends on the polarity of both the underlying substrate and the epilayer, this method is exclusively suitable for polar materials[234]. Consequently, it is impractical for applications involving non-polar materials like silicon (Si) and germanium (Ge). Hence, an alternative approach is imperative to alleviate these constraints and enable the growth of non-polar, single-crystalline layers while facilitating the production of freestanding membranes through 2D material-assisted epitaxy.

In this work, we propose a universal approach called anchor point nucleation (APN), based on controlled introduction of nanoholes in graphene interface by plasma treatment and epitaxial overgrowth, to monolithically grow single-crystalline semiconductors on graphene-terminated substrates (including non-polar materials). We demonstrated that by using plasma treatment, we can introduce defects in the graphene layer that improve its surface reactivity and adhesion with other materials. Those defects act as preferential nucleation sites for the epitaxial growth as a clear evidence was provided by in-situ TEM studies from our previous work[232]. Defect engineering using other methods has been previously reported for the epitaxial growth of 2D heterostructures [238,239]. However, this is the first time that such an approach is used for the growth of semiconductors on nonpolar materials such as Ge. Moreover, the nature of the induced defects, their role in the epitaxial growth and the underlying mechanisms for such a technique are elucidated. Here, we find that the induced defects are mainly dangling bonds and nanoholes depending on the treatment duration. Our experimental data provide a clear corroboration for the role played by the induced defect during the nucleation process. We unveil that the APN approach is governed by the nucleation in the nanoholes followed by an overgrowth of a continuous layer. The combination of HRTEM measurements and strain mapping demonstrates that the APN method enables the epitaxial growth of single-crystalline Ge layers without any deformation or defects, caused by lateral overgrowth on grapheneterminated Ge substrate. Our findings demonstrate that the APN approach is a powerful technique that is suitable for the epitaxial growth of 3D semiconductors on graphene and is a promising solution to circumvent the limiting factors of QVdWE and RE.

3.6 Results and discussion

3.6.1 Anchor Point Nucleation approach

Figure 3-1 shows the schematic representation of the Anchor Point Nucleation (APN) processing steps that enhance the reactivity of graphene and enable the growth of monocrystalline layers on SLG. This approach is based on the controlled introduction of defects in the SLG, which will act as preferential nucleation sites allowing them to anchor adatoms on the graphene surface. The introduced nanoholes then serve as seeding sites to provide the crystal orientation to the epilayer, which is obtained by epitaxial overgrowth on SLG[139,147]. To achieve this, first, large-area SLG is transferred on the substrate using wet transfer technique (Figure 3-1a, see methods for more details). The substrate is then treated by plasma to introduce defects such as dangling bonds and nanoholes in the SLG (Figure 3-1b). These defects significantly enhance the surface energy of the graphene [240] and serve as preferential nucleation sites for the epitaxial growth. Moreover, the nanoholes provide a direct link between the substrate and epilayer enabling substrate-oriented growth even for elemental materials. It is worth mentioning that the use of plasma treatment is more advantageous compared to other patterning techniques such as photolithography and electrolithography[147,241], which are complex, expensive and uses photoresist. In contrast, the plasma-based technique is easy to use, cost-effective, simple without multistep processes and it enhances the cleaning of PMMA residues from wet transferred graphene[242–244], preventing random nucleation that will result in 3D growth. After the formation of dangling bonds and nanoholes by plasma treatment, we proceed with the nucleation of semiconductor islands that grow preferentially on the induced defects of the engineered graphene layer (Figure 3-1c). The nucleation on nanoholes allows the islands to be oriented by the underlying substrate. The nanohole mediated nucleation is then used as a seed layer to grow complete epitaxial layers trough the lateral overgrowth of the islands (Figure 3-1d). Compared to QVdWE and RE, the APN approach enables obtention of substrate oriented epilayers even for non-polar materials (e.g., Si and Ge), maintaining a significant portion of the weak bonding to the substrate, due to the epitaxial overgrowth on graphene interface. This is especially interesting for further exfoliation of the film.



Figure 3-1: Schematic illustration of Anchor Point Nucleation approach enabling growth of monocrystalline layers on top of single layer graphene (SLG). (a) SLG is transferred on semiconductor substrate, (b) controlled introduction of defects in SLG by plasma treatment (c) Preferential nucleation on SLG (d) epitaxial growth of monocrystalline epilayers.

3.6.2 Effect of plasma treatment on SLG

A key challenge of the APN approach is to prevent a complete etching of the atomically thin SLG and introduce defects in a controlled manner. To this end, a balance between the duration and the power of the plasma must be established to slightly damage the SLG, while maintaining its nature and coverage on the substrate[147]. This is not an easy task since the graphene can be easily etched away by standard plasma etching techniques[245]. Indeed, our initial studies indicate that a very light plasma treatment in short burst must be used to avoid complete removal of the SLG on the surface (details can be found in Methods section). To further elaborate on these findings the effects of O₂ plasma etching (320 mTorr O₂ pressure, radio frequency power of 10 W and treatment duration varying between 0 s and 30 s) on the SLG quality were thoroughly investigated by Raman spectroscopy and Xray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) measurements.

Figure 3-2a shows Raman spectra of transferred SLG on Ge substrate for different duration of plasma treatment. The Raman spectra consist of a set of distinct peaks. The G band is related to C-C bond stretching in sp² carbon systems, the D band is related to defects and disorder, and the 2D band is the second order of the band D, but does not require a defect[246]. The non-treated SLG shows very sharp G and 2D bands with a very low D band, demonstrating the high-quality graphene layer with large crystallite sizes. Let's remember that the ratio of the D to G intensities (I_D/I_G) is inversely proportional to the crystallite size[247]. The apparition of D band and significant reduction of 2D band after the application of plasma treatment show a clear evidence of defect introduction inside the graphene layer. The I_D/I_G ratio as a function of treatment duration extracted from Figure 3-2a is shown in Figure 3-2b. A sharp initial rise of the D band is observed up to 6 s and then it decreases with increasing treatment duration. During the initial stages of the treatment, we believe that mainly dangling bonds and atomic vacancies are introduced in the SLG. As the duration increases larger nanoholes are formed in the SLG, causing a significant reduction in the graphene crystallite size. From Figure 3-2a and 3-2b, we concluded that up to 18 s of treatment, the SLG is being transformed from pristine graphene to nanocrystalline graphene with smaller crystallite size separated by small amorphous patches[248,249]. The annealing of the substrate during the epitaxial growth transforms the amorphous patches and nanosheets into crystalline graphene as demonstrated by Turchanin et al[250]. Such transformation is characterized by the appearance of the D-band and the increase of I_D/I_G and the broadening of all the peaks[249] (see Figure S3-1). Above 18 s of plasma treatment, the nanocrystalline graphene is transformed to low sp³ amorphous carbon[248].



Figure 3-2: Analysis of the influence of plasma treatment duration during graphene surface engineering. (a) Raman spectra of single layer graphene for different durations, (b) I_D/I_G ratio extracted from the Raman measurements in (a), (c) High-resolution XPS spectrum of C1s of a non-treated SLG showing the sp² bonding of the graphene. (d) C=C sp² bond area (blue) and sp³/sp² bond ratio (red) extracted from the XPS measurements of C1s orbital for the different treatments.

To further investigate the defect introduced in SLG, we performed XPS to measure spectra of C1s core level and to study the nature of chemical bonds in engineered graphene. Figure 3-2c shows the high-resolution C1s spectrum of a non-treated SLG. This spectrum contains mainly the sp² carbon peak centered at 284.4 eV. The analysis of the XPS spectra after the plasma treatment is presented in Figure 3-2d showing the C=C sp² bond area (blue) and the sp³/sp² bond ratio (red) for different treatment duration. After, the plasma treatment, the FWHM of the C1s peak became broader (Figure S3-2). From Figure 3-2d,

we can see that the C=C sp² area decreases with the increase of treatment duration, while the ratio sp^3/sp^2 increases as more defects are generated in the SLG. This clearly demonstrates the introduction of defects in graphene. Initially the sp² area decreases rapidly due to the generation of dangling bonds. As the nanoholes start to grow by merging multiple atomic vacancies, the slope of the curve of sp^2 area decreases. These observations are in good agreement with the Raman spectroscopy measurement presented in Figure 3-2a and Figure 3-2b. More XPS analysis is presented in Figure S3-2 and Table S3-1.

3.6.3 Preferential nucleation induced by defects

To bring new insight on the influence of defects in SLG on epitaxial growth and to corroborate out above-mentioned hypothesis, we studied the impact of plasma treatment on epitaxial nucleation of few nm of Ge on the treated SLG. On pristine graphene, the formation of seeds is difficult due to the SLG's low surface energy, which makes epitaxial nucleation very challenging, because the adatoms barely stick to the surface and the nuclei can be easily desorbed before reaching the critical size[232]. Such nucleation results in a polycrystalline 3D growth mode as schematically illustrated by Figure 3-3a (see also Figure S3-3a). This is further confirmed by grazing incident X-ray diffraction (GIXRD) measurements (gray data set). As stated in the previous part, very short duration of plasma treatment introduces mainly dangling bonds and atomic vacancies, which help to increase the wettability of graphene and therefore significantly enhance its reactivity. This results in the increase of the Ge (111) orientation, which is the most favorable in case of QVdW growth of Ge on SLG[232], as shown by grazing incident X-ray (GIXRD) diffraction results shown in Figure S3-4. Even though those dangling bonds enhance the nucleation and crystal orientation of the epilayer on the SLG by acting as preferential nucleation sites as represented in Figure 3-3b, the resulting layer cannot be epitaxially oriented by the substrate underneath the graphene layer since there is no direct link between them. For treatment of 12 s and above, we observe the growth of seeds with crystal form, which is clear evidence of the nanohole formation in the SLG (Figure S3-3c). In contrast to dangling bonds, nanoholes provide a direct link with the substrate underneath the SLG, enabling direct epitaxial growth of substrate-oriented seeds (see Figure 3-3c). Similar observations have been reported[139] in nanoholes occurring during the underlying substrate

deoxidation. The nanoholes-mediated nucleation must be dominant to grow epitaxially monocrystalline layers on top of engineered graphene.

By increasing the duration of plasma treatment, more nanoholes are introduced in the SLG structure and their size increases. Figure 3-3d-f show SEM micrographs tracking the evolution of the nucleation of Ge on treated SLG at duration of 18 s, 24 s and 30 s, respectively. From these images, we can see that the density and the size of the seeds are increasing with treatment duration. The increase in the crystal size is attributed to the presence of larger nanoholes. For further understanding, we plotted the surface coverage by the seeds as a function of treatment duration shown in Figure 3-3g. We found that the surface coverage is proportional to the treatment duration. This can be explained by the fact that as the duration increases, larger regions not covered by graphene become available, enabling the nucleation of larger seeds directly on the substrate. When the SLG is totally etched away (above 30 s of treatment), the seeds form a continuous and homogenous layer. To successfully perform APN growth, the presence of the SLG is necessary, as it provides the surface with weak VdW bonding that facilitates the detachment of the epilayer. For this reason, the plasma treatment duration needs to remain below 30 s. It is also important to note that the increasing quantity of direct links between the epilayer and the substrate will increase the adhesion force of the film and make its exfoliation more difficult[147].



Figure 3-3: Study of the effect of plasma treatment duration on the nucleation of Ge by APN on engineered SLG on Ge substrate. (a), (b), (c) schematic illustration showing the different growth mechanisms on pristine graphene, induced by dangling bonds (<12 s of the plasma treatment) and via nanoholes (>12 s of plasma treatment), respectively. On the pristine graphene we have a 3D growth mode, while through the nanoholes we have a single-crystalline layer oriented by the underlying substrate. (d), (e), (f) SEM images tracking the evolution of the nucleation of Ge on treated SLG with duration of 18 s, 24 s and 30 s, respectively. For all the treatments presented in this figure, the growth temperature was 400 °C and the thickness is 5 nm. For short duration (up to 6 s), the APN is proceeded through dangling bonds and for longer durations through the nanoholes induced in the graphene layer. (g) evolution of the graphene surface coverage by Ge nuclei as a function of treatment duration extracted from the SEM images.

3.6.4 Growth of Ge on engineered graphene using APN approach

After unraveling the different mechanisms of nucleation involved in the APN approach, here we performed the epitaxial growth of Ge layers on the engineered SLG (18 s of O₂ plasma treatment) supported by Ge (100) substrate. Figure 3-4a and 3-4b show plan-view scanning electron micrographs (SEM) of the as grown epilayer. The SEM images reveal a homogenous and smooth surface of the 500 nm-thick Ge layers, confirming their high morphological quality. In Figure 3-4a, we can notice few defects, which we attributed to the poly-nucleation induced by the multilayer graphene. This can also be seen in the Figure 3-3 showing the SEM images of the early stages of the nucleation. However, without the multilayer of graphene the epilayer surface is quite homogenous (Figure 3-4b). The morphological quality of the epilayers was also investigated by AFM and the resulted image is displayed in Figure 3-4c. From this figure, we can notice a featureless and smooth surface with an RMS roughness ~ 2 nm. The electron backscattering diffraction (EBSD) map of the top surface presented in Figure 3-4d reveals that the Ge epilayers grown on the engineered SLG are perfectly single crystalline and have the same crystal orientation as the Ge (100) substrate. This demonstrates that the epilayer is oriented by the underneath substrate through the induced nanoholes. On pristine SLG, the as-grown layers are polycrystalline as previously reported in the literature [137,145,234,251], a result of spherical polycrystalline nucleation (Figure S3-5). In contrast, the APN approach, which is based on the controlled introduction of nanoholes in SLG and epitaxial overgrowth, has successfully demonstrated the growth of continuous and smooth layer on a non-polar substrate. So far, this is unachievable with the QVdWE or RE[62] since they are governed by the interactions with 2D interface or the substrate underneath the graphene [234].



Figure 3-4: Growth of Ge layer (500 nm) on plasma treated (18 s) single layer graphene on Ge (100) substrate using the APN approach. (a) Low magnification plan-view SEM image showing homogenous surface with some defects induced by the nucleation on multilayer graphene, (b) SEM image of the red square on (a) showing a surface without any defect, (c) AFM image of a scan $5 \times 5 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ area showing smooth surface with an RMS roughness of 2 nm, (d) EBSD map of the layer showing single orientation, which demonstrates its single-crystalline nature.

To further investigate the crystalline quality of the as-grown layers by the APN approach, cross-sectional transmission electron microscopy (TEM) measurements were performed. Figure 3-5 shows the TEM analysis of Ge epilayers grown on engineered SLG. The cross-sectional high-angle annular dark-field STEM (HAADF-STEM) of the epitaxial structure is presented in Figure 3-5a. From this figure we can see that the epi structure is made of a continuous Ge epilayer, the engineered SLG interface and the Ge substrate. We

can also notice some small holes (Figure S3-6) highlighted by the red arrow, which we attributed to the overgrowth of Ge on the SLG once the nucleation is initiated within the nanoholes. This observation is in good agreement with our proposed mechanism for the APN approach presented in the previous sections. Figure 3-5b shows the cross-sectional high-resolution TEM image of the epitaxial structure where the SLG interface (dark contrast) can be observed clearly between the epilayer and the substrate. This HRTEM image was obtained with the zone axis <001>. Note that for a better view, the image was rotated by 90° with respect to the initial image. Through the dark interface representing the perfect graphene layer in Figure 3-5b, we can notice some small discontinuities (highlighted by yellow arrows) indicating the induced nanoholes. This observation confirms that the SLG still exists after the Ge growth, indicating that the graphene is not damaged under the used growth conditions and still maintains its nature. From this HRTEM image, there is clear evidence of the absence of structural defects in the epilayer, which demonstrates the high structural quality of the as-grown layers by APN. Figure 3-5c and 3-5d display the fast Fourier transform (FFT) patterns of the epilayer and the underlying substrate shown in Figure 3-5b, respectively. These FFT patterns display the family planes of (220) and (400) of the Ge diamond cubic lattice with d-spacing of ~ 0.2 nm and ~ 0.14 nm, respectively. We only observed those family planes due to the fact that the zone axis is <001>. We can notice that the FFT pattern for the substrate (Figure 3-5c) is similar and perfectly matches to the one for the epilayer (Figure 3-5d), indicating the same structure. This observation confirms the epitaxial relationship between the epilayer and the substrate and clearly demonstrates the single-crystalline nature of the as-grown layers. As mentioned previously, the epilayer is oriented by the underlying substrate because the nucleation through the nanoholes is dominant. Similar observations have been reported by Yu et al. during the growth of GaN on nitrogen plasma-treated graphene[251]. The Ge epilayer's and the substrate's structures are diamond cubic as shown in Figure 3-5e and 3-5f displaying the inverted fast Fourier transform (IFFT) images that show the (220) planes of the epilayer and the substrate, respectively, with a d-spacing of ~ 0.2 nm. Our results also demonstrated that some defects induced during the nucleation process due to multilayer graphene (see Figure 3-4a) can lead to the formation of a polycrystalline epilayer as shown in the Figure S3-6 of the supplementary materials. From this figure we

can clearly see that the epilayer have random diffraction spots with different orientations compared to the substrate and there is evidence of stacking faults and microstructure twinning. This suggests that the initial graphene layer should be uniform and of high quality prior to any treatment.

To clarify the mechanisms of how the epilayers relieve the deformations and the epitaxial stress, the strain state of the as-grown Ge layers on engineered SLG was studied by HRTEM (Figure 3-5b) combined with the geometrical phase analysis (GPA) method. The 2D strain and rotation maps of Ge/SLG/Ge are presented in Figure 3-5g-j. Note that the maps have been rotated by 90° with respect to the initial HRTEM image. The analysis of those maps provides clear evidence that there is no deformation and strains in the Ge epilayers in respect to the underlying substrate. This confirms that the growth is coherent without strain relaxation and comparable to homoepitaxy. From the in-plane map (E_{xx}), we can notice a very low negative out-of-plane deformation in the SLG interface that could be attributed to the nucleation on the graphene dangling bonds. However, in the regions we considered as nanoholes (Figure 3-5b), the in-plane deformation is zero ($E_{xx} = 0$). These observations perfectly corroborate the mechanisms governing the APN approach that we presented in the previous sections. The quality of such layers is suitable for high-performance hybrid devices.



Figure 3-5: TEM analysis of as-grown Ge layer on plasma treated single layer graphene on Ge substrate using the APN approach. (a) Cross-sectional HAADF-STEM image of Ge epilayer grown on the engineered SLG on Ge. The SLG interface is marked off by the red lines and the red arrow shows a small hole at the interface induced by the overgrowth on the SLG, (b) cross section HRTEM image of a defect-free sample (similar region displayed in Figure 3-4b) showing the graphene interface between the substrate and the epilayer. The yellow arrows mark off the regions where nucleation occurred directly on the substrate through the nanoholes created by the plasma treatment, (c) and (d) FFT patterns of the epilayer and the substrate, respectively, showing the same diffraction spots demonstrating the epitaxial relationship between the substrate and the epilayer, and the monocrystalline nature of the as-grown epilayer, (e) and (f) IFFT images showing the Ge(220) planes of the layer and the substrate highlighted by red arrows in (c) and (d), respectively, with a d-spacing of ~ 0.2 nm, (g)-(j) Geometrical phase analysis (GPA) deformation maps of the Ge layers grown on engineered SLG on Ge substrate converted from (b).

In comparison to RE[62], which is governed by the polarity[234] of the substrate and QVdWE governed by interactions with 2D interface, the APN approach is a technique that can produce high-quality single-crystalline layers of semiconductors on any substrate including non-polar substrate. Our findings provide new insights on plasma-induced defects in SLG and open a new route for the growth of hybrid functional devices and fabrication of semiconductor freestanding membranes. Few recent works reported on a similar technique using lateral overgrowth, where the nucleation is induced by defects or nanopatterns in the graphene[139,147]. For instance, a selective area epitaxy of 2D hBN on graphene induced by defects and the epitaxial MoS₂ on hBN assisted by substrate defects has been reported[238,239]. Our work demonstrates that defect-induced anchor points are promising for the epitaxial growth of any 3D semiconductors (polar and non-polar) on a graphene-terminated non-polar substrate and alleviates the limitations of QVdWE and RE.

3.7 Conclusion

In this study, we report an original approach called anchor point nucleation for monolithic integration of 3D semiconductors on 2D materials. We demonstrated the epitaxial growth of defect-free single-crystalline Ge layers without any deformation on engineered SLG. Oxygen plasma treatment is used for surface engineering of the graphene, introducing defects such as dangling bonds and nanoholes in a uniform and controlled manner. These defects then act as preferential nucleation sites, enabling efficient and substrate-oriented nucleation for growth of high-quality epilayers. HRTEM and STEM results provide clear evidence that the layers on SLG are perfectly single crystalline and follow the underneath substrate orientation without any strain. Based on our experimental data, a growth model is proposed to elucidate the epitaxial growth mechanisms of Ge layers on engineered graphene. We demonstrated that the growth is governed by the nucleation through nanoholes followed by a lateral overgrowth of the nuclei anchored on the substrate and a coalescence of a continuous layer. These results lay the groundwork for advanced heterointegration of 3D/2D materials using engineered 2D substrates, for development of highly mismatched structures and semiconductor freestanding membranes, as well as their disruptive applications.

3.8 Methods

3.8.1 Graphene transfer

Commercially available SLG is used in this work. The SLG grown by CVD on copper substrate is initially transferred on polymer support using polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) layer and dissolution of the copper substrate. To transfer the SLG on working substrate the received PMMA/SLG on polymer support stack is slowly immersed in deionized water (DIW) until the PMMA/SLG layer is released from its support and is floating on top of the DIW. Before the transfer, the Ge (001) substrate was previously deoxidized in HBr for 1 min and rinsed with DIW. In fact, it was demonstrated that HBr can effectively remove suboxides on Ge surfaces[237]. This deoxidized substrate is introduced into the DIW and is used to carefully scoop out the PMMA/SLG from below. The Ge substrate with PMMA/SLG is then dried for 30 min in ambient clean room air, followed by annealing on hot plate at 150 °C for 1h. The sample is then stored for 24h under the vacuum to avoid any detachment of the SLG and to remove all the residual moisture. Finally, to clean the SLG, the PMMA is dissolved in acetone and isopropyl alcohol (IPA) at 50 °C for 15 min in each. This part is crucial to obtains PMMA-free SLG surface, because any remaining polymer residue will result in unwanted nucleation leading to polycrystalline growth [232].

3.8.2 Plasma treatment

The SLG/Ge substrate is treated by oxygen (O_2) plasma process to introduce defects in the SLG. The O_2 plasma treatment is performed in a barrel type chamber, under a pressure of 320 mTorr and a radio frequency (RF) power of 10 W. The treatment duration varies between 6 s and 60 s. It is worth mentioning that increasing the RF power significantly accelerate the etching process, leading to complete destruction of the SLG. For example, at RF power equal to 20 W, the SLG was completely etched away after 12 s of the treatment. This aspect was carefully optimized during the experiments.

3.8.3 Epitaxial growth

Epitaxial Growth was carried out in VG Semicon VG90F CBE reactor, with liquid nitrogen cryopanel and with a thermocouple as a means of monitoring the temperature

during the growth. Prior to epitaxial growth, all samples were annealed at 600 °C during 10 min to thermally deoxidize the revealed parts of Ge substrate and to help eliminate any potential residues of PMMA from the transfer. The Ge was grown at 520 °C, at chamber pressure of $\sim 6E^{-6}$ Torr, using a solid source of Ge with a K-Cell temperature at 1250 °C.

3.8.4 Characterizations

Raman spectroscopy is performed using Horiba Raman spectrometer with a CCD detector and a laser with an excitation wavelength of 474 nm to analyze defects induced in SLG by plasma treatment. A 100× objective was used for the measurements, which results in a laser spot of \sim 1 µm in size. Before the data analysis, the background noise was subtracted. The D:G band ration was calculated directly from the maximum intensity of the bands.

X-ray photoemission spectroscopy is realized with Kratos Axis Ultra spectrometer using a monochromatic Al K α source (hv = 1486.7 eV) and a charge neutralized system. Survey scans and high-resolution scans are performed with an analysis area of 300 μ m × 700 μ m. The samples were loaded in the chamber, right after the plasma treatment, to avoid contamination from ambient exposure. The XPS spectra are corrected to the main line of carbon 1s spectrum set to 284.8 eV. The data are analyzed using CasaXPS software. The Shirley background is subtracted from the XPS spectra, which is then fitted using a Voigt function.

The surface morphology of the nucleation and epitaxial layers is observed with a scanning electron microscope Zeiss LEO 1540 XB at 4.3 mm of working distance and 5 keV of acceleration voltage and with an atomic force microscope Veeco Dimension 3100 in tapping mode using SSS-NCHR silicon probe.

Prior to Scanning Transmission Electron Microscopy (STEM) and TEM imaging, the samples were prepared by focused ion beam (FIB) thinning and ion milling using a Zeiss NVision 40 Focused Ion Beam. The surface was protected by carbon coating to avoid the sputtering of the surface by the ion beam. The TEM and STEM observations were made in Titan Themis microscope operated at 200 kV and equipped with a CEOS probe corrector

and Ceta 16M camera from FEI. The data were treated using Gatan digital micrograph software, to evaluate the crystalline quality and strains of the layers.

The crystalline quality of the epilayers was also investigated by Rigaku smartlab HRXRD system with Cu Kα X-ray source in GIXRD configuration.

3.9 Author Contributions

Thierno Mamoudou Diallo and Tadeáš Hanuš contributed equally to this work. The manuscript was written through the contributions of all authors. All authors have given approval to the final version of the manuscript. Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Tadeáš Hanuš: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation, Original draft preparation, Review and Editing, Visualization. Gilles Patriarche, Andreas Ruediger: Investigation, Review and Editing. Abderraouf Boucherif: Conceptualization, Supervision, Review and Editing.

3.10 Acknowledgement

We would like to thank Hubert Pelletier, Guillaume Bertrand, Philippe-Olivier Provost and all the technical staff of 3IT for the technical support, Alexandre Chapotot for schematic drawing of the process, Javier Arias Zapata and Bouraoui Ilahi for scientific discussions, Lilian Skokan for assistance during Raman spectroscopy measurements, and Sonia Blais for X-ray Photoelectron spectroscopy measurements. We thank the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), Fonds de recherche du Québec (FRQNT), Mitacs, for the financial support. Abderraouf Boucherif is particularly grateful to the discovery grant for funding this research program.

TEM studies were carried out within the C2N micro nanotechnology platforms and partly supported by the RENATECH network and the General Council of Essonne.

LN2 is a joint International Research Laboratory (IRL 3463) funded and co-operated in Canada by Université de Sherbrooke (UdeS) and in France by CNRS as well as ECL, INSA Lyon, and Université Grenoble Alpes (UGA). It is also supported by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec Nature et Technologie (FRQNT).

3.11 Supplementary materials



Figure S3-1: Influence of plasma treatment duration on full width half maximum (FWHM) of D and G bands in Raman spectra of the treated SLG. The broadening of the bands with increasing treatment duration signifies the transformation from pristine graphene to nanocrystalline graphene with smaller crystallite size.



Figure S3-2: High-resolution XPS spectra of C1s of SLG treated with O_2 plasma for different durations: (a) 6 s, (b) 12 s, (c) 18 s, (d) 24 s, (e) 30 s. The spectra show the decrease of sp² bonding of the graphene with increasing treatment duration, and (f) O/C ratio evolution with plasma treatment duration extracted from the XPS spectra.



Figure S3-3: Typical AFM images of few nm Ge nucleation on (a) pristine graphene, seeds form spherical shapes on the surface due to the low surface energy of the SLG surface, (b) treated graphene with predominantly dangling bonds, the wettability of the surface is significantly improved, enabling the seed to laterally spread on the graphene, (c) treated graphene with nanoholes, the direct contact with the Ge substrate trough nanohole enables the formation of crystal shaped seeds.



Figure S3-4: Grazing incident X-ray diffraction (GIXRD) data of Ge epilayer grown on SLG that has undergone 0 s (gray), 6 s (red) and 18 s (blue) of plasma treatment. Gray data set shows the polycrystalline nature of the Ge epilayer grown on pristine SLG, caused by its low surface energy. Red data set corresponds to Ge epilayer grown on engineered SLG with predominantly dangling bonds defect, improving SLG wettability. This results in preferential orientation of the layer along Ge (111) orientation, which is the most favorable for QVdW of Ge on SLG. The blue data set represents the Ge epilayer grown by APN with the remnant of the Ge (111) orientation (caused by the presence of wrinkles and multilayers in graphene), suggesting the Ge (001) orientation of the epilayer, obtained by through nanohole nucleation on Ge substrate. The Ge (001) orientation corresponding to the substrate does not show under GIXRD conditions.



Figure S3-5: (a) SEM image of Ge layer grown on pristine graphene with inhomogeneous surface morphology due to the uncontrolled nucleation on the surface of SLG (b) Closer zoom of the SEM image in (a), showing that the layer is composed of a multitude of crystallites.



Figure S3-6: high magnification cross-sectional HAADF-STEM image of a small hole at the interface between the epilayer and the substrate shown in Figure 5a of the main manuscript.



Figure S3-6: (a) Cross section HRTEM image taken at a defect similar to those displayed in Figure 4a in the main manuscript, showing the different crystalline planes and defects (highlighted by red arrows) in the epilayer, (b) and (c) FFT patterns of the layer and the substrate, respectively. In contrast to the substrate, the diffraction spots in the epilayer are random with different orientations, demonstrating the polycrystalline nature of the epilayer in those regions. Stacking faults and microstructure twinning can be seen in the epilayer.

Bonding	Area for different treatment duration (%)				
	6 s	12 s	18 s	24 s	30 s
C=C	70.53	60.62	49.89	38.99	33.40
С-С, С-Н	15.74	15.18	18.80	34.66	43.11
C-O	7.78	15.11	18.55	17.89	17.68
С=О	2.05	4.45	4.96	2.15	1.56
COO	3.90	4.64	7.80	6.31	4.25

Table S3-1: Area% evolution of different bonding species during different treatment duration of the SLG.

Chapter IV

4. Formation of Uniform High-quality PGe layers at wafer-scale, and tailoring of their physical properties

This chapter focuses on formation of high-quality PGe layers further used as a substrate for growth of FSMs in chapters V and VI. The chapter is in form of scientific article published in the journal *Advanced Materials Interfaces*. It introduces BEE process allowing the formation of uniform PGe layers over a large surface. The combination of novel porosification tools and optimized etching process enables the formation of edge-toedge PGe structures across 100 mm wafers with tunable thickness and porosity. Additionally, non-destructive fast feedback characterization techniques are explored to evaluate the PGe quality.

4.1 Foreword

Authors and affiliations:

Tadeáš Hanuš, Javier Arias-Zapata, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Abderraouf Boucherif:

Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein:

Umicore Electro-Optic Materials, Watertorenstraat 33, 2250, Olen, Belgium

Status: Accepted - final version published

Acceptation date: 06/03/2023

Journal: Advanced materials interfaces

Reference: [252]

French title: Formation à grande échelle de nanostructures poreuses et uniformes de Ge avec des propriétés physiques ajustables

Contribution to the manuscript:

This article contributes to the thesis by demonstration of high-quality PGe layer formation at 100 mm wafer-scale using BEE. The introduced technique enables the obtention of highly uniform PGe structures with tunable physical properties, while maintaining the original crystal orientation and low surface roughness. The PGe structures introduced in this article serve as a substrate for fabrication of FSMs developed in the following chapters.

4.2 French abstract

Les nanostructures poreuses de germanium (PGe) suscitent beaucoup d'attention en raison de leurs propriétés mécaniques et physicochimiques uniques, qui les rendent intéressantes pour diverses applications émergentes. En conséquence, il existe un besoin croissant de développer des méthodes de synthèse à faible cout pour assurer leur compatibilité avec une production à grande échelle. La gravure électrochimique bipolaire (BEE) est une solution à faible cout permettant de produire des couches poreuses de Ge. Cependant, l'absence de production contrôlable de couches uniformes de PGe à grande échelle est le principal facteur limitant pour les applications à grande échelle en industrie. Ce travail démontre la formation de couches homogènes de PGe à grande échelle en améliorant le processus de BEE. Les structures poreuses ainsi produites présentent une excellente homogénéité en termes d'épaisseur et de porosité, avec une variation relative inférieure à 2 % sur toute la plaquette de 100 mm. De plus, l'amélioration du processus BEE permet d'ajuster précisément les propriétés physiques de la couche de PGe en faisant varier les paramètres de gravure. Nous démontrons des structures de PGe avec une porosité allant de 40 % à 80 % et une épaisseur réglable de quelques nanomètres à plus de 4 µm, tout en préservant une faible rugosité de surface, offrant ainsi un large éventail de nanostructures de PGe répondant aux exigences pour des applications diverses. L'ellipsométrie et la réflectivité des rayons X ont été utilisées pour mesurer la porosité et l'épaisseur des couches de PGe, fournissant des méthodes de caractérisation rapides et non destructives. Ces découvertes posent les bases de la production à grande échelle de couches de PGe de haute qualité aux caractéristiques sur mesure.

Large-scale formation of uniform porous Ge nanostructures with tunable physical properties

Tadeáš Hanuš^{*1,2}, Javier Arias-Zapata^{1,2}, Bouraoui Ilahi^{1,2}, Philippe-Olivier Provost^{1,2}, Jinyoun Cho³, Kristof Dessein³ and Abderraouf Boucherif^{*1,2}

Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke,
3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

2: Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

3: Umicore Electro-Optic Materials, Watertorenstraat 33, 2250, Olen, Belgium

*Corresponding authors: tadeas.hanus@usherbrooke.ca, abderraouf.boucherif@usherbrooke.ca

Keywords: Porous germanium, Nanostructures, Porous substrate, Wafer-scale, Electrochemical etching

4.3 Graphical abstract



Large-scale formation of uniform porous Ge nanostructures with tunable physical properties

4.4 Abstract

Porous germanium (PGe) nanostructures attract a lot of attention for various emerging applications due to their unique mechanical and physicochemical properties. Accordingly, there's an increasing need for the development of low-cost synthesis roots to ensure compatibility with large-scale production. Bipolar electrochemical etching (BEE) is a lowcost widely used solution to produce porous Ge layers. However, the lack of controllable production of large-scale uniform PGe layers is the main limiting factor for mainstream applications. This work demonstrates the formation of large-scale homogenous PGe layers by improving the BEE process. The produced porous structures, demonstrates excellent homogeneity in thickness and porosity with a relative variation below 2% over the entire 100 mm wafer. Furthermore, the improved BEE process enables accurate tuning of the physical properties of the PGe layer through the etching parameters variation. We demonstrate PGe structures with porosity ranging from 40% to 80% with an adjustable thickness from a few nm to over 4 μ m, while preserving low surface roughness, giving access to a large variety of PGe nanostructures to fulfill the requirements of the widest possible range of applications. Ellipsometry and X-ray reflectivity have been employed to measure the porosity and thickness of PGe layers, providing fast and nondestructive

methods of characterization. These findings lay the groundwork for large-scale production of high-quality PGe layers with on-demand characteristics.

4.5 Introduction

Porous semiconductor materials have received an increasing interest for both fundamental research and advanced applications owing to their unique mechanical and physicochemical properties compared to their bulk material counterparts[221,253-255]. PGe in particular shows potential in a wide range of implementations such as energy storage systems[256–261], thermoelectric devices[262], sensors[263-265], optoelectronics[210,266] or synthesis of nanocomposite materials[267-269]. Moreover, PGe has recently been demonstrated as an efficient virtual substrate for epitaxial growth of detachable Ge membranes[182] and III-V heterostructures with high crystalline quality[214,216] paving the way to direct application in the development of lightweight and flexible photovoltaics and optoelectronics [183,270]. Nevertheless, to bring these applications to the real world, a large-scale formation of homogenous PGe layers with ondemand characteristics is necessary.

The fabrication of PGe nanostructures was demonstrated using techniques such as thermal reduction of GeO₂ nanoparticles[271], Oxidative Polymerization of the Deltahedral[Ge₉]^{4–} Cluster[272], Spark processing[273], reduction–alloying–dealloying approach[274], ion implantation[275,276], growth by Molecular Beam epitaxy[266], coupled plasma chemical vapor deposition[277], metal-assisted chemical etching[278], lithography and dry etching[183], and electrochemical etching[203–205]. Some of the major challenges of the aforesaid techniques are confronted with the use of expensive precursors, high investment in equipment and labor, low yields, random crystallite orientation, low purity of PGe structures and intricate procedures making them nonviable for low-cost/large-scale production. The electrochemical etching is a simple and low-cost technique providing PGe layers with high material purity and densely packed nanocrystals. However, its wide-spreading application remains strongly dependent on the controllable production of homogenous PGe layer on large surfaces.

In the last two decades, the electrochemical porosification of Ge experienced major advancements. The BEE was introduced[208,279] to overcome the observed lateral dissolution of the PGe[204] when applying a silicon-like unipolar anodic etching[280,281] on Ge substrate. Accordingly, adding a cathodization step allows passivating the porous layer formed during the previous anodization step. BEE produced PGe with various structures and morphologies has been reported by tuning BEE etching and passivation parameters[205,210,211]. Recently, the Fast BEE was introduced[203], allowing higher etching rates for thicker PGe layers production. Since then, this technique has been used to produce tubular and columnar morphologies[212], broadening the implementation of PGe as anode material for Li-ion batteries [282]. Despite the progress made in the fundamental understanding of the electrochemical etching of Ge[208,279,283] and the demonstrated suitability for various emerging applications, the formation of homogenous PGe layers on large surfaces and the control of its structural properties remain difficult to achieve because of the number of interfering factors during BEE. Indeed, parameters such as substrate characteristics, ratio etching/passivation pulse duration and current density or electrolyte composition have a strong impact on the final PGe properties (porosity, thickness, and morphology)[205,211]. Furthermore, PGe morphological characteristics (thickness and porosity) are often extracted using local and destructive techniques such as scanning electron microscopy (SEM), which are not suitable for large-scale assessment of the PGe homogeneity.

In this work, we demonstrate large-scale formation of homogenous PGe layers by a modified BEE. The proposed method allows fine-tuning and control of the porous layer thickness and porosity. Accordingly, widely tunable highly uniform PGe layer over full 100 mm wafers has been demonstrated. Additionally, we show that ellipsometry mapping and XRR are very accurate and nondestructive characterization techniques, to measure the PGe layer thickness and porosity.

4.6 Results and discussions

Ge electrochemical porosification requires the use of bipolar etching, where the anodic pulses enable effective etching, and the cathodic pulses protect the porous structure from dissolution during the etching step[208,279]. This additional complexity, compared to Si porosification, makes the formation of homogenous porous Ge layers by BEE very challenging. When applying standard symmetrical BBE process on a large surface, the

resulting layers exhibit inhomogeneous surface colors as demonstrated by Figure S4-1. A typical cross-sectional SEM image of porous Ge structures obtained by standard BEE process (Figure 4-1a) shows the lateral etching induced damages that locally alters the PGe layer's quality. The origin of this inhomogeneity can be attributed to an excessive formation of hydrogen gas during the BEE. The mechanism of Ge passivation step has already been described in previous works[203,211], showing that the formation of hydrogen terminations on the surface of the PGe structure, protects it against the dissolution during the subsequent etching step. As a by-product of this reaction, hydrogen gas is also formed inside the structure. The growth and evolution of H₂ bubbles generate a pressure on the pore walls inducing physical damages to the small and fragile PGe crystallites. Moreover, the large H₂ bubbles stuck inside the pores can isolate parts of the structure from the system, locally causing etching in lateral direction, which is detrimental for the porous layer homogeneity over the large surface. Figure 4-1b schematically illustrates the accumulation of the H₂ bubbles inside the porous structure and the consequent potential damage that may locally occur during the porous layer formation.

To overcome these undesirable passivation effects, we introduced some modifications to commonly used BEE conditions. Indeed, to reduce the quantity of produced H₂ gas, we employed a low passivation current density of $1 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$. Additionally, a rest time has been introduced at the end of each etching/passivation cycle. The extra time after each cycle let the system reach the equilibrium potential as well as it enables the H₂ gas to escape from the porous structure as shown in Figure 4-1b. Moreover, the proportion of ethanol in the electrolyte is increased by 20% to reduce the surface tension of the solution[284]. This helps release the residual H₂ bubbles and facilitating the electrolyte penetration inside the nanoscale sized porous structure enabling an efficient diffusion of the ions towards the bottom of the porces, inhibiting the damage of the PGe layers during the etching while enabling homogenous PGe structures formation over large surfaces. Using this improved BEE recipe, well-defined PGe structure with good lateral and in-depth uniformity has been obtained as revealed by SEM micrograph (Figure 4-1c).



Figure 4-1: (a) Typical SEM micrograph of damaged PGe structure due to the lateral etching formed with 2 mA·cm⁻² etching current density. (b) Schematic illustration of H₂ gas formation (I) accumulation of H₂ inside the porous structure and damage it causes due to the physical pressure and local insulation inside of pores causing lateral etching. (II) H₂ release during the rest time step in between etching cycles, preventing damage to the PGe structure. (c) SEM micrograph of well-defined PGe structure etched with improved BEE process and with 2 mA·cm⁻² etching current density

To date conventional porosification cells for electrochemical etching of semiconductors employ a clamping mechanism to maintain the wafer inside the cell and to seal the reservoir for the electrolyte[204,285,286]. Figure 4-2a shows typical homogenous PGe layer produced in conventional 100 mm wafer porosification cell. Since the edge of the wafer is isolated from the electrolyte, it cannot be porosified leading to the formation of the rim of bulk material surrounding the porous structure. Moreover, the clamping mechanism causes

additional defects/inhomogeneities in the porous structure (as indicated by red arrows in Figure 4-2a) near the edges of the PGe layer. These combined effects reduce the effective usable surface of the wafer by over 25%, which is significant, especially in case of rare and expensive material such as Ge. Additionally, the interface between the bulk material and the porous structure can cause formation of defects, accumulation of materials and other problems for applications aiming for the use of full wafers such as epitaxial growth of heterostructures. To avoid these problems additional steps such as laser cutting or mechanical grinding to remove the rim[225] need to be undertaken, increasing the fabrication process's cost and complexity. Most industrial fabrication processes are developed to work with the whole wafers to ensure the highest possible efficiency. Consequently, any unusable parts of the substrate or additional steps will have a negative impact on the process throughput. To overcome this issue, we have developed custom design[287] of porosification cell enabling the porosification of the entire wafer's surface (edge included). Schematic illustration of this design is shown in Figure 4-2b along with the produced uniform edge-to-edge PGe layer on full 100 mm wafer (Figure 4-2c).



Figure 4-2: (a) 100 mm Ge wafer with homogenous PGe layer produced in conventional porosification cells. Red flashes indicate defects in PGe layer at the edges. (b) Schematic illustration of custom design porosification cell enabling edge-to-edge wafer porosification. (c) The edge-to-edge homogenous PGe layer with mirror finish produced in custom-made 100 mm cell.

To study the impact of the etching parameters on the PGe layer's uniformity, the etching current density was varied between 0.5 and 5.0 mA·cm⁻². Indeed, as shown in Figure 4-3, the improved stability of the proposed BEE recipe enables the etching current density
variation while preserving the PGe layer's uniformity. Indeed, Figure 4-3a shows a linear increase of etching rate with etching current density. Compared to previously reported data[203], homogenous PGe layers can be produced even above 2.5 mA·cm⁻² effectively avoiding the lateral dissolution at high etching current density. This allows for achieving high etching rates of above 40 nm/min, being previously reported only by fast BEE[203]. Moreover, for a given current density, the PGe layer thickness is found to increase linearly over time (Figure 4-3b). This testifies that the etching rate remains constant during the BEE process. This characteristic enables time-based thickness modulation of PGe layers from few nm up to 4 μ m. Furthermore, the porosity can be successively tuned from 40 to 80% by varying the etching current density within the selected range, providing the formation of adjustable medium to high porosity (Figure 4-3c). Two main porosification regimes can be distinguished: (I) From 0.5 to 2.0 mA \cdot cm⁻², porosity exhibits high sensitivity to the etching current density, enabling a wide range of porosity variation between 40 and 70%(II). Meanwhile, for an etching current density ranging from 2.0 to 5.0 mA \cdot cm⁻², the porosity is found to vary only between 70 and 80% allowing very fine porosity modulation in this regime.

For all porosities the PGe structure is formed by interconnected mesopores, separated by Ge skeleton. Although the pores are disordered at a short range, a certain degree of ordering can be detected at a long range, particularly in the case of high porosities (Figure 4-3d-i). This shows that the PGe layers maintain its sponge-like morphology, regardless of the etching current density. This is possible thanks to the high degree of passivation. Other morphologies such as "pine-tree" and "fishbone", have been reported in the literature for lower degrees of passivation[211]. While the porosity of the PGe layer varies as a function of the etching current density, the pore size seems to remain the same as shown by the cross-sectional SEM images of PGe structures with porosities between 40% and 80% in Figure 4-3d-i. The image processing reveals an average pore diameter, around 5 ± 1 nm across all the porosities. This value is consistent with the observations by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) presented in Figure 4-5a as well as with the values indicated in literature[203,211]. The obtained average pore size classifies at the lower end of the mesoporous size domain. The provided flexibility in tuning of PGe structure's physical properties enables the possibility of on-demand porous layer formation, depending on the desired characteristics. Many applications can take advantage of this kind of versatility such as energy storage systems[258], thermoelectric devices[262] or nanoengineered compliant substrates for epitaxial growth[183,214].



Figure 4-3: (a) Linear growth of etching rate of PGe layers with increasing current density. (b) Linear increase of PGe layer thickness over etching duration for 1, 2 and 4 mAc·m⁻² etching current density. (c) Porosity of the PGe structure versus applied etching current density variation with (I) corresponding to the domain with fast porosity increase from medium to high porosity and (II) to slow progressive increase in high porosity domain. (d-i) Cross-sectional SEM micrographs of PGe structures etched with 0.50, 0.75, 1.00, 1.50, 2.00 and 5.00 mA·cm⁻² corresponding to 40, 45, 53, 65, 71 and 80% porosity, respectively.

The demonstration of wafer-scale production and use of porous Ge substrates for various applications, comes with a crucial need to develop fast and nondestructive characterization methods easily applicable for post-production PGe wafers' quality assessment. To date, PGe layers are mainly characterized by SEM. Accordingly, we have employed this method on various locations along the PGe wafer's diameter as reference data to assess the accuracy of the nondestructive characterization techniques. Figure 4-1c shows a well-defined interface between the PGe layer with sponge-like morphology and bulk Ge material. The Figure 4-4a shows that the PGe layer thickness remains constant along the wafer's diameter with a mean value of 206 ± 4 nm (Figure 4-4b). SEM can also

be used to evaluate the porosity, using image treatment software, which is estimated in the present case to be $67 \pm 12\%$. To assess this estimation using nondestructive technique, we first employed XRR measurement to precisely determine the porosity. Indeed, it allows for measuring the critical angle of porous layer, which is directly linked to the material's density and therefore its corresponding porosity. As the porosity of the layer increases the value of critical angle decreases. This enables the distinction between the critical angle of PGe layer (θ_{PGe}) and of the bulk Ge (θ_{Ge}) as shown in Figure 4-4b. The porosity can therefore be calculated using Eq. 1. Variation of PGe critical angle with porosity is shown in Figure S4-2 of supplementary materials. XRR enables non-destructive determination of porosity without relying on indirect image processing algorithms. Figure 4-4c shows radial profile of porosity of full wafer with an average value of $72 \pm 2\%$. This result agrees with the estimation made by SEM images treatment. These methods give us good indication about the uniformity of the PGe layers, but they are still, not suitable for the fast feedback loop necessary for large-scale production.

Regardless of the precision and the accuracy of the provided information (layer's porosity, thickness, and homogeneity), SEM remains local and destructive method, which is non-representative of the whole PGe wafer's surface and unsuitable for quality control in production line. On the other hand, XRR is non-destructive and production-line compatible, but it doesn't offer reliable measurement of the PGe thickness. For this reason, we employed more complete fast and non-destructive ellipsometry measurements to access both thickness and porosity at the same time. Mapping with over 100 measurement points was performed to evaluate the uniformity of the PGe over the entire 100 mm wafer as shown in Figure 4-4d and 4-4e. The mean thickness of the PGe layer is evaluated to be 207 ± 3 nm (Figure 4-4d). In terms of porosity, the mean value is $72 \pm 1\%$ as shown in Figure 4-4e. These results demonstrate excellent uniformity of the PGe layer over the wafer's surface with a standard deviation below 2% for both thickness and porosity obtained by custom-designed porosification cell and optimized BEE recipe (similar results are obtained for medium porosity layers as shown in Figure S4-3). Moreover, the obtained data are consistent with both SEM and XRR measurements, making the ellipsometry mapping a fast, accurate and nondestructive technique suitable for fast feedback characterization of PGe layers.



Figure 4-4: (a) Thickness variation of the PGe layer over the diameter of 100 mm wafer measured by SEM. (b) Typical XRR measurement of the Ge bulk substrate (Blue) and PGe layer (Red). (c) Porosity variation of the PGe layer over the diameter of the 100 mm wafer calculated from XRR measurements d) and e) mapping of the thickness and porosity of the PGe layer over the surface of 100 mm wafer measured by ellipsometry.

For applications such as epitaxial growth, the crystalline quality and surface morphology are crucial characteristics of the substrate. To further quality investigation of fabricated PGe layers HRTEM (High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy), XRD and AFM are used. The HRTEM image of a typical PGe structure made by BEE (Figure 4-5a) shows Ge atoms oriented in crystalline structure without any observable presence of amorphous phase or oxides on the surface of the crystallites. To investigate if there is any bending of the crystallites in the PGe structure, a PGe layer with ~70% porosity and ~1 μ m thickness is characterized by XRD, since the high porosity and thickness make this type of structure most keen to crystal bending and misorientation. Figure 4-5b shows 20 out-of-plane XRD scan with only (004) and (002)[288] peaks of Ge, without signs of any other orientations. Combined, the HRTEM and XRD studies demonstrate the

crystalline nature of the porous structure, maintaining the substrate orientation without formation of any amorphous phase or crystal bending. Furthermore, Figure 4-5c shows a typical AFM scan of the PGe layer's surface topology of the sponge-like structure showing a smooth surface and low RMS (Root Mean Square) roughness below 3 nm. AFM scans for various PGe structures can be found in Figure S4-4 of supplementary materials. These surface characteristics were found to be the same for all the produced porous structures independently of their porosity as can be seen in Figure 4-5d. The high single oriented crystallinity combined with low surface roughness and good lateral uniformity make these PGe layers an excellent candidate as virtual substrate for wafer-scale epitaxy. Recently, it has been demonstrated that, as porosified PGe substrates allow epitaxial growth of monocrystalline Ge membranes[289]. It has been also showed that native oxides, which may be formed on PGe surface following a long storage time and/or longer period of exposure to the ambient atmosphere, can be easily removed by diluted acidic solutions such as HBr. Oxide-free PGe surface can be obtained, allowing monocrystalline Ge growth on top of it[290].



Figure 4-5: (a) HRTEM micrograph of high porosity structure showing the crystalline nature of the porous structure (b) 2θ out-of-plane XRD scan of the thick, high porosity PGe layer showing monocrystalline nature of the structure (c) AFM scan showing smooth surface morphology of the PGe layer. (d) Constant surface roughness of the PGe layers versus etching current density (Porosity).

4.7 Conclusion

We demonstrated the fabrication of edge-to-edge, 100 mm wafer-scale, homogenous and reproducible PGe layers. This is possible, thanks to a finely optimized BEE process with an additional rest time step to enable efficient evolution of H₂ produced during the passivation step. The edge-to-edge scale is enabled by custom designed porosification cell increasing the high-quality PGe surface by over 25% per 100 mm wafer compared to conventional porosification cells. Moreover, we show that the PGe structural properties such as thickness and porosity can be accurately tuned by varying the etching parameters to create PGe layers with on-demand characteristics depending on the desired application. The produced PGe layers' properties are easily assessable by production line compatible, fast, and nondestructive techniques enabling the characterization of the entire surface. The resulting PGe layers present excellent homogeneity with less than 2% variation for both thickness and porosity. The HRTEM and XRD analysis shows that the PGe structure maintains the substrate crystalline nature, without any misorientation of the crystallites. Moreover, the porous substrates show a good surface topology with RMS roughness below 3 nm over the entire range of accessible porosities. This provides an opportunity for wafer-scale epitaxial growth of detachable III-V heterostructures for optoelectronics and photovoltaics applications. These results demonstrate the viability of BEE for large-scale production of high purity, crystalline PGe layers with on-demand characteristics and lay the groundwork for various applications of PGe structures.

4.8 Methods

4.8.1 Bipolar Electrochemical Etching

Electrochemical etching of Ge was performed in a custom-designed 100 mm electrochemical cell, composed of Teflon body, solid copper working electrode and platinum wire counter electrode. Gallium doped, p-type (100) oriented Ge wafers with 6° miscut towards (111) direction and resistivity of 8-30 m Ω ·cm were used as a substrate. Prior to a Galvanostatic BEE, Ge wafers were deoxidized in the HF (49%) solution for 5 min, rinsed with EtOH (99%, Anhydrous) and dried under N₂ flow. The BEE was carried out in HF (49%): EtOH (99%, Anhydrous) (4:1, V:V) electrolyte using asymmetric anodic (etching), cathodic (passivation) pulses and 1 s rest time at the end of each cycle. The passivation pulses were fixed at 1 mA·cm⁻² current density and 1 s pulse duration. The etching current density varied between 0.5 and 5.0 mA·cm⁻² with pulse duration fixed at 1 s. Prior to BEE, a direct current was applied to initiate the formation of pores and to obtain their even distribution on the sample surface[203]. The total duration of BEE varied between 2 min and 1 h.

4.8.2 Materials Characterization

Cross-sectional profile of samples was observed by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) using Zeiss LEO 1540 XB at 4.3 mm of working distance and 20 keV of acceleration voltage, to measure the thickness of the layer. The roughness measurements

were performed, using the AFM Veeco Dimension 3100 in tapping mode with SSS-NCHR silicon probe and with a scan size of 5×5 and $1 \times 1 \mu m^2$. The X-ray diffraction (XRD) and X-ray reflectometry (XRR) measurements were performed using Rigaku Smartlab HRXRD system with Cu K α X-ray source, Ge (220) × 2 monochromator and HYPIX-3000 hybrid pixel array 2D detector. The Powder XRD configuration was used to investigate the crystalline nature of the PGe layer. The XRR is used to measure the critical angle of PGe layers. The porosity (P) is then calculated using Equation 4-1 where θ_{PGe} and θ_{Ge} correspond to the critical angle of the PGe layer and of the bulk Ge, respectively[291,292].

$$P = (1 - (\frac{\theta_{PGe}}{\theta_{Ge}})^2) \times 100$$
 (Equation 4-1)

Fast feedback characterization of 100 mm wafers of PGe was performed by ellipsometry using a J. A. Woollam Co. VASE[®] instrument, including mapping of the wafers. Spectral range from 500 nm to 900 nm and a model based on an Effective Material Approximation (EMA) using the Bruggerman analysis mode. This model uses a mix of Ge and air to represent the PGe layers on a Ge substrate[293], allowing thickness and porosity estimation. Ge material uses a Cody-Lorentz built-in function to model the dielectric model of Germanium as a wavelength-dependent oscillator[294,295], we used E₀ and E_g as 6 eV and 1 eV respectively.

4.9 Author Contributions

The manuscript was written through the contributions of all authors. All authors have given approval to the final version of the manuscript. **Tadeáš Hanuš**: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation, Original draft preparation, Review and Editing, Visualization. **Javier Arias Zapata**: Investigation, Supervision, Validation, Review and Editing. **Bouraoui Ilahi**: Supervision, Validation, Review and Editing. **Philippe-Olivier Provost**: Conceptualization, Review and Editing. **Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein**: Validation, Review and Editing. **Abderraouf Boucherif**: Supervision, Validation, Review and Editing.

4.10 Acknowledgement

We thank Reza Mohammad Azizian, Arthur Dupuy, Stéphanie Sauze, Alexandre Heintz and Thierno Mamoudou Diallo for scientific discussions, and providing many helpful comments and suggestions throughout the project. We appreciate helpful advice from Olivier Marconot and Hubert Pelletier concerning XRD. We are grateful to René Labrecque, Julie Ménard and all the technical staff of 3IT for the technical support. We thank Umicore, Saint-Augustin Canada Electric (Stace), Innovation en énergie électrique (InnovÉÉ), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), Fonds de recherche du Québec (FRQNT), Mitacs, for the financial support. A. Boucherif is grateful for a Discovery grant supporting this work. We thank Canadian Centre for Electron Microscopy for TEM analysis.

LN2 is a joint International Research Laboratory (IRL 3463) funded and co-operated in Canada by Université de Sherbrooke (UdeS) and in France by CNRS as well as ECL, INSA Lyon, and Université Grenoble Alpes (UGA). It is also supported by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec Nature et Technologie (FRQNT).

4.11 Supplementary materials



Figure S4-1: Optical image of PGe layers over 100 mm wafer using standard symmetrical BEE recipe with (a) $1.5 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$ etching current density and (b) $2.0 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$ etching current density. Both images show large inhomogeneous areas of the PGe layer.



Figure S4-2: (a) Simulation of XRR for infinite PGe layers with porosities between 0-90%, showing decreasing critical angle with increasing porosity (b) XRR measurement of PGe layers with different porosities, showing constant critical angle of the substrate and critical angle of the PGe layer decreasing with increasing porosity of the layer.



Figure S4-3: (a-b) mapping of the thickness and porosity of PGe layer, etched with $0.5 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$ current density, over the surface of 100 mm wafer, measured with ellipsometr[290].



Figure S4-4: Surface topology AFM scans of PGe layers prepared with etching current density corresponding to (a) $0.50 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, (b) $0.75 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, (c) $1.00 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, (d) $1.50 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, (e) $2.00 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, (f) $4.0 \text{ mA} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$.

Chapter V

5. Growth on PGe Substrates and Fabrication of Monocrystalline Ge FSMs

This chapter focuses on epitaxial growth of Ge layers on PGe substrate and fabrication of Ge FSMs. The chapter is in form of scientific article published in the journal *Materials Today Advances*. It explores the initial stage of the growth on PGe interface and the evolution of the surface quality of the fully densified Ge layer. The low-temperature growth allows for high-quality growth, while avoiding the reconstruction of the PGe nanostructure. This facilitates both the formation of the FSMs by mechanical detachment, as well as the substrate reuse.

5.1 Foreword

Authors and affiliations:

Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Alexandre Chapotot, Hubert Pelletier, Abderraouf Boucherif:

Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein:

Umicore Electro-Optic Materials, Watertorenstraat 33, 2250, Olen, Belgium

Status: Accepted - final version published

Acceptation date: 22/04/2023

Journal: Materials Today Advances

Reference: [296]

French title: Membranes autoportantes de Ge à l'échelle de la plaque de 100 mm pour l'optoélectronique léger et flexible

Contribution to the manuscript:

This article contributes to the thesis by introducing a novel approach for Ge FSMs fabrication and substrate reuse. To demonstrate a low temperature growth on PGe structures, allowing an easy detachment of the membrane and simple substrate cleaning process for its reuse. It also showcases the different growth stages on 3D porous substrate leading to the formation of the fully densified, high-quality membrane.

5.2 French abstract

Les membranes autoportantes (FSMs) à base de semi-conducteurs ont récemment émergé comme un domaine très prometteur de recherche sur les matériaux avancés. Leurs propriétés uniques, telles que leur légèreté et leur flexibilité, les rendent attrayantes pour une large gamme d'applications de dispositifs innovants. Cependant, la production de FSMs de haute qualité cristalline, en particulier à partir de matériaux élémentaires tels que le germanium (Ge), reste un défi important. Dans ce travail, nous rapportons la formation de FSMs de Ge facilement détachables de leur substrat à l'échelle de la plaquette, à l'aide du substrat poreux de Ge (PGe). La méthode proposée repose sur l'épitaxie du Ge à basse température sur une structure PGe, ce qui permet de préserver l'intégrité de la structure poreuse lors de la formation de la FSM et facilite le nettoyage du substrat après le détachement pour la réutilisation multiple. L'analyse de la morphologie de la surface en fonction de l'épaisseur de Ge déposée révèle que la formation de la FSM se produit en deux régimes distincts. Pendant le régime initial, la croissance du Ge est régie par la nucléation 3D à la surface supérieure du PGe. Lors de cette étape, des ilots en surface croissent, augmentant la rugosité de surface jusqu'à une épaisseur critique qui permet la coalescence complète des ilots en une couche épitaxiale 2D. Par la suite, la croissance continue en mode couche par couche. L'analyse de la morphologie de surface des membranes pour différentes épaisseurs montre une amélioration continue, atteignant une rugosité de surface subnanométrique. De plus, nous démontrons que ce processus de formation des FSMs est applicable, quelles que soient la porosité et l'épaisseur du substrat PGe, tout en offrant un reconditionnement facile et durable du substrat pour générer de multiples FSMs à partir du même substrat. Nos découvertes ouvrent de nouvelles opportunités pour la production des dispositifs optoélectroniques légers, flexibles et de haute performance basée sur des FSMs de Ge, tout en assurant une réduction à la fois des coûts et de la consommation de matériaux critiques.

Wafer-scale Ge freestanding membranes for lightweight and flexible optoelectronics

Tadeáš Hanuš *^{1,2}, Bouraoui Ilahi ^{1,2}, Alexandre Chapotot ^{1,2}, Hubert Pelletier^{1,2}, Jinyoun Cho³, Kristof Dessein³ and Abderraouf Boucherif *^{1,2}

1: Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

2: Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

3: Umicore Electro-Optic Materials, Watertorenstraat 33, 2250, Olen, Belgium

*Corresponding authors: tadeas.hanus@usherbrooke.ca, abderraouf.boucherif@usherbrooke.ca

Keywords: Germanium, Porous substrate, Freestanding membranes, Epitaxial growth, Layer transfer, substrate reuse

5.3 Graphical abstract



5.4 Abstract

Semiconductor-based freestanding membranes (FSMs) have recently emerged as a highly promising area of advanced materials research. Their unique properties, such as lightweight and flexibility, make them attractive for a wide range of disruptive device applications. However, the production of high-quality, single-crystalline FSMs, especially from elemental materials such as germanium (Ge), remains a significant challenge. In this work, we report on the formation of easily detachable wafer-scale Ge FSM on porous Ge (PGe) substrate. The proposed method relies on low-temperature Ge epitaxy on a PGe structure, allowing for the preservation of the porous structure's integrity during the FSM formation allowing easy substrate preparation for multiple reuses. Analysis of the surface morphology as a function of the deposited Ge thickness reveals that the FSM formation occurs in two distinct regimes. During the initial epitaxial regime, the Ge growth is governed by 3D nucleation on the PGe top surface. The nanoscale islands size increase, and consequent coalescence are found to increase the surface roughness up to a critical thickness, allowing full coalescence of islands into a 2D epilayer. The analysis of the membrane's surface morphology for various thicknesses shows continuous improvement, achieving sub nanometer surface roughness. Moreover, we demonstrate that the FSM formation process is applicable regardless of the PGe porosity and thickness, while offering facile and sustainable substrate reconditioning for multiple FSMs generation from the same substrate. Our findings open new opportunities to produce lightweight and flexible, high-performance optoelectronics based on Ge FSMs, while ensuring reduction of both cost and critical material consumption.

5.5 Introduction

In recent years, high-quality freestanding membranes (FSMs) made of functional materials have become central to the rapidly expanding frontiers of nanoscience and technology[297–302]. Group IV, III-V and III-N semiconducting membranes in particular have high potential for applications such as stretchable on-skin electronic [40,303], vertically stacked LEDs[3], and flexible photodetectors[304]. Indeed, FSMs offer an extra degree of freedom for implementations that cannot be obtained by conventional techniques such as heterointegration of dissimilar materials with high lattice mismatch in crystalline structures[305]. In addition to being lightweight and flexible, FSMs allow for various materials to be stacked on top of each other, enabling easy coupling of physical properties between dissimilar materials [306,307]. Furthermore, the use of FSMs provides significant cost savings for the device production, especially for materials with orders of magnitude higher prices than that of silicon, when compared to bulky wafers. In this context, germanium (Ge) FSMs particularly attract a lot of attention for their applications in highperformance optoelectronics and high-speed telecommunication devices such as wave guides[308,309], THz transmission[310], photodetectors[311-313] and lasers[314,315] as well as for their biocompatibility[316,317]. However, the fabrication of high-quality Ge FSM is still a challenging task.

For instance, remote epitaxy has shown tremendous potential for fabrication of III-N and III-V semiconductor compounds FSMs[318–320], and for other materials such as

complex oxides [65], perovskites [321], metals [80]. Nevertheless, this technique is based on ionic interaction between the epilayer and the underling substrate trough the graphene interface, prohibiting its application to non-polar materials such as Ge. To this date, a variety of lift-off techniques allowing the production of single-crystalline Ge FSMs and the reuse of wafers have already been reported, namely epitaxial lift-off (ELO)[322,323], mechanical spalling[160], smart cut method[324], growth on nanopatterned graphene[147], Germanium-on-nothing (GoN)[182,183] or porous lift-off[214,216,290]. Despite achieving significant advancements, the widespread adoption of Ge FSMs is still hindered by various obstacles including process complexity, high cost and substrates damage and/or contamination issues. Epitaxial growth on porous Ge (PGe) substrate has specially demonstrated high potential to produce lightweight solar cells[183,216]. The device detachment is achieved through the mechanically weak interface, formed by nanoto microscale-sized pillars[183,216,290]. After FSM detachment, the substrate surface contains broken pillars with various sizes whose reconditioning for multiple reuses require either conventional chemical mechanical polishing (CMP) treatment[224] or wet chemical etching over several microns[325]. Despite the significant improvement compared to the use of conventional wafers, these techniques still leave room for further reduction of both cost and Ge consumption during the reconditioning process.

Indeed, porous Ge (PGe) substrates offer a wide range of morphologies and physical properties[203,205,211,212], that can be directly used in the Ge FSM fabrication by epitaxial growth on an unreconstructed porous structure. Compared to the homoepitaxial growth on conventional substrate, where optimum 2D layer-by-layer growth can be easily reached, several challenges occur for nanostructured substrates. In fact, nanopores mediated epitaxial material diffusion[221] and porous reconstruction induced 3D microstructuring[220] are among the encountered difficulties. These obstacles need to be overcome to ensure the epitaxial growth of FSM on PGe substrate. So far, successful epitaxy on PGe substrates is mainly based on high temperature annealing steps either before[182,183,214,216] or during the material deposition growth[290], triggering the thermal reconstruction of the porous layer. For instance, PGe with sponge-like morphology show a strong temperature dependence[223], inducing the formation of large pillars[290]

structures, while losing its intrinsic PGe properties and complicating the reconditioning process[325].

In this work, we demonstrate easily detachable wafer-scale Ge FSMs formation on PGe substrate by low temperature growth. The method, based on the preservation of the porous structure's integrity, is applicable regardless of the PGe porosity and thickness while ensuring easy substrate preparation for multiple reuses.

5.6 Results and discussions

The PGe substrates, used for epitaxial growth, are prepared by bipolar electrochemical etching (BEE) of the P-type Ge substrate, in the HF-based electrolyte. The process, which was reported in our previous work[252], enables fine-tuning of the PGe thickness and porosity, providing on-demand properties while ensuring a low surface roughness and a substrate oriented crystalline nature, making them a viable option for epitaxial growth. The produced PGe thickness and porosity demonstrate an overall variation standing below 2% across the wafer. Figure 5-1a depicts an optical image of a typical 100 mm Ge substrate, with homogenous porous layer on top, produced by BEE. To shed light on the initial stages of the Ge epitaxy on PGe nanostructures, we first consider 230 nm-thick uniform PGe layers (Figure 5-1c) over 100 mm Ge wafer with intermediate porosity around 54%, calculated from the critical angle measured by X-ray reflectivity[252] (Figure 5-1b), and having a surface RMS (root mean square) roughness below 2 nm (Figure S5-1). All the investigated samples have been grown at 300 °C in Chemical beam epitaxy reactor (CBE) equipped with solid source Ge. The growth rate has been maintained constant throughout this study at 0.5 µm/h. Additionally, since our objective is to perform epitaxial growth of Ge on PGe structure, the growth temperature needs to be sufficiently low to avoid PGe reorganization as discussed further below.



Figure 5-1: Evaluation of the PGe layer quality before and after the annealing at 300 °C during 30 min. (a) An optical image of a typical uniform PGe layer on 100 mm wafer. (b) XRR measures of PGe layer before and after annealing at 300 °C, the critical angles of both PGe layer(θ_{PGe}) and Ge substrate(θ_{Ge}) are indicated by dotted lines. (c)/(d) and (e)/(f) depict the top view and cross-sectional SEM micrographs of PGe layers before (PGe) and after annealing at 300 °C (APGe) respectively.

To evaluate the stability of the porous structure at the growth temperature, the PGe substrate has been first in-situ annealed at 300 °C for 30 min and characterized by XRR, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and atomic force microscopy (AFM). Figure 5-1b shows XRR measurement of the porous Ge layer before and after annealing, with a negligible shift of the PGe layer critical angle (θ_{PGe}), from 0.414° to 0.410° (less than 1% increase of porosity), signifying that the porosity remains unchanged. Furthermore,

Figure 5-1 c-f depict cross-sectional and top-view SEM images, showing identical in-plane and in-depth porous morphologies before and after the annealing step. The surface RMS roughness does not undergo any major changes either, with only a slight increase from 1.1 nm to 1.6 nm. (Figure S5-1). Accordingly, Ge epitaxial growth can be performed on PGe substrate while preserving the porous structure integrity. For growth temperatures of 350 °C and above, morphological transformation of the PGe has been found to occur, making it unsuitable for the present work.

To study the initial growth stages and understand the Ge nucleation on PGe substrates, several samples have been prepared with deposited Ge nominal thicknesses ranging from 5 nm to 1 µm. The morphological evolution of the epilayers was systematically evaluated as a function of the nominal thickness of Ge on the PGe structure and characterized via SEM and AFM. Typical cross-sectional and top-view SEM images taken from samples with 5, 30, 60 and 100 nm deposited Ge thicknesses are shown by Figure 5-2a-d and Figure 5-2e-h respectively (Additional data are provided in Figure S5-2). The results reveal that the nucleation occurs on the top surface of the pore walls, forming nanoscale threedimensional (3D) islands (Figure 5-2a and 5-2e). The combined low substrate temperature and small pores' size (below 10 nm) is likely to limit the adatoms diffusion into the porous structure[326] in favor of top surface nucleation. As more material is added, the 3D island's size increase, eventually coalescing to form a 2D Ge membrane (Figure 5-2b and 5-2f). Although, the densely packed nucleation enables continuous Ge membrane formation, the corresponding surface morphology remains rough as can be seen in Figure 5-2c and 5-2g). The observed behavior is also confirmed by AFM morphological investigations (Figure 5-3 and Figure S5-3). Indeed, the analysis of the RMS roughness indicates that the roughness rises first, with increasing Ge thickness up to 60 nm and then drops rapidly towards surfaces with sub nanometer roughness for membranes with thicknesses above 750 nm.



Figure 5-2: Initial growth stages of Ge on the PGe substrate (a-d) cross-sectional and (e-h) top view SEM micrograph of Ge layer at 5/30/60/100 nm of grown nominal thickness.

Additionally, during the Ge nucleation on PGe structure, the first islanding regime starting with 3D nucleation, considerably impacts the surface morphology through islands size increase and consequent seed island coalescence, leading to the observed RMS roughness increase. As shown by the Figure S5-3, the coalescence of the nanosized islands occurs for deposited Ge thicknesses higher than 10 nm giving rise to the appearance of pits. The islanding phase has been reported in case of low temperature growth of Ge on porous Si substrate[327]. However, in the latter case, the lattice mismatched strain and the differences in the thermal expansion coefficients have been shown to induce grain boundary formations that prohibits the full island coalescence into homogeneously dense epilayer. Moreover, similar behavior has already been reported at micrometer scale, where persistent separated microcrystals occur for Ge growth on Si micropillars[326], while good quality suspended Ge layers can be achieved by high temperature epitaxy/annealing on Ge micropillars[182]. Furthermore, the formation of a good quality dense epilayer has also been recently reported by GaN nucleation on porous GaN buffer on sapphire substrate[222], suggesting that the homoepitaxial growth is a key for obtention of fully coalesced layers on porous substrates at low temperature.



Figure 5-3: (a-f) $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ AFM scans of the Ge membrane for various Ge epilayers thicknesses. (g) Evolution of the surface RMS roughness during all the growth stages, where the Red dashed line indicates the complete coalescence of the layer, and the blue one corresponds to the initial surface roughness of the PGe layer. (h) Surface pits' depth and size evolution as a function of the membrane thickness. (i) Pits surface density as a function of the membrane thickness.

While the island coalescence starts in an early nucleation stage, promoting initial pit formation, some deep pits crossing the membrane are still present up to a deposited Ge thickness of 50 nm (Figure S5-2e). Also considering the measured RMS roughness peak around 60 nm of deposited Ge (Figure 5-3g), this specific thickness appears as a critical one for the membrane formation process by homoepitaxial nucleation on PGe structure. Accordingly, we define the critical thickness (*Tc*), as the minimum thickness required to

ensure the full islands' coalescence into continuously dense membrane, without deep pits crossing the entire membrane. Once Tc is reached, the fully densified membrane can be further thickened, while improving the surface morphology as shown in Figure 5-3g-i. The pits start merging (Figure 5-3-f) and their depth gets continuously reduced as more Ge material is deposited (Figure 5-3h), while the surface pit density decreases until the obtention of perfectly flat surface seen in Figure 5-3i. As the thickness rises beyond Tc, the growth becomes basically dominated by 2D layer by layer mode. Consequently, the RMS roughness decreases exponentially testifying an improved membrane's surface morphology. After the deposition of a 750 nm thick Ge layer, a significant drop in the submicron scale pits' depth and increase of their diameter occur leading to their merging and flattening towards a smooth surface. Consequently, the large pits turn into surface ripples-like morphology making them strongly anisotropic and hardly quantifiable (Figure 5-3e and 5-3h). Despite the persistence of nanoscale sized pits residues (Figure 5-3e), the surface roughness is already well below 1 nm, testifying an excellent morphology suitable for further epitaxial growth. Indeed, as shown by the Figure 5-3d, imperfection free completely smooth surface with RMS roughness of 0.3 nm is obtained for a 1 µm thick membrane. The critical thickness for fully coalesced layer may vary depending on the PGe layer's properties, as the high porosity structure obviously requires more material to ensure the transition from 3D nucleation to 2D growth mode. These results demonstrate that once the deposited thickness exceeds Tc, and the membrane is fully densified, its surface morphology improves with more deposited material. All corresponding growth stages on porous substrates are schematically illustrated in Figure 5-4.



Figure 5-4: Schematic illustration of initial growth steps starting with PGe substrate, 3D island growth, coalescence of islands into Ge membrane, and thickening of the Ge membrane by 2D layer-by-layer growth.

To assess the feasibility of the proposed FSM growth process for different PGe thicknesses and porosity, 1 µm thick Ge membrane has been grown under the same conditions on 1 µm thick PGe layer with approximately 70% porosity. This represents an extreme case of thick and high porosity PGe substrate. Interestingly, fully densified Ge FSM has been successively fabricated at 100 mm wafer-scale (Figure 5-5a), while the high porosity layer remains unreconstructed (as shown later in the inset of the Figure 5-7a). The FSMs show RMS roughness of 1.2 nm, as illustrated by the AFM scan in Figure 5-5. Indeed, the surface still shows ripple-like morphology. Referring to the AFM analysis of the FSM thickness evolution for 54% porosity, such a surface state is likely to characterize fully coalesced pits with depth variation below 5 nm. This surface condition makes the layers comparable to membranes grown on 54% PGe substrate with a thickness between 500 nm and 750 nm. This phenomenon is actually predictable as the higher porosity generates sparser nucleation sites and eventually necessitate more material to form a fully coalesced layer and annihilate all the pits on the surface. The surface morphology can be further improved by the thickening of the membrane following the expected flattening trend.



Figure 5-5: (a) Optical image of $\sim 1 \ \mu m$ thick Ge membrane grown on top of 1 μm thick PGe layer with high porosity. (b) AFM scan of Ge membrane's surface grown on high porosity substrate.

To evaluate the crystalline quality of the membranes grown either on 70% or 54% PGe substrates, a comprehensive X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis was conducted. The out-ofplane 2θ scans in Figure 5-6a reveal unique well-defined Ge (004) and (002)[288] peaks that correspond to the (001) substrate orientation indicating the monocrystalline nature of the FSM grown on both 54% and 70% PGe substrates. This is possible due to the substrateoriented crystallites of the PGe layer[252], which transfer their orientation to the membrane during epitaxial growth. Furthermore, the in-plane configuration was used to ensure a low penetration depth of the beam, probing only the Ge membrane, thus discriminating its signal from that of the substrate. Interestingly, both in-plane pole figures of Ge (220), shown by the Figure 5-6b, depict four well-defined sharp peaks, with fourfold symmetry, corresponding to the cubic crystal structure of Ge, undoubtedly confirming the singlecrystal quality of the Ge FSMs independently of the PGe's porosity used as the substrate.



Figure 5-6: (a) 2θ out-of-plane XRD scan of the Ge membrane grown on 54% and 70% PGe substrates and of the Ge bulk substrate as a reference, with logarithmic scale on y-axis. (b) Ge(220) In-plane pole figure of the Ge membranes prepared on PGe substrates with 54% and 70% porosity.

The presence of unreconstructed PGe structure underneath the Ge FSM constitutes a well-adapted separation layer with nanostructured interface allowing for membrane liftoff. Indeed, the cross-sectional SEM image (Figure 5-7a) shows the easy fracture of the 70% porous interface between the Ge membrane and the bulk substrate. For demonstration purpose, we show a successful full 100 mm wafer Ge FSM release by simple adhesive polymer tape and transfer to a transparent, flexible plastic holder (Figure 5-7b).

Furthermore, the unreconstructed PGe separation layer also offers a unique opportunity for substrate reuse, as the bulk substrate material remains largely intact, with only PGe's residuals on the top surface as shown by the Figure 5-7c. Compared to the submicron[216,325] to micron scale[182,183] pillars formed by high-temperature annealing methods, in our case, the PGe crystallites are only a few nm in size[210] and have a high specific surface/volume of the Ge material ratio (in respect to Ge bulk material or large pillars). This allows to completely oxidize the majority of the PGe structure in H₂O₂ solution, and then dissolve it in HF with minimal bulk Ge material etching, compared to wet etching methods. This treatment results in a clean surface with RMS roughness ~0.72 nm (Figure 5-7d-e), which is suitable for additional cycles of porosification/epitaxial growth/membrane release, as previously demonstrated[325]. This further highlights the advantages of using unreconstructed porous interface. The estimated Ge consumption is approximately 1 μ m per cycle, since the bulk material stays intact during the substrate cleaning. This process has the potential to produce multiple Ge membranes from a single substrate with minimal material loss. Accordingly, a 175 μ m thick Ge wafer could be reused around 30 times before reaching the thickness of 145 μ m (Thinnest commercially available 100 mm Ge wafers) and being recycled. Giving the rarity and cost of Ge[328], this method has potential to significantly reduce the cost of Ge-based devices, while offering all the advantages of FSMs.



Figure 5-7: (a) Cross-sectional SEM micrograph of the Ge FSM on the weak porous interface illustrating the fracture of the nanostructured interface and the detachment of the membrane. The inset shows a zoom on the unreconstructed high porosity layer underneath the membrane. (b) Optical image of 100 mm Ge membrane transferred to flexible substrate using adhesive tape. (c) optical microscope image of the PGe remnants on the substrate after the detachment (d) and (e) Optical microscope image and AFM scan, respectively, of the Ge substrate after the cleaning

5.7 Conclusion

In summary, we demonstrate the growth of monocrystalline Ge membranes at 300 °C on PGe substrates, while leaving the porous structure of the substrate unchanged during the growth. The initial nucleation stages on porous structure have been experimentally investigated showing two growth regimes. Initially the growth is dominated by 3D nucleation on top of the pores and their coalescence. Once the Ge membrane reaches the critical thickness of coalescence, a dense membrane is formed, and the growth becomes governed by 2D layer-by-layer growth regime. At this stage, the remaining pits at the surface are being annihilated during the thickening of the membrane and good surface quality, with an RMS roughness below 1 nm, can be reached. The XRD analysis demonstrates the monocrystalline quality of the grown Ge membranes for all samples independently of their porosity and thickness. Our results show that PGe layers can be used to fabricate detachable wafer-scale Ge FSMs. Moreover, the nanometric crystallite size and high specific surface of the PGe remnants on the substrate surface, allow an easy cleaning process by oxidation and reuse of the substrate for production of multiple Ge FSMs. Furthermore, our finding also paves the way to the fabrication of wafer-scale FSMs from low temperature grown small bandgap materials for mid-IR optoelectronics such as Ge(Si)Sn.

5.8 Methods

5.8.1 Sample preparation

PGe layers were prepared by optimized BEE process[252] of Ga-doped, 100 mm (100) Ge wafers with 6° off-axis miscut towards (111) orientation and 8–30 m Ω ·cm in resistivity, provided by Umicore. The BEE was performed in a custom-made 100 mm porosification cell[252], using SP-50 BioLogic generator. Prior to this process, Ge wafers were treated with HF (49%) solution for 5 min to dissolve any native oxides present on the surface, rinsed with EtOH(99%) and dried under N₂ flow. Samples were then introduced into the porosification cell with HF(49%):EtOH(99%) (4:1, V:V) electrolyte and etching and passivation pulses with 1 s duration and 1 s rest time at the end of each cycle were applied. The medium porosity (~54%) layers were formed using 1 mA·cm⁻² symmetric etching/passivation current density. To produce high porosity layers (~70%), the etching current density was increased to 2 mA \cdot cm⁻². At the end of BEE process substrates with PGe structure were rinsed with EtOH (99%), dried under N₂ flow, and introduced into the loading chamber of the CBE reactor.

Ge growth was carried-out in VG Semicon VG90H CBE reactor, with a load lock, transfer module maintained at ~ 6.10^{-9} Torr, and thermocouple as a means of monitoring the temperature during the growth. The solid source of Ge, with a K-Cell temperature at 1250 °C, was used to growth Ge with nominal growth rate of 500 nm·h⁻¹. Samples were introduced to the growth chamber directly at 300 °C. Then various nominal thicknesses of Ge (5-1000 nm) was deposited on PGe substrates at 300 °Cat chamber pressure ~ 6.10^{-6} Torr.

After the detachment of the membrane with adhesive tape, the retrieved substrate was immersed in a concentrated $H_2O_2(30\%)$ solution for 1 min to fully oxidize the remains of the PGe structure. This is followed by deoxidation in concentrated HF (49%) prior to the reporosification.

5.8.2 Characterization

The top-view and cross-section of PGe layers and Ge/PGe structures were observed with a Zeiss LEO 1540 XB scanning electron microscope at 4.3 mm of working distance and 20 keV of acceleration voltage, to evaluate the thickness of deposited material and any morphological changes of the structure. The surface morphology of the membranes was evaluated using Veeco Dimension 3100, atomic force microscopy system, in tapping mode with SSS-NCHR silicon probe and scan resolution 512×512 pixels. The collected AFM profile data on various wafer locations were also used to evaluate the pits' size and depth evolution on the FSM's surface for various thicknesses. The structural properties of PGe and epitaxial layers were investigated using Rigaku smartlab HRXRD system with Cu Ka X-ray source, Ge (220)×2 monochromator on the incident beam, and HYPIX-3000 hybrid pixel array 2D detector. The XRR was used to determine the critical angle of PGe layers, which is directly linked to the porosity[252]. The out-of-plane and in-plane XRD configurations were used to identify the crystalline quality of the Ge membranes.

5.9 Author Contributions

The manuscript was written through the contributions of all authors. All authors have given approval to the final version of the manuscript. **Tadeáš Hanuš:** Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation, Original draft preparation, Review and Editing, Visualization. **Bouraoui Ilahi:** Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Review and Editing. **Alexandre Chapotot:** Investigation, Review and Editing. **Hubert Pelletier:** Investigation, Validation, Review and Editing. **Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein:** Validation, Review and Editing. **Abderraouf Boucherif:** Supervision, Validation, Review and Editing.

5.10 Acknowledgement

We thank Thierno Mamoudou Diallo and Raphaël Dawant for scientific discussions, Guillaume Bertrand, Philippe-Olivier Provost and all the technical staff of 3IT for the technical support. We thank Umicore, Saint-Augustin Canada Electric (Stace), Innovation en énergie électrique (InnovÉÉ), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), Fonds de recherche du Québec (FRQNT), Mitacs, for the financial support. Abderraouf Boucherif is grateful for a Discovery grant supporting this work.

LN2 is a joint International Research Laboratory (IRL 3463) funded and co-operated in Canada by Université de Sherbrooke (UdeS) and in France by CNRS as well as ECL, INSA Lyon, and Université Grenoble Alpes (UGA). It is also supported by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec Nature et Technologie (FRQNT).

5.11 Supplementary materials



Figure S5-1: AFM scans of PGe layer (a-b) before and (c-d) after annealing at 300 °C showing no significant topological changes of the surface.



Figure S5-2: (a-i) Cross-sectional SEM micrographs showing the evolution of the layer grown on PGe substrates with increasing quantity of deposited material corresponding to 0/5/10/30/50/60/80/100/250 nm, respectively.



Figure S5-3: (a-f) AFM scans illustrating the evolution of the surface topology during the nucleation on pore walls, 3D seed growth and coalescence into the homogenous layer.



Figure S 5-4: (a-i) AFM scans depicting the evolution of the surface topology during the coalescence and effective thickening of the Ge membrane. The pits on the surface, caused by 3D nucleation, are being annihilated additional thickening of the layer.
Chapter VI

6. Substrate reuse and sustainable production of Ge FSMs

This chapter focuses on substrate cleaning after the Ge FSM detachment and its efficient reuse. The chapter is in form of scientific article published in the journal *Sustainability*. It describes the cleaning process of the PGe structure remaining on the substrate after the Ge FSM detachment and uniform reporosification of the reused substrate. Additionally, it introduces optimized PGe structure for Ge material consumption reduction.

6.1 Foreword

Authors and affiliations:

Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Abderraouf Boucherif:

Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein:

Umicore Electro-Optic Materials, Watertorenstraat 33, 2250, Olen, Belgium

Status: Accepted - Final version published

Acceptation date: 06/02/2024

Journal: Sustainability

Reference: [329]

French title: Production durable des membranes de Ge ultraminces et autoportantes

Contribution to the manuscript:

This article contributes to the thesis by further optimization of the process introduced in Chapter V. It deepens the understanding of the substrate cleaning process and demonstrate the high-quality and uniform PGe structure on recovered substrate. The optimized PGe layer then further improves the surface quality of the membrane and reduces the Ge consumption per fabrication cycle.

6.2 French abstract

Le germanium (Ge) est un matériau crucial pour des applications dans la photonique intégrée, l'imagerie infrarouge, la détection, les photovoltaïques et les photodétecteurs. Cependant, son prix et sa disponibilité limitée freinent son potentiel d'applications. L'utilisation de membranes autoportantes en Ge (FSMs) permet une réduction significative de la consommation de Ge pour la fabrication de dispositifs, tout en offrant des avantages supplémentaires tels qu'une forme légère et flexible pour de nouvelles applications. Dans ce travail, nous présentons un processus de production de FSMs en Ge impliquant la formation successive d'une structure poreuse, le dépôt de la membrane de Ge, le détachement, le nettoyage du substrat original et sa réutilisation. Cela permet la fabrication de multiples FSMs de haute qualité à partir du même substrat. Nous démontrons une réutilisation efficace du substrat grâce à une technique de nettoyage chimique simple du substrat. Des couches poreuses uniformes et de haute qualité sur le substrat nettoyé ont été démontrées. En évitant l'utilisation de polissage mécanico-chimique ou d'une gravure chimique humide substantielle, le processus réduit le cout et l'impact environnemental de la production des FSMs. Ce processus utilise des techniques de dépôt à basse température et à grande échelle, ouvrant la voie à une production durable des FSMs du groupe IV pour la prochaine génération d'optoélectronique flexible.

Sustainable production of ultrathin Ge

freestanding membranes

Tadeáš Hanuš *^{1,2}, Bouraoui Ilahi *^{1,2}, Jinyoun Cho³, Kristof Dessein³ and Abderraouf Boucherif *^{1,2}

1: Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5, QC, Canada

2: Laboratoire Nanotechnologies Nanosystèmes (LN2) - CNRS IRL-3463 Institut Interdisciplinaire d'Innovation Technologique (3IT), Université de Sherbrooke, 3000 Boulevard de l'Université, Sherbrooke, J1K 0A5 Québec, Canada

3: Umicore Electro-Optic Materials, Watertorenstraat 33, 2250, Olen, Belgium

*Corresponding authors: tadeas.hanus@usherbrooke.ca, bouraoui.ilahi@usherbrooke.ca, abderraouf.boucherif@usherbrooke.ca

Keywords: Germanium, Porous lift-off, Freestanding membranes, Layer transfer, substrate reuse

6.3 Abstract

Germanium (Ge) is a critical material for applications in space solar cells, integrated photonics, infrared imaging, sensing, and photodetectors. However, the corresponding cost and limited availability hinder its potential for widespread applications. However, using Ge freestanding membranes (FSMs) allows for a significant reduction in the material consumption during device fabrication while offering additional advantages such as a lightweight and flexible form factor for novel applications. In this work, we present the Ge FSM production process involving sequential porous Ge (PGe) structure formation, Ge membrane epitaxial growth, detachment, substrate cleaning, and subsequent reuse. This process enables the fabrication of multiple high-quality monocrystalline Ge FSMs from the same substrate through efficient substrate reuse at a 100 mm wafer-scale by a simple and low-cost chemical cleaning process. A uniform high-quality PGe layer is produced on the entire recovered substrate. By circumventing the use of conventional high-cost chemical mechanical polishing or even substantial chemical wet etching, and by using an optimized PGe structure with reduced thickness, the developed process allows for both cost and an environmental impact reduction in Ge FSMs production, lowering the amount of Ge used per membrane fabrication. Moreover, this process employs large-scale compatible techniques paving the way for the sustainable production of group IV FSMs for nextgeneration flexible optoelectronics.

6.4 Introduction

Germanium (Ge) is at the forefront of many applications in optoelectronics and photonics including lasers[314,315], wave guides[308,309], photodetectors[311–313], THz transmission[310], thermophotovoltaic[330–332] and high-efficiency solar cells[333]. Moreover, thanks to the closely matching thermal and crystallographic properties of Ge and gallium arsenide (GaAs), Ge substrates provide a compelling alternative for epitaxial growth of III-V compounds, while offering wafer diameters up to 300 mm. For these reasons, Ge is considered a critical raw material[334,335]. However, its widespread adoption, outside high added-value markets without alternatives, is hindered by its continuously rising high cost due to the increasing demand for this rare material. Ge, representing a scant 0.00015% of Earth's crustal composition, is typically not encountered

in its free state. This element is predominantly sourced as a secondary product, being derived approximately 75% from zinc ore residues and 25% from the ashes of coal combustion[334,335]. It is estimated that around 30% of the world's total Ge production comes from recycling. However, it comes predominantly from new scraps generated during the manufacturing process of fiber-optic cables, infrared optics, and substrates, which are reclaimed and fed back to the production process[336,337]. Although the recycling of old scraps has increased during the past decade, it comes mainly from end-of-life fiber-optic cables and infrared optics, as the Ge recovery from electronic devices is a very complicated process that has not been demonstrated at an industrial scale[338,339].

Indeed, while conventional Ge substrates have a thickness of 140 µm, 225 µm, and 450 µm for diameters of 100 mm, 150 mm, and 200 mm[340], respectively, the efficiently required thickness for device operation generally does not exceed 10 µm. Thus, over 90% of the Ge material serves only as mechanical support without any added value to device functionality or performance. This unnecessarily increases the price of optoelectronic devices and increases the amount of hard-to-recover Ge in end-of-life products. A promising solution to this issue consists in using thin freestanding membranes (FSMs) instead of conventional thick substrates[296], to reduce the quantity of used material. Additionally, FSMs offer additional advantages such as being lightweight, flexible, and providing an extra degree of freedom for integration compared to conventional heterointegration techniques[3]. For instance, solar cells for space and vehicle applications are a perfect example of a sector that would benefit from the lightweight FSM, as the power-to-mass ratio is an important factor in this domain[341]. Similarly, the thin nature of the Ge FSMs bring added benefits for thermophotovoltaic applications as the presence of the thick substrate underneath the active layer results in an unwanted loss in efficiency due to the parasitic radiative coupling[1,2]. Additionally, the freestanding nature of the membranes allows for their direct integration on the structures incompatible with high-quality monocrystalline growth as well as for stacking of materials with large lattice mismatch, which is impossible with conventional heteroepitaxy[3]. The Ge FSMs have already proven their potential for thin high-efficiency solar cells[216,342-344], thermophotovoltaics[345], photodetectors[346,347], and biosensing applications [316,317]. The main domains and applications of Ge FSMs are illustrated in Figure 6-1.

Various techniques have been demonstrated for Ge FSMs fabrication, including substrate thinning[61], epitaxial lift-off[322,323], Smart cut technology[324], mechanical spalling[160], 2D-assisted epitaxy[147,148], and Germanium-on-Nothing[182,348]. Among them, the porosification lift-off technique has recently received significant attention and development thanks to its potentially high-throughput and cost-effective process[216,296]. This approach involves the formation of a uniform and tunable porous Ge (PGe) layer [252] using electrochemical etching [209,211,213,349], followed by the deposition of a Ge membrane on top of it. The membrane can then be detached from the parent substrate through the weak nanostructured interface, forming a thin Ge FSM. Moreover, this technique enables the reconditioning of the parent substrate by chemical etching and its reuse for the production of multiple Ge FSMs[226], further reducing the fabrication cost by avoiding the need for costly chemical mechanical polishing[224,350]. Overall porosification lift-off has shown its potential for large-scale production of Ge FSMs, with the significantly reduced consumption of Ge material than standard wafering techniques. Even with all the recent advancements this technique holds the potential to be improved and further reduce the quantity of Ge during the production of Ge FSMs.

Here, we present an optimized wafers-scale process enabling the Ge FSM fabrication using a porosification lift-off technique, involving the PGe structures with a reduced thickness and porosity, allowing for both reduced Ge consumption and improved Ge FSM surface quality. We demonstrate a successful cleaning of the entire 100 mm substrate after the detachment of the Ge FSM, using slow chemical etching of the PGe residues. The reporosification of the recovered substrate is achieved, resulting in a new high-quality uniform PGe suitable for the further production of Ge FSMs from the same substrate. These results highlight the potential of using Ge FSMs to reduce rare material consumption during optoelectronic device production, offering a sustainable pathway for the next-generation high-performance devices.



Figure 6-1: Illustration of Ge FSM applications. The central image depicts freestanding Ge membranes on a flexible holder obtained in this work.

6.5 Results and discussions

The fabrication process of Ge FSMs through the porosification lift-off technique consists of four main steps, as illustrated in Figure 6-2. First, a high-porosity (60-80%) porous germanium (PGe) layer is formed at the Ge substrate surface by electrochemical etching in HF:EtOH electrolytic solution. This is followed by a low-temperature deposition of the Ge membrane on top of the PGe layer. The membrane is then mechanically detached from the substrate, which is facilitated by the fragile nanostructured PGe interface between the Ge bulk substrate and the Ge FSM. After detachment, the PGe remnants at the surface of the recovered parent Ge substrate are oxidized using an H₂O₂ solution followed by their complete dissolution in HF and reuse of the parent Ge substrate for reporosification and repeating the process of Ge FSM fabrication. All steps were previously detailed in the Materials and Methods section, and the obtained results are discussed further below.



Figure 6-2: Schematic illustration of the Ge freestanding membrane fabrication and substrate reuse.

The Ge FSM fabrication cycle begins with the formation of a high-quality PGe layer on top of the Ge substrate. This is a crucial part of the process, as any major defects or inhomogeneities in the PGe structure can be further transferred to the Ge membrane, impacting its quality. Figure 6-3a shows a SEM cross-sectional micrograph of the PGe layer used in this work. The typical sponge-like porous structure shows a well-defined interface between the PGe layer and bulk material, with ~264 nm thickness and 63% porosity. Furthermore, the ellipsometry mapping of the 100 mm wafer, shown in Figure 6-3b and 6-3c, demonstrates the overall uniformity of the porous nanostructure in both the thickness and porosity with respective variations of ± 4 nm and $\pm 1\%$ across the entire surface of the wafer. Moreover, the porous structure manifests a low surface roughness below 2 nm, as illustrated by Figure 6-3c. The closely packed crystallites of the high-porosity PGe layers (60-80%) make an excellent template for the growth of Ge membrane structures while enabling an easy detachment without additional annealing steps or deposition of the stressor layers to initiate the separation.



Figure 6-3: (a) Cross-sectional SEM micrograph of the PGe structure (b) Ellipsometry mapping of the 100 mm wafer showing the uniformity of the PGe layer in thickness (blue) and porosity (green) (c) $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ AFM scan of the PGe surface.

A 1 μ m thick Ge membrane is then grown, at 300 °C, on top of the PGe structure, resulting in a smooth surface with RMS roughness around 0.7 nm, as demonstrated by Figure 6-4a. A few shallow pits and undulations are still identifiable on the surface but can be annihilated by increasing the membrane's thickness. Depending on the targeted application the thickness of the membrane can be varied from ~100 nm to few μ m. However, for membranes thinner than 1 μ m the surface roughness can increase up to 5 nm for the thinnest membranes[296]. This way, the amount of Ge material used for device integration can be directly controlled to use only the quantity of Ge necessary for its function and hence limit the waste of material.

The crystalline quality of the membrane is verified using X-ray diffraction in the inplane configuration, to limit the beam penetration. The resulting in-plane pole figure around the Ge (220) axis displays four sharp peaks with 90° rotational symmetry around their central axis as depicted by Figure 6-4b. This pattern corresponds to the diamond cubic crystal structure of Ge, confirming the high crystalline quality of the Ge membrane. Interestingly, the central axis of the sample demonstrates a 6° shift from the measurement axis, as illustrated by the red arrow in Figure 6-4b. This shift is attributed to the parent substrate's 6° miscut from (100) orientation towards the (111) axis. Since the porous structure maintains the original substrate orientation, it can transfer even this characteristic to the Ge membrane, resulting in a monocrystalline epilayer with the same 6° off-cut as the parent substrate. The pole figure of the Ge membrane deposited on the on-axis substrate can be found in Figure S6-1.



Figure 6-4: (a) $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ AFM scan of the Ge membrane grown on PGe with surface roughness <1 nm (b) In-plane pole figure of the Ge FSM around Ge (220) axis, the red circle and arrow represent the 6° off-cut orientation of the membrane compared to normal axis.

Once the Ge membrane is formed, the high-porosity nanostructure underneath represents a perfect fragile interface allowing for easy detachment and transfer to the host substrate. Using an adhesive polymer tape, the Ge FSM can be separated from the parent substrate and transferred to a flexible PVC holder. After the detachment, irregular remnants of the porous structure are still present on the surface of both the substrate and membrane as illustrated by Figure 6-5a-c. To eliminate these porous residues, a simple chemical cleaning process is employed. The chemical etching of Ge in aqueous solutions functions on the principles of the formation and dissolution of the GeO₂, where H_2O_2 acts as an oxidizing agent which transforms the Ge surface in GeO₂[110,351]. At the same time, the reduction in the H_2O_2 at the surface of Ge provides the holes necessary for the dissolution of the oxide[61,352]. When the substrate is immersed in concentrated H_2O_2 , the solution

transforms the remaining PGe structure's high specific surface area in GeO₂ and starts slowly etching it away[111]. This chemical etching of Ge can be described by Equation (6-1) and (6-2), where Equation (6-1) represents the formation of the GeO₂ on the Ge surface, and Equation (6-2) represents its dissolution into H₂GeO₂ a tetravalent form stable in aqueous solution with pH <8.5[110].

$\text{Ge} + 2 \text{ H}_2\text{O}_2 \rightarrow \text{GeO}_2 + 2 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$	(Equation 6-1)
$GeO_2 + H_2O \rightarrow H_2GeO_3$	(Equation 6-2)

Compared to techniques involving high-temperature annealing and PGe reconstruction in crystallites with size superior to 100 nm[226,353], the high porosity nanostructure with significantly higher specific surface area and only 5-10 nm thick pore walls, allows for isotropic etching by H_2O_2 at a very slow rate (few nm/min). This avoids the substantial chemical etching of the substrate (few µm) necessary for the planarization of larger features while maintaining control over the etching process due to the slow etching rate. The remaining oxides on the substrate's surface are then dissolved in an HF solution during the deoxidation step prior to the reporosification. This results in a remnant-free surface as shown in Figure 6-5d-f.



Figure 6-5: (a-c) Typical photo, optical microscope image, and SEM micrograph of the substrate with PGe remnants after the detachment, respectively (d-f) Typical photo, optical microscope image, and SEM micrograph of the substrate after cleaning

The entire chemical cleaning process is schematically illustrated in Figure 6-6a. The AFM scan of the recovered substrate in Figure 6-6b shows a flat surface with surface roughness below 1 nm. The apparent waving of the cleaned surface represents a slight variation in the initial Ge bulk/PGe interface formed during the BEE process, as the bottoms of the pores are not all perfectly aligned. This effect is then partially mitigated directly by the first anodic step of the BEE process during the formation of the new PGe layer[226,252].

The PGe remnants on the Ge FSM backside have the same nature as they are formed by the separation of the uniform PGe layer. This means that the same approach can also be used for membrane cleaning. However, its necessity should be evaluated depending on the Ge FSM use. In the case of applications where the Ge membrane does not play an active role in the final function and serves mainly as the crystalline substrate for the growth of epitaxial structures, membrane cleaning should not be necessary.



Figure 6-6: (a) Schematic illustration of the slow chemical etching cleaning process of the PGe remnants on the substrate's surface (b) $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ AFM scan of the recovered Ge substrate after chemical cleaning with RMS roughness of 0.8 nm

To complete the cycle, the recovered parent substrate then undergoes a second porosification process to obtain a new PGe layer, presented in Figure 6-7a. For comparison, an optical image of the PGe layer on an epi-ready substrate can be found in Supplementary Materials Figure S6-2. The BEE conditions are identical to the ones previously used on the epi-ready substrate. It presents the same thickness and porosity with high uniformity across the entire 100 mm wafer as demonstrated by ellipsometry mapping present in Figure 6-7bc. The new PGe layer presents a thickness of 265 ± 5 nm and a porosity of $63 \pm 1\%$, both of these values are the same as on the original epi-ready substrate, demonstrating that the small surface undulations on the recovered substrate do not influence the BEE process. This new high-quality PGe structure then allows for new deposition of the Ge membrane and fabrication of multiple Ge FSMs from the same substrate, by repeating the process. This demonstrates that the Ge FSMs can be fabricated with the consumption of less than 300 nm of the original Ge substrate while allowing for easy substrate reuse without the involvement of expensive reconditioning techniques such as chemical mechanical polishing[224]. In the context of our previous study, the use of an optimized PGe layer enables improvements in both Ge FSM surface quality and material consumption of the substrate per cycle. The lower porosity allows for more closely packed nucleation sites,

resulting in a reduction in the membrane's surface roughness to 0.7 nm from 1.2 nm on 70% porosity PGe substrate[296]. Additionally, the reduced PGe thickness, further lowers the substrate consumption by over 70%, while maintaining the ease of detachability of the Ge FMS.



Figure 6-7: (a) Optical image of the PGe layer on recovered substrate. (b-c) Ellipsometry mapping of the 100 mm wafer showing the uniformity, in thickness and porosity of the PGe layer on recovered substrate, respectively.

In numbers, around 300 nm of the original substrate is consumed per produced membrane. This value includes the thickness of the PGe layer (~270 nm) and the front/back etching of the substrate during the cleaning process (~30 nm). By considering a conventional 100 mm, Ge wafer with a thickness of 175 μ m and its thinnest commercially available counterpart with a thickness of 140 μ m, around 35 μ m of the substrate can be used for Ge FSM production before losing its structural integrity. This results in over 100 membranes produced from a single 100 mm wafer. The number of reuses can be further increased by the use of thicker substrates, which bring additional benefits such as a reduction in material lost during the sawing process of Ge wafers from a solid ingot grown by the Czochralski method[354–356]. Alternatively, the Ge substrate can be bonded on a holder (e.g., Si substrate) for mechanical support, allowing for the use of almost the entire substrate's thickness and enabling over 500 reuses. This number is expected to further grow with scaling on larger substrates, as larger diameter wafers are considerably thicker.

In comparison, techniques involving high-temperature annealing present large pillars with diameter superior to 100 nm, and cannot be reconditioned without the etching of substantial material quantity (few μ m)[353] or the involvement of costly chemical

mechanical polishing (CMP)[182]. Considering single-sided chemical etching of 5 μ m per reuse, this approach presents a more limited number of Ge FSMs fabricated from a single wafer. However, this approach holds its advantage for applications involving high processing temperatures (>400 °C) as the high specific area PGe structure cannot be maintained under these conditions.

2D-assisted epitaxy, in theory, could eventually offer infinite reuse of the substrate. However, it is still in relatively early research stages, especially in case of group IV materials such as Ge which was demonstrated for the first time in late 2022[147], using a new approach on local nucleation and lateral overgrowth on the 2D interface[139,148]. Moreover, other challenges such as large surface growth and the transfer of high-quality interfaces need to be resolved for its viable application[357].

Considering, the rarity of the Ge, the complexity of its recovery from end-of-life optoelectronic devices, and the recent geopolitical situation around this material, the Ge FSMs represent a sustainable alternative to conventional Ge substrates. It offers to significantly reduce the quantity of Ge material integrated into optoelectronic devices while allowing for cost reduction thanks to the limited Ge use and substrate recycling.

6.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, we demonstrated a successful substrate reuse and production of a highly uniform PGe layer on recovered Ge substrate, setting the milestone for the production of multiple Ge FSM from the same substrate. The reduced thickness of the PGe structure allows for a reduction in Ge consumption per cycle compared to previous studies, while still maintaining the capacity to easily detach and transfer the membrane. Additionally, the optimized porosity helps to improve the surface quality of the Ge FSM membrane. The substrate cleaning is achieved through slow chemical etching of the PGe remaining on the surface, enabling its complete dissolution and obtention of the surface with roughness below 1 nm, without the necessity of substantial etching of the entire 100 mm wafer, resulting in a new high-quality PGe layer with physical properties identical to the one formed on the epi-ready surface. This allows for efficient substrate reuse, and the production of multiple Ge membranes, with minimal consumption of the Ge material, due to the optimized PGe structure employed in this work. The Ge FSM production and substrate recovery open the way for a sustainable alternative to conventional Ge substrates while providing all the advantages of freestanding form for direct heterointegration and flexible electronics. It offers to significantly lower the quantity of Ge material integrated into optoelectronic devices, reducing the quantity of hard-to-recover material in end-of-life products. Furthermore, this approach presents a high potential for the fabrication of FSMs from other group IV materials such as Ge(Si)Sn alloys, presenting a small band gap ideal for near/mid-IR optoelectronic and photonic applications offering a nontoxic and low-cost alternative to III-V materials.

6.7 Methods

6.7.1 Sample preparation

PGe layers were formed using an optimized bipolar electrochemical etching (BEE) process[252] on top of Ge substrates. The p-type gallium (Ga) doped, 100 mm Ge wafers oriented along the (100) axis, with 6° off-axis miscut towards (111) orientation and resistivity of 8–30 m Ω cm were used in this study. Before the PGe formation, the Ge substrate was deoxidized in a concentrated hydrofluoric acid (HF, wt%) solution for 5 min, followed by rinsing in anhydrous ethanol (EtOH, 99 wt%) and drying under nitrogen (N₂) flow. The BEE was carried out in a custom-built 100 mm porosification cell, consisting of a polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) body, copper (Cu) backside electrode, and platinum (Pt) wire working electrode, filled with 300 ml of electrolyte solution composed of HF(49 wt%):EtOH(99 wt%) in 4:1 (V:V) proportions. The SP-50 BioLogic generator was used to apply cyclic square 1 s pluses of etching and passivation with 1.5 and 1.0 mA \cdot cm⁻² current density, respectively. Each cycle was separated by 1 s rest time and 420 cycles were applied in total to produce the PGe layer. At the end of the process, PGe substrates were rinsed with EtOH (99 wt%), dried under N₂ flow, and subsequently placed into the loading chamber of the growth reactor under a vacuum. Further details on PGe formation can be found in our previous work[252].

The ~1 μ m thick Ge membrane was grown in a VG Semicon VG90H CBE reactor at 300 °C, using a solid source of Ge heated at 1250 °C with a nominal deposition rate of 500 nm·h⁻¹ as described previously[296].

After epitaxial growth, the Ge FSM is detached using an adhesive tape and transferred onto a flexible Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) substrate. The recovered Ge substrate has been reconditioned by immersion in a concentrated hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2 , 30 wt%) solution for 1 min, at room temperature, to transform the remaining PGe crystallites at the surface in germanium dioxide (GeO₂) and etch them slowly away. The substrate has been subsequently deoxidized in concentrated HF (49 wt%) to dissolve the remaining Ge oxides on the surface and recover a flat surface. The reconditioned substrate is then reporosified, using the same BEE conditions as on the epi-ready substrate. The complete list of specifications of all the chemicals used in this study can be found in Table S6-1 of Supplementary Materials.

6.7.2 Characterization

The PGe thickness, porosity, and their uniformity over the 100 mm wafer were characterized using a J. A. Woollam Co. VASE instrument in the spectral range between 500 nm and 900 nm. The measuring points were radially paced every 30° with an in between point spacing of 5 mm along the radius of the wafer. The PGe thickness was also verified using SEM imaging of the PGe layer cross-section, also revealing the morphology of the nanostructure. The presence/lack of the PGe layer remnants on the substrate after the detachment and cleaning process was observed using optical microscopy (confocal microscope Keyence VK-X1100 with 150× lens) and SEM imaging of the substrate's plan view. All the SEM observations were performed at a 4.0 mm working distance with Thermo Fisher Scios 2 SEM using 20 keV acceleration voltage for the electron beam.

The Park system NX20, atomic force microscope (AFM) was used to evaluate the surface topology of the PGe layer, Ge membrane, and of the recovered substrate after cleaning. The AFM scans were performed in tapping mode using a super sharp silicon probe (SSS-NCHR) and a scan resolution of 512×512 pixels over a $5 \times 5 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ area. The scan data were then processed using Gwyddion software (Version 2.64) to obtain the root mean square (RMS) roughness values.

The investigation of the structural properties of Ge FSM was conducted using the Rigaku Smartlab high-resolution X-ray diffraction (XRD) system in the in-plane configuration equipped with Cu Ka X-ray source (wavelength λ (Cu Ka) = 1.5406 Å),

Ge (220)×2 monochromator on the incident beam, and a two-dimensional hybrid pixel array semiconductor X-ray detector (HYPIX-3000). The in-plane pole figure XRD measurements were employed to assess the crystalline quality of the Ge membranes while restricting the depth of beam penetration.

6.8 Author Contributions

The manuscript was written through the contributions of all authors. All authors have given approval to the final version of the manuscript. **Tadeáš Hanuš**: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation, Original draft preparation, Review and Editing, Visualization. **Bouraoui Ilahi**: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Visualization, Investigation Review and Editing. **Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein**: Review and Editing. **Abderraouf Boucherif**: Supervision, Funding acquisition, Review and Editing.

6.9 Acknowledgement

Special thanks to Philippe-Olivier Provost for the development and fabrication of advanced porosification tools used in this work. We also thank Thierno Mamoudou Diallo and Hubert Pelletier for scientific discussions, Guillaume Bertrand, Julie Ménard, Donald Ducharme, Mathieu Cloutier, and all the technical staff of 3IT for the technical support in the present research work. Authors would also like to express their gratitude to CG Figures for providing free resources and tutorials for the use of Blender in scientific illustrations.

LN2 is a joint International Research Laboratory (IRL 3463) funded and co-operated in Canada by Université de Sherbrooke (UdeS) and in France by CNRS as well as ECL, INSA Lyon, and Université Grenoble Alpes (UGA). It is also supported by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec Nature et Technologie (FRQNT).

6.10 Supplementary materials

Chemical name	Acronym	CAS number	Concentration (wt%)	Density (g/mL at 25 °C)
Hydrofluoric acid	HF	7664-39-3	49	1.15
Ethanol, anhydrous	EtOH	64-17-5	99	0.79
Hydrogen peroxide	H_2O_2	7722-84-1	30	1.45



Figure S6-1: In-plane pole figure of the Ge FSM around Ge (220) axis deposited on the onaxis Ge substrate.



Figure S6-2: Optical image of uniform PGe layer on epi-ready substrate.

132

Table S6-1: List of chemicals employed in porosification and chemical cleaning of the substrates.

Chapter VII

7. Conclusions and perspectives

This chapter summarizes the advancements made in this work and proposes perspectives for further development of the introduced processes for fabrication of group IV materials FSMs.

7.1 Conclusions (Français)

Les membranes semi-conductrices autoportantes offrent de nombreux avantages, tels que la légèreté et la flexibilité, par rapport aux hétérostructures sur des substrats massifs conventionnels. De plus, leur degré de liberté supplémentaire ouvre de nombreuses possibilités pour le développement de procédés de fabrication innovants et de dispositifs novateurs grâce au transfert et/ou à l'empilement de membranes à base de divers matériaux. La fabrication de FSMs semi-conductrices offre une opportunité unique non seulement pour économiser des coûts et réduire l'utilisation de matériaux rares, mais aussi pour introduire et développer la prochaine génération de dispositifs microélectronique et optoélectronique à base de FSMs.

Cette thèse passe en revue les différentes approches possibles pour la fabrication de FSMs semi-conductrices, en résumant les avantages et les limites de chaque technique de fabrication de FSMs actuellement disponible. Cela nous montre que malgré tous les progrès réalisés, il reste encore un long chemin à parcourir pour que les FSM deviennent une solution industrielle viable et un remplacement pour les substrats conventionnels. Bien que la fabrication de FSMs de matériaux III-V et III-N ait démontré de nombreux progrès, les méthodes permettant la formation de membranes semi-conductrices du groupe IV sont très limitées. Dans cette thèse, nous nous concentrons sur le développement de nouvelles techniques d'ingénierie de substrats et de croissance épitaxiale permettant la fabrication de FSMs à base de matériaux du groupe IV en utilisant l'épitaxie assistée par les matériaux 2D et le décollement par porosification.

7.1.1 Épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D

La première partie de ce travail (Chapitre III) se concentre à surmonter les défis de l'épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D pour la croissance de matériaux non polaires qui ne peuvent pas être formés en utilisant les techniques RE ou QVdWE. Nous introduisons une nouvelle approche appelée nucléation par points d'ancrage permettant l'intégration monolithique de semi-conducteurs 3D non polaires sur des matériaux 2D et la fabrication des FSMs. Elle repose sur l'ingénierie de la couche de graphène, en introduisant des défauts tels que des liaisons pendantes et des ouvertures nanométriques de manière contrôlée et uniforme. Ces défauts agissent alors comme des sites de nucléation préférentielle, permettant une nucléation efficace et orientée par rapport au substrat. La couche complète est ensuite obtenue par surcroissance épitaxiale et coalescence au-dessus du graphène, fournissant une interface VdW faiblement liée et adaptée au détachement de la membrane. Le traitement au plasma d'oxygène a été utilisé pour créer divers défauts dans le graphène, qui ont ensuite été caractérisés par la spectroscopie Raman et XPS. La nucléation subséquente a révélé que les ouvertures nanométriques sont nécessaires pour fournir des liens directs avec le substrat et former une couche de germination adaptée à la croissance. L'approche APN a été démontrée sur la croissance de couches de Ge monocristallines de haute qualité au-dessus du substrat recouvert de graphène modifié. Les résultats TEM ont fourni des preuves claires de la qualité cristalline des couches sans aucune contrainte.

Notons que la croissance épitaxiale assistée par graphène de couches non polaires sur substrats non polaires démontré dans ce travail représente un grand avancement dans le domaine. Malgré toutes les avancées dans ce domaine, ceci n'était jusqu'à maintenant pas possible. Ce travail a démontré non seulement mis au point cette nouvelle approche, mais aussi la haute qualité des couches qui en résultent qui peuvent être utilisées pour la fabrication des dispositifs de haute performance. De plus, le traitement plasma offre une solution rapide et économique pour l'ingénierie de l'interface 2D, qui peut être intégrée directement dans la chambre de croissance, comparant aux autres méthodes complexes comme la lithographie par faisceau électron. Nous ouvrons un boulevard d'opportunités de nouveaux matériaux et d'hétérostructures hybrides pour de nouvelles générations de dispositifs à haute performance qui répondent aux exigences de la nouvelle ère technologique. Cette découverte pourrait être la clé pour l'intégration efficace du silicium avec les semi-conducteurs III-V, sujet à débat depuis quatre décennies.

Ces résultats posent les bases pour le développement de nouveaux matériaux en forme de FSM, et de structures hétérogènes hybrides et fortement désaccordées pour la prochaine génération de dispositifs à haute performance.

Avancées scientifiques :

Démonstration de couches non polaires de haute qualité sur substrat non polaire par épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D.

- Mise en œuvre de l'ingénierie de surface du graphène par traitement plasma pour créer des ouvertures nanométriques dans le réseau de graphène.
- Compréhension du processus de nucléation sur des substrats de graphène modifié, et du transfert d'orientation cristalline à travers les ouvertures nanométriques.
- Démonstration de membranes de Ge monocristallines de haute qualité sur des substrats recouverts de graphène.

7.1.2 Décollement par porosification

La deuxième partie de cette thèse (Chapitres IV-VI) se concentre sur le développement d'un processus pour la fabrication des FSMs à base de semi-conducteurs du groupe IV, utilisant le décollement par porosification. Tout d'abord, nous démontrons la fabrication de couches de PGe uniformes de bord à bord à l'échelle de la plaque de 100 mm. Cela a été rendu possible par un processus BEE optimisé, qui introduit une étape de repos supplémentaire dans le cycle de gravure/passivation et utilise une solution électrolytique avec une tension de surface réduite et une densité de courant de passivation faible. Toutes ces optimisations limitent l'accumulation du gaz H₂ dans les pores, empêchant la formation de défauts et d'inhomogénéités dans la structure PGe. De plus, la modulation des propriétés physiques du PGe, telles que l'épaisseur et la porosité, est rendue possible par la variation de la densité du courant de gravure et du temps total de traitement, respectivement. Une cellule de porosification sur mesure a été réalisée pour permettre la formation de couches PGe de bord à bord, résultant en une augmentation de la surface utile de PGe de haute qualité de plus de 25 % par plaque de 100 mm par rapport aux cellules de porosification conventionnelles. Pour évaluer les caractéristiques des couches PGe, sans la nécessité de cliver l'échantillon, des techniques de caractérisation non destructives par XRR et ellipsométrie ont été mises au point. Elles fournissent une option de caractérisation rapide et non destructive, permettant l'évaluation de l'uniformité du PGe sur toute la surface. Les couches PGe résultantes ont démontré une excellente homogénéité avec une variation inférieure à 2 % en épaisseur et en porosité. L'analyse TEM et XRD a démontré que la structure PGe maintient l'orientation cristalline originale du substrat, sans aucune flexion ou désorientation des cristallites. Ensemble avec la rugosité de surface inférieure à 3 nm, cela rend les structures PGe produites un excellent substrat pour la croissance épitaxiale.

Ces résultats ouvrent les possibilités pour la fabrication de couches de PGe avec des propriétés adéquates et convenables pour la croissance épitaxiale et ainsi que d'autres applications.

Ensuite, ces structures de PGe ont été utilisées pour étudier les étapes initiales de nucléation de la croissance épitaxiale sur les substrats poreux à basse température, révélant expérimentalement deux régimes de croissance distincts. Initialement, la croissance est dominée par la nucléation 3D au-dessus des parois des pores, suivie par la coalescence des germes. Nous avons démontré qu'une fois que la membrane de Ge atteint l'épaisseur critique de coalescence, elle devient entièrement densifiée, le mode de croissance change en régime de croissance couche par couche. À ce stade, l'épaississement supplémentaire de la membrane de Ge aide à éliminer les éventuels puits à la surface, et à obtenir une faible rugosité en dessous de 1 nm. Nous avons montré que l'épaisseur critique de coalescence dépend de la porosité du substrat, les couches à haute porosité nécessitant plus de matériel pour former une membrane entièrement coalescée au-dessus. L'analyse XRD a démontré la nature monocristalline des membranes déposées, indépendamment de la porosité du substrat. La croissance à basse température (T \leq 300 °C) permet de maintenir la structure PGe inchangée pendant le processus, permettant même la croissance sur des substrats de haute porosité. De plus, l'utilisation de substrats de haute porosité avec des cristallites nanométriques fournit une couche de séparation idéale, permettant le détachement et la formation des FSMs. Ces découvertes ouvrent la voie à la croissance à basse température et à la fabrication des FSMs à partir de matériaux à petit band gap tel que les alliages Ge(Si)Sn pour des applications en optoélectronique et photonique de proche/moyen IR.

Enfin, les résidus de PGe, hautement poreux sur la surface du substrat après le détachement permettent un processus de nettoyage facile et la réutilisation du substrat pour la production de multiples FSMs. La récupération de l'ensemble du substrat de 100 mm a été réalisée par gravure chimique lente dans H₂O₂. Les cristallites nanométriques, avec une grande surface spécifique du PGe restant sur le substrat, permettent leur dissolution complète, sans la nécessité d'une gravure substantielle du matériel du substrat, et l'obtention d'une rugosité de surface en dessous de 1 nm. Cela rend possible la réutilisation réussie du substrat résultant en une nouvelle couche PGe hautement uniforme. Cela ouvre

les possibilités pour une multiréutilisation du substrat pour la production des FSMs avec une consommation d'environ 300 nm du substrat par cycle, réduisant considérablement la consommation de matériaux rares par rapport aux substrats conventionnels.

Dans l'ensemble, ce travail démontre le process de décollement par porosification pour la production des Ge FSMs de haute qualité et la réutilisation du substrat à l'échelle de plaque, avec le potentiel de son application pour autres matériaux du groupe IV comme les alliages Ge(Si)Sn. Ce process réduit significativement la consommation de matériaux couteux et rates comparant aux substrats conventionnels, ouvrant la voie à la fabrication économique d'optoélectronique légère et flexible.

Avancées scientifiques :

- Fabrication de couches PGe uniformes et de haute qualité par BEE.
- Développement de nouveaux outils de porosification pour des couches PGe (bord à bord) sur des wafers entiers.
- Modulation de l'épaisseur et de la porosité du PGe par variation du temps et de la densité de courant de gravure.
- Caractérisation non destructive et rapide des couches PGe pour l'évaluation de l'uniformité.
- Établissement des mécanismes de nucléation et de croissance sur PGe.
- Démonstration de la croissance de membranes monocristallines de Ge de haute qualité sur des substrats PGe à basse température.
- Détachement de FSM de Ge à l'échelle du wafer de 100 mm.
- Mise en œuvre d'un processus de reconditionnement chimique permettant la réutilisation du substrat.
- Reporosification du substrat reconditionné.

7.2 Perspectives

Les FSMs des matériaux IV présentent une technologie puissante qui peut révolutionner notre approche de l'hétérointégration et de la fabrication de la prochaine génération d'électronique et d'optoélectronique. Bien que ce travail ait apporté des avancées importantes pour l'épitaxie assistée par des matériaux 2D, l'ingénierie des substrats et la fabrication de FSMs en Ge, il reste encore beaucoup d'opportunités et de potentiel pour des améliorations et développements futurs. La partie suivante décrit une liste non exhaustive de perspectives pour les processus développés dans ce travail.

7.2.1 Épitaxie assistée par 2D

Le chapitre III de ce travail introduit la nucléation par points d'ancrage, une approche novatrice pour la croissance de membranes de semi-conducteurs non polaires par épitaxie assistée par 2D. Cela est réalisé par la formation de nanotrous dans le graphène par traitement plasma, créant des sites de nucléation préférentiels et des liens directs avec le substrat, permettant une surcroissance latérale sur la couche intermédiaire 2D restante, conduisant à une interface VdW faible. Cela permet la croissance de couches de haute qualité sans nécessité d'interactions ioniques à travers l'interface 2D. Pour améliorer et faire avancer cette technologie, les études suivantes peuvent être envisagées (dans un ordre quelconque) :

Qualité de l'interface 2D

La qualité de l'interface 2D joue un rôle crucial dans la croissance par épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D[357]. Le principal défi du graphène transféré par voie humide (utilisé dans ce travail) est la présence de résidus de PMMA à la surface, créant des sites de nucléation indésirables pouvant entrainer des défauts dans la structure. Pour résoudre ce problème, une technique de transfert à sec peut être utilisée[142]. Alternativement, du graphène monocristallin de haute qualité peut être cru sur un substrat de Ge pour être utilisé dans l'épitaxie assistée par matériaux 2D.

Ingénierie des interfaces 2D amorphes

Pour permettre une interface 2D sans transfert sur une grande variété de substrats, des études récentes suggèrent qu'une monocouche de carbone amorphe peut être

utilisée comme interface 2D à la place du graphène[147]. Combinée à l'approche APN, cette option présente un fort potentiel pour une épitaxie assistée par 2D universelle.

Influence de la source de plasma

L'influence du traitement plasma sur la formation de défauts dans l'interface 2D doit être étudiée, car le contrôle précis de la formation des nanotrous est nécessaire pour l'approche APN. Des sources de plasma chimiquement inertes telles que l'argon ou l'hydrogène doivent être prises en considération, ainsi que le plasma d'azote qui peut également provoquer le dopage du graphène par insertion d'atomes de N dans le réseau.

Adaptation des sites de nucléation

L'influence de la densité et de la taille des nanotrous sur la force d'adhésion de la couche épitaxiée présente une voie importante pour le détachement contrôlé des FSMs et la modulation de l'adhésion pour divers procédés de fabrication de dispositifs.

Démonstration de l'APN pour d'autres matériaux

Des études futures devraient se concentrer sur la démonstration et l'application de l'approche APN à d'autres types de matériaux, notamment les matériaux III-V, III-N et divers alliages du groupe IV. Cela prouvera la nature universelle de l'approche pour la fabrication de FSMs de semi-conducteurs.

Hétérointégration sur Si par APN

L'hétérointégration de matériaux dissimilaires le Si est l'une des tâches les plus difficiles en épitaxie. L'approche APN a un fort potentiel pour accomplir cette tâche, car la nucléation locale permet d'orienter la couche épitaxiée le long du substrat Si non polaire, tandis que la surcroissance sur l'interface 2D permet la relaxation de la couche, évitant la formation de défauts dans le processus.

7.2.2 Porosification des substrats

Les résultats présentés dans ce travail, exposé dans le chapitre IV, ont démontré des avancées significatives dans la production de couches PGe uniformes de bord à bord sur des wafers de 100 mm, avec une épaisseur et une porosité réglable en utilisant des outils

de porosification innovants[287]. De plus, les techniques XRR et ellipsométrie ont été démontré pour la caractérisation non destructive des structures PGe, fournissant un retour rapide sur la qualité du PGe pour la production. Les développements futurs devraient se concentrer sur l'amélioration des techniques de caractérisation, l'augmentation de l'échelle de la fabrication de PGe, des processus BEE plus rapides, plus contrôlables et plus durables, ainsi que sur la fabrication de structures PGe complexes, stratifiées et/ou profondément gravées. Les objectifs de recherche suivants peuvent être envisagés :

Amélioration des mesures d'ellipsométrie

En utilisant le spectre IR moyen en plus du spectre visible et proche IR, les mesures d'ellipsométrie peuvent être considérablement améliorées, car le Ge est complètement transparent dans ce domaine. Cela peut être utilisé pour la caractérisation des structures PGe épaisses ou des multicouches de PGe. Des améliorations supplémentaires dans l'ajustement des mesures d'ellipsométrie peuvent ensuite conduire à une estimation de la rugosité de surface ou à l'identification de la présence d'oxyde due au vieillissement des couches PGe.

Formation des couches PGe uniformes à l'échelle de wafers de 200 et 300 mm Comparés à d'autres substrats de matériaux rares, les wafers de Ge peuvent être produits même à une taille de 300 mm[340], représentant une surface presque 10 fois plus grande que les wafers de 100 mm utilisés dans ce travail. Cela constitue une réalisation importante à atteindre, offrant des rendements beaucoup plus élevés par wafer. Cependant, une augmentation de surface aussi importante peut révéler des variations ou des limitations du processus de porosification précédemment invisibles. Elle peut également induire la formation de défauts en raison d'un courant plus élevé impliqué dans le processus. Pour ces raisons, il est important d'étudier l'influence de la surface sur le processus BEE, en particulier pour les tailles de wafer au-delà de 100 mm.

Développement d'outils de porosification

Les outils de porosification utilisés dans ce travail permettent une porosification uniforme de bord à bord. Cependant, ils utilisent une électrode arrière en cuivre qui est sujette à l'oxydation et/ou à la corrosion de surface et nécessite un entretien régulier. De plus, le cuivre est considéré comme un élément indésirable/contaminant pour de nombreux processus de fabrication de semiconducteurs et doit donc être évité, même si le risque de contamination lors du processus BEE est minime et n'a pas été révélé lors des études actuelles. D'autres matériaux conducteurs similaires, offrant une meilleure résistance à la corrosion et à l'oxydation, devraient être étudiés et envisagés pour cet élément crucial. Alternativement, des cellules de gravure double face, impliquant un électrolyte des deux côtés du substrat de Ge. Cette approche présente un potentiel, notamment pour la formation de membranes PGe, car les deux côtés du wafer sont gravés simultanément[213]. Cependant, un mécanisme de fixation spéciale du wafer doit être développé pour permettre des couches PGe de bord à bord en utilisant cette technologie.

Suivi potentiométrique du processus BEE

Des études annexes (non incluses dans ce travail) ont montré que la réponse potentielle du système évolue au cours de la durée du BEE[209]. Les résultats montrent une variation importante de la réponse potentielle au cours du temps, particulièrement remarquable lors de l'étape de passivation. Cela suggère que le degré de passivation change au cours du processus, ce qui peut être la cause des difficultés de formation de couches PGe très épaisses (centaines de µm) à ce jour. Des études potentiométriques supplémentaires du processus, combinées à d'autres analyses in-situ, pourraient fournir une nouvelle compréhension fondamentale du processus et de sa cinétique, ainsi que révéler le lien manquant entre la BEE conventionnelle et rapide du Ge.

BEE potentiostatique

Le suivi potentiométrique du processus BEE galvanostatique conventionnel a également révélé que divers niveaux de réponse potentielle aboutissent à différentes structures de PGe[209]. Cela ouvre la possibilité de fabriquer des couches PGe avec diverses propriétés morphologiques, ainsi que la formation de structures PGe stratifiées en utilisant une approche BEE potentiostatique, qui était jusqu'à très récemment un territoire complètement inexploré pour la formation de couches PGe[209,349].

Composition de l'électrolyte

Les résultats présentés dans le chapitre IV ont montré que la composition de la solution électrolytique joue un rôle important dans la formation du PGe et son homogénéité. Bien que diverses études dans la littérature aient utilisé différentes solutions électrolytiques, leur influence sur les taux de gravure et la morphologie résultante du PGe n'a pas été étudiée et reste pour le moment inconnue.

Réutilisation de l'électrolyte

Actuellement, un électrolyte vierge est toujours utilisé pour la formation de PGe, ce qui entraine de grandes quantités de déchets d'électrolyte. De plus, il présente un mélange de solutions aqueuses hautement acides et de solvant hygroscopique nécessitant un traitement spécial pour séparer et neutraliser les deux composants. En considérant qu'une faible épaisseur du PGe (max quelques µm) est utilisée dans la plupart des applications, la solution électrolytique concentrée pourrait être réutilisée pour la production de plusieurs couches PGe. Cependant, l'influence des complexes de Ge dissouts dans la solution et de l'évaporation du solvant sur la formation du PGe doit être étudiée.

Porosification du Ge de type n

Le Ge de type n, qui a de nombreuses applications en électronique et optoélectronique, présente des opportunités uniques pour la formation de structures PGe, car il peut offrir une variété de structures morphologiques et potentiellement des taux de gravure plus élevés, mais aussi une forte photoactivation du processus BEE. Pour le moment, principalement la porosification du Ge de type p a été étudiée, donc le Ge de type n offre beaucoup à explorer.

7.2.3 Fabrication de FSMs du groupe IV

Le chapitre V introduit l'approche pour la fabrication de FSMs en Ge par croissance à basse température sur des substrats de PGe et pour le détachement ultérieur. La basse température permet de maintenir la structure PGe avec des nanocristallites non reconstruites, tout en permettant la formation d'une membrane de haute qualité. La couche PGe non reconstruite permet ensuite un détachement facile et une réutilisation du substrat.

Cela ouvre la voie à de nouveaux développements et applications de ce processus. Les objectifs de recherche suivants peuvent être envisagés :

Formation de membranes par d'autres techniques

Les membranes de Ge dans ce travail ont été formées par la croissance MBE à basse température. Ces conditions sont également adaptées à d'autres techniques de dépôt telles que la déposition chimique en phase vapeur, le dépôt par pulvérisation ou l'évaporation, qui sont plus courantes dans les applications industrielles. La formation de FSMs utilisant ces techniques doit être explorée pour mieux préparer le processus à un transfert industriel.

> Influence des propriétés du PGe sur l'adhésion du FSM

Puisque dans le processus développé dans cette thèse, la couche PGe ne subit aucune transformation, l'adhésion de la membrane dépend uniquement des propriétés physiques de la couche PGe. En explorant la force d'adhésion de la membrane en fonction de l'épaisseur et de la porosité du PGe, elle peut être adaptée à divers processus de fabrication en fonction de l'application prévue.

Fabrication des FSMs d'alliages du groupe IV

Les conditions de basse température du processus ouvrent la possibilité de son application à d'autres alliages du groupe IV, en particulier les alliages Ge(Si)Sn, qui sont prometteurs dans les applications de proches/moyennes IR.

Développement de techniques de manipulation et de transfert adaptées

Les FSMs apportent de nouveaux défis en termes de manipulation par rapport aux substrats rigides traditionnels. Cela nécessite le développement de techniques de manipulation et de transfert adaptées pour faciliter le travail avec les FSMs.

Stabilisation du PGe pour la croissance à haute température

La structure PGe est très instable à haute température et subit une reconstruction thermique, limitant les applications du processus aux matériaux compatibles avec la croissance à basse température. Cependant, sur la base de nos résultats préliminaires, le PGe peut être stabilisé par le dépôt, par exemple, d'une fine couche de carbone à l'intérieur de la nanostructure, fournissant la stabilité nécessaire à haute température et permettant la croissance et la fabrication de FSMs III-V.

Application des FSMs dans la fabrication de dispositifs

L'étape la plus évidente pour ce processus est son application dans la fabrication d'un dispositif tel qu'une cellule TPV ou un détecteur IR.

7.4.4 Nettoyage et réutilisation des substrats

Les chapitres V et VI proposent et démontrent le processus de nettoyage de la structure PGe restante sur le substrat parent par gravure chimique lente. Cela permet la dissolution du PGe sans perte significative de matériau, tout en créant une surface lisse adaptée à la réutilisation du substrat. Les objectifs suivants peuvent être envisagés pour le développement futur de cet axe de recherche :

Évaluation d'autres solutions de gravure

La gravure chimique lente des résidus de PGe dans le H_2O_2 a montré des résultats prometteurs pour le nettoyage des substrats après le détachement de la membrane. Néanmoins, d'autres solutions telles que HNO₃, ou des solutions comprenant de faibles concentrations d'agents de gravure tels que HF, HCl ou H_2PO_3 , peuvent être envisagées. Des agents supplémentaires comme l'acide acétique peuvent être ajoutés pour améliorer le mouillage du substrat avec la solution de gravure.

Influence des réutilisations multiples du substrat sur la qualité de surface Le présent travail a démontré une réutilisation réussie du substrat sans influence significative sur la qualité du PGe. Pour valider davantage ce point, la qualité de surface du substrat doit être évaluée sur plusieurs cycles pour évaluer l'éventualité d'une augmentation de la rugosité de surface, ce qui nécessiterait un reconditionnement par la gravure plus profonde ou un processus CMP.

7.3 Conclusions (English)

Semiconductor freestanding membranes offer many advantages, such as lightweight and flexibility, compared to heterostructures on conventional bulk substrates. Moreover, their extra degree of liberty opens many possibilities for the development of innovative fabrication processes and novel devices empowered by membrane transfer and/or stacking. The fabrication of semiconducting FSMs offers a unique opportunity not only for cost saving and rare material use reduction, but also for the introduction and development of membrane-based next generation of microelectronics and optoelectronics.

This thesis reviews the various possible approaches for the fabrication of semiconductor FSMs, summarizing the advantages and limits of each currently available FSMs fabrication technique. This shows us that despite all the progress made, there is still a long way to go for FSMs to become industrially viable solution and replacement for conventional substrates. Although the fabrication of III-V and III-N FSMs has demonstrated huge advancements, the methods enabling formation of group IV semiconductor membranes are very limited. In this thesis, we focus on the development of novel substrate engineering and growth techniques enabling fabrication of group IV material FSMs using 2D-assisted epitaxy and porosification lift-off.

7.3.1 2D-assisted epitaxy

The first part of this work (Chapter III) focuses on overcoming the challenges of 2Dassisted epitaxy for the growth of non-polar materials which cannot be grown using RE or QVdW techniques. We introduce a novel APN approach enabling the monolithic integration of non-polar 3D semiconductors on 2D materials and fabrication of FSMs. It relies on the surface engineering of the graphene, introducing defects such as dangling bonds and nanoholes in a controlled and uniform way. These defects then act as preferential nucleation sites, allowing for efficient, substrate-oriented nucleation. The complete layer is then obtained by epitaxial overgrowth and coalescence on top of the graphene, providing weak VdW interface suitable for the detachment of the membrane. The oxygen plasma treatment was used to create various defects in the graphene, which were then characterized by Raman spectroscopy and XPS. Subsequent nucleation revealed that nanohole defects are necessary to provide direct links with the substrate and form seeding layer suitable for
growth. The APN approach was demonstrated on the growth of defect-free singlecrystalline Ge layers on top of the engineered graphene covered substrate. The TEM results provided clear evidence of the crystalline quality of the layers without any strain.

It should be noted that graphene-assisted epitaxy of non-polar layers on non-polar substrates demonstrated in this work is a tremendous achievement in this domain. Despite all the advances in this area, this has not been possible until now. This work has demonstrated not only the proof-of-concept of this novel approach, but also the high quality of the resulting epilayers which can be used in the fabrication of high-performance devices. Moreover, the plasma treatment offers a fast and cost-effective solution for 2D interface engineering, which can be directly integrated in growth chambers, compared to other expensive techniques such as electrolithography. These results lay the groundwork for new FSM materials and hybrid and highly mismatched heterostructures for the next generation of high-performance devices.

Scientific advancements:

- Demonstration of high-quality non-polar layers on a non-polar substrate by 2Dassisted epitaxy.
- Implementation of graphene surface engineering by plasma treatment to create nanometric openings in the graphene lattice.
- Unraveling the nucleation process on engineered graphene substrates, along with the through-hole crystal orientation transfer.
- Demonstration of high-quality, monocrystalline Ge membranes over graphenecovered substrates.

7.3.2 Porosification lift-off

The second part of this thesis (Chapters IV-VI) concentrates on the development of a scalable process for fabrication of group IV semiconductor FSMs, using porosification liftoff. We have demonstrated the fabrication of edge-to-edge, uniform PGe layers at 100 mm wafer-scale. This was made possible by optimized BEE process that introduces additional rest time step into the etching/passivation cycle and uses an electrolyte solution with reduced surface tension and low passivation current density. All these optimizations limit the accumulation of the H₂ gas in the pores, efficiently avoiding the formation of defects and inhomogeneities in the PGe structure. Moreover, the modulation of the PGe's physical properties, such as thickness and porosity, is enabled by variation of the etching current density and total process time, respectively. A custom porosification cell has been made to enable the formation of edge-to-edge PGe layers, resulting in the increase of the highquality PGe surface by over 25% per 100 mm wafer compared to conventional porosification cells. To assess the characteristic of the PGe layers, without the necessity to cleave the sample, XRR and ellipsometry characterization techniques has been introduced. They provide the fast feedback, non-destructive characterization option, allowing the evaluation of the PGe uniformity over the entire surface. The resulting PGe layers demonstrated excellent homogeneity with variation inferior to 2% in both the thickness and porosity. The TEM and XRD analysis demonstrated that the PGe structure maintains the original crystal orientation of the substrate, without any bending or misorientation of the crystallites. With the addition of the surface roughness below 3 nm, this makes produced PGe structures an excellent substrate for epitaxial growth. These results open the possibilities for fabrication of PGe layers with on-demand properties for epitaxial growth and other applications.

Moreover, these PGe structures were then used to study initial nucleation stages of the growth on porous nanostructure at low temperatures, experimentally revealing two distinct growth regimes. Initially, the growth is dominated by 3D nucleation on top of the pore walls, followed by the coalescence of the seeds. We demonstrated that once the Ge membrane reaches the critical thickness of coalescence, a fully densified membrane is formed, and the growth becomes governed by 2D layer-by-layer regime. At this point, further thickening of the Ge membrane helps to annihilate any remaining pits on the surface, and to achieve low roughness below 1 nm. We have shown that the critical thickness of coalescence depends on the porosity of the substrate, as the high porosity layers necessitate more material to form a fully coalesced membrane on top. The XRD analysis has demonstrated the monocrystalline nature of grown membranes independently of the porosity of the substrate. The low temperature growth (T ≤ 300 °C), allows for maintaining the PGe structure unchanged during the process, enabling the growth even on high porosity substrates. Moreover, the high porosity structure with nanometric crystallites

provides an ideal separation layer, enabling the detachment and formation of the Ge membrane. These findings pave the way for low-temperature growth and fabrication of FSMs from small bandgap materials such as Ge(Si)Sn alloys for applications in near/mid-IR optoelectronics and photonics.

Finally, the PGe remnants on the substrate surface after the detachment, allow an easy cleaning process by and reuse of the substrate for production of multiple Ge FSMs. The recovery of the entire 100 mm substrate has been achieved through slow chemical etching in H_2O_2 . The nanometric crystallites with high specific area of the PGe remaining on the substrate, allow their complete dissolution, without the necessity of substantial etching of the substrate material, and obtention of the surface roughness below 1 nm. This makes possible the successful reuse of the substrate resulting in a new highly uniform PGe layer. This opens the possibilities for multi-reuse of the substrate for production of FSMs with consumption of only ~300 nm of the substrate per cycle, significantly reducing the consumption of rare materials compared to conventional substrates.

Overall, this work demonstrates a wafer-scale porosification lift-off process for production of high-quality Ge FSMs and substrate reuse, with high potential of its adoption for other group IV materials such as Ge(Si)Sn alloys. This process significantly reduces the consumption of rare and expensive materials compared to conventional bulk substrates, paving the way for cost-effective fabrication of light and flexible optoelectronics.

Scientific advancements:

- Fabrication of uniform high-quality PGe layers by BEE.
- Development of new porosification tools for edge-to-edge PGe layers on entire wafers.
- PGe thickness and porosity modulation by time and etching current density variation.
- Fast feedback, non-destructive characterization of PGe layers for uniformity assessment.
- Establishment of nucleation and growth mechanisms on PGe substrates.
- Demonstration of high-quality growth monocrystalline Ge membranes on PGe substrates at low temperatures.

- Detachment of 100 mm wafer-scale Ge FSM.
- Implementation of a chemical reconditioning process allowing the substrate reuse.
- Reporosification of reconditioned substrate.

7.4 Perspectives

The FSMs of IV materials present a powerful technology which can shake up the way how we approach the heterointegration and fabrication of the next generation of electronics and optoelectronics. Although this work has brought important milestones for 2D-assisted epitaxy, substrate engineering and Ge FSMs fabrication, there are still lots of opportunities and potential for further improvements and development. The following part describes a non-exhaustive list of perspectives for processes developed in this work.

7.4.1 2D-assisted epitaxy

The Chapter III of this work introduces Anchor Point Nucleation, a novel approach for growth of non-polar semiconductor membranes by 2D-assisted epitaxy. This is achieved through formation of nanoholes in the graphene by plasma treatment, creating preferential nucleation sites and direct links with the substrate, providing lateral overgrowth over remaining 2D interlayer, and leading to the weak VdW interface. This enables the growth of high-quality layer without the necessity of the ionic interactions through the 2D interface. To further improve and advance the technology following studies can be considered (in no particular order):

> 2D interface quality

Quality of the 2D interface plays a crucial role in the growth by 2D-assisted epitaxy[357]. The main challenge of the wet-transfer graphene (used in this work) is the presence of PMMA residues on the surface resulting causing unwanted nucleation sites which can result in defects in the structure. To resolve this issue, dry-transfer technique can be employed[142]. Alternatively, high-quality single crystalline graphene can be grown on top of Ge substrate to be further used for 2D-assisted epitaxy.

Engineering of amorphous 2D interfaces

Alternatively, to enable transfer-free 2D interface on a large variety of substrates, recent studies suggest that for RE and engineered 2D interface, an amorphous carbon monolayer can be used as the 2D interface instead of the graphene[147]. Combined with APN approach, this option presents a high potential for universal 2D-assisted epitaxy.

Influence of the plasma source

The plasma treatment influence on the defect formation in 2D interface should be further studied, as the precise control of the nanohole formation is necessary for APN approach. Chemically inert plasma sources such as Argon or Hydrogen should be taken into consideration as well as nitrogen plasma which can also cause the doping of the graphene by insertion of the N atoms in the lattice.

Tailoring of the nucleation sites

The influence of the nanohole density and size on the epilayer adhesion strength present an important pathway for the controlled detachment of the FSMs and modulation of the adhesion for various device processing methods.

Demonstration of APN for other materials

Further studies should focus on demonstrating and applying the APN approach for other types of materials, namely III-V, III-N, and various group IV alloys. This will prove the universal nature of the approach for the fabrication of semiconductor FSMs.

Heterointegration on Si through APN

Heterointegration of highly dissimilar materials on Si is one of the most challenging tasks in epitaxy. The APN approach has a high potential to achieve this task, as the local nucleation allows orienting the epilayer along the non-polar Si substrate while the overgrowth over the 2D interface enables the relaxation of the layer, avoiding the formation of defects in the process.

7.4.2 Substrate porosification

The results in this work, presented in Chapter IV, have demonstrated significant advancement in production of uniform edge-to-edge PGe layers over 100 mm wafers, with tunable thickness and porosity using innovative porosification tools[287]. Additionally, The XRR and ellipsometry techniques have proven useful for non-destructive characterization of PGe structures, providing fast feedback on PGe quality for production. The future development should focus on improvement of characterization techniques, further scale-up of PGe fabrication, faster, more controllable, and sustainable BEE process, as well as on fabrication of patterned, complex, layered, and/or deeply etched PGe structures. Following research objectives can be considered:

Improved ellipsometry measurements:

By using mid IR spectra in addition to the visible and near IR spectrum, the ellipsometry measurements can be vastly improved as the Ge is completely transparent in this domain. This can be then used for characterization of the deeply etched or layered PGe structures. Further improvements in the fitting of the ellipsometry measurements can then lead to surface roughness estimation or identification of the oxide presence due to the aging of the PGe layers.

Scale-up of the uniform PGe layers up to 300 mm wafer size:

Compared to other rare material substrate, Ge wafers can be produced even at 300 mm size[340], representing almost $10 \times \text{larger surface compared to } 100 \text{ mm}$ wafers used in this work. This sets a significant milestone to achieve, offering much higher per wafer yields. However, such an important surface increase can uncover previously unseen PGe variations or limitations in porosification tools. It can also induce formation of defects due to a significantly higher current involved in the process. For these reasons it's important to study the influence of the surface area on BEE process, especially for wafer sizes beyond 100 mm.

Porosification tools development:

Porosification tools used in this work enable an edge-to-edge uniform porosification. However, they use Cu back electrode which is prone to surface oxidation and/or corrosion and necessitate regular maintenance. Moreover, Cu is considered as an undesirable/contaminant element for many semiconductors fabrication processes and for this reason it should be avoided, even if the risk of contamination during BEE process is minimal and hasn't been uncovered during present studies. Other similarly conductive materials, offering better corrosion and oxidation resistance should be studied and considered for this crucial component. Alternatively, double sided etching cells, involving electrolyte on both sides of the Ge substrate[213]. This approach holds potential especially for PGe membranes formation as both sides of the wafer are etched simultaneously. However, a development of special wafer fixation mechanism needs to be developed to enable edge-to-edge PGe layers using this technology.

Potentiometric monitoring of BEE process

Annex studies (not included in this work) have demonstrated that the potential response of the system evolves over the duration of the BEE[209]. The results show an important variation in potential response over time, which is the most remarkable on passivation step. This suggests that the degree of passivation change over the duration of the process, which can by the cause of why the very thick PGe layers (hundreds of μ m) have not been yet achieved. Further potentiometric studies of the process, combined with others in-situ analysis, could provide a new fundamental understanding of the process and its kinetics, as well as uncover the missing link between the conventional and fast BEE of Ge.

Potentiostatic BEE

Potentiometric monitoring of the conventional galvanostatic BEE process has also revealed that various levels of potential response results in different PGe structures[209]. This opens the possibility for fabrication of PGe layers with various morphological properties as well as formation of layered PGe structures using Potentiostatic BEE approach which was until very recently[209,349] completely uncharted territory for PGe layer formation.

Electrolyte composition

Results presented in Chapter IV have shown that the composition of the electrolyte solution plays an important role in PGe formation and its homogeneity. Although, various studies in literature have used different electrolyte solutions, their influence

on etching rates and resulting PGe morphology has not been studied and remains for the moment unknown.

Electrolyte reuse

Currently, a fresh electrolyte is always used for PGe formation, resulting in large quantities electrolyte waste. Moreover, it presents a mixture of highly acidic aqueous solution and hygroscopic solvent necessitating special treatment to separate and neutralize both components. Considering generally low PGe thickness (max few μ m) for most of the applications, the concentrated electrolyte solution could be reused for production of multiple PGe layers. However, the influence of Ge complexes dissolved in the solution and solvent evaporation, on PGe formation should be studied.

Porosification of n-type Ge

The n-type Ge, which has many applications in electronic and optoelectronic, presents some unique opportunities for formation of PGe structures as it can offer a variety of morphological structures and potentially higher etching rates, but also high photoactivation of the BEE process. For the moment, mainly p-type Ge porosification has been studies, thus the n-type Ge offers a lot to explore.

7.4.3 Fabrication of group IV FSMs

Chapter V introduces the approach for Ge FSMs fabrication through low temperature growth on PGe substrates and subsequent detachment. The low temperature enables us to maintain the PGe structure with nanometric crystallites unreconstructed, while still allowing for the formation of high-quality membrane. The unreconstructed PGe layer then enables an easy detachment and substrate reuse. This paves the way for further development and applications of this process. Following research objectives can be considered:

Membrane formation by other techniques

The Ge membranes in this work were formed using MBE growth at low temperatures. These conditions are also suitable for other deposition techniques such as chemical vapor deposition, sputtering, or evaporation, which are more common in industrial applications. The formation of FSMs using these techniques should be explored to better prepare the process for industrial transfer.

Influence of the PGe's properties on FSM adhesion

Since in the process developed in this thesis, the PGe layer does not undergo any transformation, the adhesion of the membrane is solely dependent on the physical properties of the PGe layer. By exploring the adhesion force of the membrane as the function of the PGe thickness and porosity, it can be adapted for various fabrication processes depending on the intended application.

> Fabrication of group IV alloys FSMs

The low temperature condition of the process opens up the opportunity for its application on other group IV alloys, especially Ge(Si)Sn alloys, which are prominent in near/mid IR applications.

> Development of adapted handling and transfer technique

FSMs bring new challenges in terms of handling compared to traditional rigid substrates. This necessitates the development of adapted handling and transfer techniques to facilitate the work with FSMs.

Stabilization of the PGe for high-temperature growth

The PGe structure by itself is very unstable at high temperatures and undergoes a thermal reconstruction, limiting the applications of the process to materials compatible with low temperature growth. However, based on our preliminary results the PGe can be stabilized by deposition of for example thin carbon layer inside the nanostructure, providing much-needed stability at high temperatures and enabling the growth and fabrication of III-V FSMs.

> Application of FSMs in device fabrication

The most evident next step for this process is its application in fabrication of a device such as TPV cells or IR detectors.

7.4.4 Substrate cleaning and reuse

Chapters V and VI propose and demonstrate the cleaning process of the PGe structure remaining on the parent substrate using slow chemical etching. This enables the PGe dissolution without a significant loss of material, while creating a smooth surface suitable for substrate reuse. Following objectives may be considered for further development of this research axis:

Evaluation of other etching solutions

The slow chemical etching of PGe remnants in H_2O_2 has shown promising results for substrate cleaning after the membrane detachment. Nevertheless, other solutions such as HNO₃, or solutions including low concentrations of etching agents such as HF, HCl of H_2PO_3 . Additional agents such as acetic acid can be added to improve the wetting of the substrate with the etching solution.

> Influence of the multiple substrate reuses on surface quality

The present work has demonstrated a successful substrate reuse without any significant influence on the PGe quality. To further validate this point, the surface quality of the substrate should be evaluated over multiple cycles to evaluate the eventuality of the surface roughness increase, which would necessitate the reconditioning by removal of more material or CMP process.

Appendix

8. Scientific Contributions, Awards and Distinctions

8.1 Publications

8.1.1 Principal contribution

- Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; Sustainable production of ultrathin Ge freestanding membranes, Sustainability; 2024, 16(4), 1444 (https://doi.org/10.3390/su16041444)
- Tadeáš Hanuš, Laurie Mouchel, Arthur Dupuy, Bouraoui Ilahi, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; Unraveling potentiometric monitoring during Ge electrochemical etching: Towards tunable double porosity layers, Electrochimica Acta; 2024; 474; 143529 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2023.143529)
- Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Tadeáš Hanuš, Gilles Patriarche, Andreas Ruediger, Abderraouf Boucherif; Unraveling the heterointegration of 3D semiconductors on graphene by Anchor Point Nucleation; Small; 202, 20, 15, 2306038 (https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.202306038)
- Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Alexandre Chapotot, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif Fabrication of wafer-scale freestanding monocrystalline Ge membranes; Materials Today Advances; 2023, 18, 100373 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtadv.2023.100373)
- 5) Tadeáš Hanuš, Javier Arias-Zapata, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; Large-Scale Formation of Uniform Porous Ge Nanostructures with Tunable Physical Properties; Advanced Materials Interfaces; 2023, 10, 2202495 (https://doi.org/10.1002/admi.202202495)
- 6) Nicolas Paupy, Zakaria Oulad Elhmaidi, Alexandre Chapotot, Tadeáš Hanuš, Javier Arias-Zapata, Bouraoui Ilahi, Alexandre Heintz, Alex Brice Poungoué Mbeunmi, Roxana Arvinte, Mohammad Reza Aziziyan, Valentin Daniel, Gwenaëlle Hamon, Jérémie Chrétien, Firas Zouaghi, Ahmed Ayari, Laurie Mouchel, Jonathan Henriques, Loïc Demoulin, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Hubert Pelletier, Maïté Volatier, Rufi Kurstjens, Jinyoun Cho, Guillaume Courtois, Kristof Dessein, Sébastien

Arcand, Chrientian Dubuc, Abdelatif Jaouad, Nicolas Quaegebeur, Ryan Gosselin, Denis Machon, Richard Arès, Maxime Darnon, Abderraouf Boucherif; Wafer-scale detachable monocrystalline Ge nanomembranes for the growth of III-V materials and substrate reuse; Nanoscale Advances; 2023, 5, 4696–4702 (https://doi.org/10.1039/D3NA00053B)

8.1.2 Coauthor

- Ahmed Ayari, Firas Zouaghi, Bouraoui Ilahi, Tadeáš Hanuš, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Denis Machon, Nicolas Quaegebeur, Abderraouf Boucherif; Post-growth Adhesion strength tuning of Detachable Ge Membranes via Porous Ge Transformation; Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing; 2024, 180, 108563 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2024.108563)
- Ahmed Ayari, Bouraoui Ilahi, Roxana Arvinte, Tadeáš Hanuš, Laurie Mouchel, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Denis Machon, Abderraouf Boucherif, Comprehensive investigation of Thermal Induced Reorganization of Porous-Ge structures; Thin Solid Films; 2024, 798, 140391 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsf.2024.140391)
- 3) Jinyoun Cho, Valérie Depauw, Alexandre Chapotot, Waldemar Schreiber, Tadeáš Hanuš, Nicolas Paupy, Valentin Daniel, Guillaume Courtois, Bouraoui Ilahi, Abderraouf Boucherif, Clément Porret, Roger Loo, Jens Ohlmann, Stefan Janz, Kristof Dessein; Overview of Engineered Germanium Substrate Development for Affordable Large-Volume Multi-Junction Solar Cell; IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics; 2024, 14, 4, 623-628 (https://doi.org/10.1109/JPHOTOV.2024.3390846)
- Alexandre Chapotot, Bouraoui Ilahi, Tadeáš Hanuš, Gwenaëlle Hamon, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Maxime Darnon, Abderraouf Boucherif; Sequential generation of multiple Ge nanomembranes from a Single Substrate: Towards Sustainable Recycling of Ge Wafers; Sustainable Materials and Technologies; 2024, 39, e00806 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.susmat.2023.e00806)
- 5) Valentin Daniel, Thomas Bidaud, Jérémie Chretien, Nicolas Paupy, Ahmed Ayari, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Tadeáš Hanuš, Jonathan Henriques, Abdelatif Jaouad, Jean-François Lerat, Bouraoui Ilahi, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Christian Dubuc, Gwenaëlle Hamon, Abderraouf Boucherif, Maxime Darnon; High efficiency GaAs solar cells grown on porous germanium substrate with PEELER technology; Solar RRL; 2024, 8, 2300643 (http://doi.org/10.1002/solr.202300643)
- 6) Alexandre Chapotot, Bouraoui Ilahi, Javier Arias-Zapata, **Tadeáš Hanuš**, Ahmed Ayari, Gwenaëlle Hamon, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Maxime Darnon, Abderraouf Boucherif;

Wet chemical etching mechanism for germanium and its application for substrate reuse; Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing; 2023, 168, 107851 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107851)

7) Nicolas Paupy, Ahmed Ayari, Bouraoui Ilahi, Tadeáš Hanuš, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Denis Machon, Richard Arès, Abderraouf Boucherif; Tailoring Ge membrane adhesion strength: impact of growth parameters and porous layer thickness; (Under review)

8.3 Awards and Distinctions

- 1) La Preuve par l'Image, Finalist Acfas, 2024, Canada
- 2) Popular Science Award Université de Sherbrooke, 2024, Sherbrooke, Canada
- 3) Art Award Raith Micrograph Award 2023
- Médaille de Mérite Leonard de Vinci Faculty of Engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, 2023, Sherbrooke, Canada
- Young Researcher Award European Material Research Society Fall Meeting 2023, Warszawa, Poland
- Best Presentation Award, Finalist The 20th Canadian Semiconductor Science and Technology Conference, 2023, Montreal, Canada
- 7) Best Poster Award, 1st place 3IT.Nano symposium, 2023, Jouvence, Canada
- Young Researcher Award European Material Research Society Spring Meeting 2023, Strasbourg, France
- 9) Graduate Student Award European Material Research Society Fall Meeting 2022, Warszawa, Poland

8.4 Patents

- Semiconductor Device and Method of Manufacturing Same; Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Tadeáš Hanuš, Abderraouf Boucherif (Patent pending)
- Computer System and Method for Manufacturing a Germanium Membrane; Abderraouf Boucherif, Bouraoui Ilahi, Tadeáš Hanuš (Patent pending)
- Method and System for Manufacturing a Germanium-based Membrane, and Germanium Based Substrate; Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Abderraouf Boucherif (Patent pending)

8.5 Conference organization

- Member of organization committee The 7th Montreal Photonics Networking Event, Montreal, Canada (2023, December 1st)
- Member of organization committee The 8th Montreal Photonics Networking Event, Montreal, Canada (2024)

8.6 Scientific communications

- Tadeáš Hanuš, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Gilles Patriarche, Andreas Ruediger, Abderraouf Boucherif; (2023, December 1st) 2D-assisted epitaxy: A method for the growth of group IV semiconductor freestanding membranes; (Poster presentation), The 7th Montreal Photonics Networking Event, Montreal, Canada
- 2) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Javier Arias-Zapata, Alexandre Chapotot, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; (2023, September 18-21) Lift-off process of monocrystalline Ge membranes and substrate reuse; (Oral presentation), European Material Research Society, Fall meeting, Warszawa, Poland
- 3) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Javier Arias-Zapata, Alexandre Chapotot, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; (2023, August 21-25) Formation of Ge freestanding membranes and substrate reuse by homoepitaxial growth on porous Ge substrate (Oral presentation); The 20th Canadian Semiconductor Science and Technology Conference, Montreal, Canada
- 4) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Javier Arias-Zapata, Alexandre Chapotot, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; (Poster presentation) La fabrication des membranes de germanium ultraminces et la réutilisation du substrat (2023, June 7) 3IT Nano Symposium, 2023, Jouvence, Canada
- 5) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Javier Arias-Zapata, Alexandre Chapotot, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif; (Poster presentation) La croissance des membranes autoportantes de germanium sur des substrats poreux (2023, June 9) Grande Conférence du Regroupement Québécois sur les Matériaux de Pointe, Sherbrooke, Canada
- 6) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Alexandre Chapotot, Ahmed Ayari, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif (2023, May 29 to June 2), Growth of transferable germanium membranes on porous substrate for flexible optoelectronics (Oral presentation), European Material Research Society, Spring meeting, Strasbourg, France

- 7) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Javier Arias-Zapata, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif (2023, May 29 to June 2), Wafer-scale tunable porous Ge: Emerging engineered substrate for epitaxial growth of freestanding membranes (Oral presentation), European Material Research Society, Spring meeting, Strasbourg, France
- 8) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Alexandre Chapotot, Ahmed Ayari, Hubert Pelletier, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif (2023, 22-25 May), Unraveling the growth stages on porous substrate and formation of thin detachable Ge membranes (Oral presentation), International Conference on Silicon epitaxy and Heterostructures – International SiGe technology and Device Meeting, Como, Italy
- 9) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Javier Arias–Zapata, Alexandre Chapotot, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 2 December). Fabrication of wafer-scale freestanding monocrystalline Ge membranes (poster presentation), the 6th Montreal Photonics Networking Event, Montreal, Canada
- 10) Tadeáš Hanuš, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Andreas Ruediger, Gilles Patriarche, Simon Fafard, Richard Arès, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 19-23 September). Unfolding the role of defect engineering in graphene during Van der Waals epitaxy of semiconductors (oral presentation), European Material Research Society, Fall meeting, Warszawa, Poland
- 11) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Javier Arias–Zapata, Alexandre Chapotot, Jinyoun Cho, Kristof Dessein, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 19-23 September). Fabrication of waferscale freestanding monocrystalline Ge membranes (poster presentation), European Material Research Society, Fall meeting, Warszawa, Poland
- 12) Tadeáš Hanuš, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Andreas Ruediger, Gilles Patriarche, Simon Fafard, Richard Arès, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 10-16 September), Unraveling the influence of plasma induced defects in graphene on the Van der Waals epitaxy of semiconductors (oral presentation). 19th Conference on Gettering and Defect Engineering in Semiconductor Technology, Mondsee, Austria
- 13) Tadeáš Hanuš, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Andreas Ruediger, Gilles Patriarche, Simon Fafard, Richard Arès, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 4-9 September). Unraveling the influence of plasma induced defects in graphene on the Van der Waals epitaxy of semiconductors (oral presentation). International Conference on Molecular Beam Epitaxy, Sheffield, United Kingdom
- 14) Tadeáš Hanuš, Javier Arias-Zapata, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Alexandre Chapotot, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 18-20 July). Fabrication of ultrathin Ge template

for growth of high-performance III–V optoelectronic devices based on wafer-scale porous Ge (poster presentation), TOP-SET 2022 Summer School, Ottawa, Canada

- 15) Tadeáš Hanuš, Bouraoui Ilahi, Javier Arias-Zapata, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Alexandre Chapotot, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 6-8 July). Towards wafer-scale freestanding monocrystalline Ge membranes based on porous Ge substrate (poster presentation), Workshop on Advanced Epitaxy for Freestanding Membranes and 2D Materials, Cambridge, MA, USA, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT)
- 16) Tadeáš Hanuš, Javier Arias-Zapata, Bouraoui Ilahi, Philippe-Olivier Provost, Alexandre Chapotot, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 5-10 June). Fabrication of ultrathin Ge template for growth of multijunction solar cells based on wafer-scale porous Ge (poster presentation), 49th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, Philadelphia, PA, USA
- 17) Tadeáš Hanuš, Thierno Mamoudou Diallo, Abderraouf Boucherif (2022, 25-28 February), Graphene engineering by plasma enables the growth of single crystalline semiconductors (oral presentation), QCAM - 6th annual meeting 2022, Virtual Symposium.

9. List of References

- [1] Mittapally, R.; Lee, B.; Zhu, L.; Reihani, A.; Lim, J.W.; Fan, D.; Forrest, S.R.; Reddy, P.; Meyhofer, E. Near-Field Thermophotovoltaics for Efficient Heat to Electricity Conversion at High Power Density. *Nat Commun* 2021, *12*, 4364, doi:10.1038/s41467-021-24587-7.
- [2] Bhatt, G.R.; Zhao, B.; Roberts, S.; Datta, I.; Mohanty, A.; Lin, T.; Hartmann, J.-M.; St-Gelais, R.; Fan, S.; Lipson, M. Integrated Near-Field Thermo-Photovoltaics for Heat Recycling. *Nat Commun* **2020**, *11*, 2545, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-16197-6.
- [3] Shin, J.; Kim, H.; Sundaram, S.; Jeong, J.; Park, B.-I.; Chang, C.S.; Choi, J.; Kim, T.; Saravanapavanantham, M.; Lu, K.; et al. Vertical Full-Colour Micro-LEDs via 2D Materials-Based Layer Transfer. *Nature* 2023, 614, 81–87, doi:10.1038/s41586-022-05612-1.
- [4] Margalit, N.; Xiang, C.; Bowers, S.M.; Bjorlin, A.; Blum, R.; Bowers, J.E. Perspective on the Future of Silicon Photonics and Electronics. *Applied Physics Letters* **2021**, *118*, 220501, doi:10.1063/5.0050117.
- [5] Papatryfonos, K.; Selviah, D.R.; Maman, A.; Hasharoni, K.; Brimont, A.; Zanzi, A.; Kraft, J.; Sidorov, V.; Seifried, M.; Baumgartner, Y.; et al. Co-Package Technology Platform for Low-Power and Low-Cost Data Centers. *Applied Sciences* 2021, *11*, 6098, doi:10.3390/app11136098.
- [6] Zhou, Z.; Ou, X.; Fang, Y.; Alkhazraji, E.; Xu, R.; Wan, Y.; Bowers, J.E. Prospects and Applications of On-Chip Lasers. *eLight* 2023, 3, 1, doi:10.1186/s43593-022-00027-x.
- [7] Hu, L.; Choi, J.; Hwangbo, S.; Kwon, D.-H.; Jang, B.; Ji, S.; Kim, J.-H.; Han, S.-K.; Ahn, J.-H. Flexible Micro-LED Display and Its Application in Gbps Multi-Channel Visible Light Communication. *npj Flex Electron* 2022, *6*, 1–7, doi:10.1038/s41528-022-00234-z.
- [8] Kim, J.; Shim, H.J.; Yang, J.; Choi, M.K.; Kim, D.C.; Kim, J.; Hyeon, T.; Kim, D.-H. Ultrathin Quantum Dot Display Integrated with Wearable Electronics. *Advanced Materials* 2017, 29, 1700217, doi:10.1002/adma.201700217.
- [9] He, Z.; Wang, L.; Liu, G.-S.; Xu, Y.; Qiu, Z.; Zhong, M.; Li, X.; Gui, X.; Lin, Y.-S.; Qin, Z.; et al. Constructing Electrophoretic Displays on Foldable Paper-Based Electrodes by a Facile Transferring Method. ACS Appl. Electron. Mater. 2020, 2, 1335–1342, doi:10.1021/acsaelm.0c00129.
- [10] Zhou, Y.; Zhao, C.; Wang, J.; Li, Y.; Li, C.; Zhu, H.; Feng, S.; Cao, S.; Kong, D. Stretchable High-Permittivity Nanocomposites for Epidermal Alternating-Current Electroluminescent Displays. ACS Materials Lett. 2019, 1, 511–518, doi:10.1021/acsmaterialslett.9b00376.
- [11] Wu, Y.; Mechael, S.S.; Lerma, C.; Carmichael, R.S.; Carmichael, T.B. Stretchable Ultrasheer Fabrics as Semitransparent Electrodes for Wearable Light-Emitting e-Textiles with Changeable Display Patterns. *Matter* 2020, 2, 882–895, doi:10.1016/j.matt.2020.01.017.
- [12] Stauffer, F.; Tybrandt, K. Bright Stretchable Alternating Current Electroluminescent Displays Based on High Permittivity Composites. *Advanced Materials* 2016, 28, 7200–7203, doi:10.1002/adma.201602083.

- [13] Li, S.; Peele, B.N.; Larson, C.M.; Zhao, H.; Shepherd, R.F. A Stretchable Multicolor Display and Touch Interface Using Photopatterning and Transfer Printing. *Advanced Materials* 2016, 28, 9770–9775, doi:10.1002/adma.201603408.
- [14] Koo, J.H.; Kim, D.C.; Shim, H.J.; Kim, T.-H.; Kim, D.-H. Flexible and Stretchable Smart Display: Materials, Fabrication, Device Design, and System Integration. *Advanced Functional Materials* 2018, 28, 1801834, doi:10.1002/adfm.201801834.
- [15] Jeong, S.; Yoon, H.; Lee, B.; Lee, S.; Hong, Y. Distortion-Free Stretchable Light-Emitting Diodes via Imperceptible Microwrinkles. *Advanced Materials Technologies* 2020, 5, 2000231, doi:10.1002/admt.202000231.
- [16] Choi, M.K.; Yang, J.; Kang, K.; Kim, D.C.; Choi, C.; Park, C.; Kim, S.J.; Chae, S.I.; Kim, T.-H.; Kim, J.H.; et al. Wearable Red–Green–Blue Quantum Dot Light-Emitting Diode Array Using High-Resolution Intaglio Transfer Printing. *Nat Commun* 2015, 6, 7149, doi:10.1038/ncomms8149.
- [17] Wang, J.; Lee, P.S. Progress and Prospects in Stretchable Electroluminescent Devices. *Nanophotonics* **2017**, *6*, 435–451, doi:10.1515/nanoph-2016-0002.
- [18] Guan, N.; Dai, X.; Babichev, A.V.; Julien, F.H.; Tchernycheva, M. Flexible Inorganic Light Emitting Diodes Based on Semiconductor Nanowires. *Chem. Sci.* 2017, 8, 7904–7911, doi:10.1039/C7SC02573D.
- [19] Li, H.; Cao, Y.; Wang, Z.; Feng, X. Flexible and Stretchable Inorganic Optoelectronics. Opt. Mater. Express, OME 2019, 9, 4023–4049, doi:10.1364/OME.9.004023.
- [20] Tchoe, Y.; Chung, K.; Lee, K.; Jo, J.; Chung, K.; Hyun, J.K.; Kim, M.; Yi, G.-C. Freestanding and Ultrathin Inorganic Light-Emitting Diode Array. NPG Asia Mater 2019, 11, 1–7, doi:10.1038/s41427-019-0137-7.
- [21] Daus, A.; Vaziri, S.; Chen, V.; Köroğlu, Ç.; Grady, R.W.; Bailey, C.S.; Lee, H.R.; Schauble, K.; Brenner, K.; Pop, E. High-Performance Flexible Nanoscale Transistors Based on Transition Metal Dichalcogenides. *Nat Electron* 2021, *4*, 495– 501, doi:10.1038/s41928-021-00598-6.
- [22] Pierre, A.; Sadeghi, M.; Payne, M.M.; Facchetti, A.; Anthony, J.E.; Arias, A.C. All-Printed Flexible Organic Transistors Enabled by Surface Tension-Guided Blade Coating. *Advanced Materials* 2014, *26*, 5722–5727, doi:10.1002/adma.201401520.
- [23] Peng, B.; Ji, X.; Jiao, X.; Chu, M.; Liu, J.; Li, Y.; Chen, M.; Zhou, Z.; Zhang, C.; Miao, Q.; et al. A Transfer Method for High-Mobility, Bias-Stable, and Flexible Organic Field-Effect Transistors. *Advanced Materials Technologies* 2020, 5, 2000169, doi:10.1002/admt.202000169.
- [24] Chang, T.-C.; Tsao, Y.-C.; Chen, P.-H.; Tai, M.-C.; Huang, S.-P.; Su, W.-C.; Chen, G.-F. Flexible Low-Temperature Polycrystalline Silicon Thin-Film Transistors. *Materials Today Advances* 2020, *5*, 100040, doi:10.1016/j.mtadv.2019.100040.
- [25] Hanna, A.N.; Kutbee, A.T.; Subedi, R.C.; Ooi, B.; Hussain, M.M. Wavy Architecture Thin-Film Transistor for Ultrahigh Resolution Flexible Displays. *Small* 2018, 14, 1703200, doi:10.1002/smll.201703200.
- [26] Rojas, J.P.; Torres Sevilla, G.A.; Alfaraj, N.; Ghoneim, M.T.; Kutbee, A.T.; Sridharan, A.; Hussain, M.M. Nonplanar Nanoscale Fin Field Effect Transistors on Textile, Paper, Wood, Stone, and Vinyl via Soft Material-Enabled Double-Transfer Printing. ACS Nano 2015, 9, 5255–5263, doi:10.1021/acsnano.5b00686.

- [27] Seo, J.-H.; Zhang, K.; Kim, M.; Zhao, D.; Yang, H.; Zhou, W.; Ma, Z. Flexible Phototransistors Based on Single-Crystalline Silicon Nanomembranes. *Advanced Optical Materials* 2016, *4*, 120–125, doi:10.1002/adom.201500402.
- [28] Carey, T.; Cassidy, O.; Synnatschke, K.; Caffrey, E.; Garcia, J.; Liu, S.; Kaur, H.; Kelly, A.G.; Munuera, J.; Gabbett, C.; et al. High-Mobility Flexible Transistors with Low-Temperature Solution-Processed Tungsten Dichalcogenides. ACS Nano 2023, 17, 2912–2922, doi:10.1021/acsnano.2c11319.
- [29] Liu, K.; Ouyang, B.; Guo, X.; Guo, Y.; Liu, Y. Advances in Flexible Organic Field-Effect Transistors and Their Applications for Flexible Electronics. *npj Flex Electron* 2022, 6, 1–19, doi:10.1038/s41528-022-00133-3.
- [30] Lee, S.H.; Baek, D.; Cho, W.; Lee, N.; Kim, K.; Kim, J.-H.; Kim, H.-J.; Kim, H.H.; Kim, H.J.; Lee, S.; et al. Tailoring Luminescent Solar Concentrators for High-Performance Flexible Double-Junction III-V Photovoltaics. *Advanced Functional Materials* 2023, 33, 2210357, doi:10.1002/adfm.202210357.
- [31] Nam, J.; Lee, Y.; Choi, W.; Kim, C.S.; Kim, H.; Kim, J.; Kim, D.-H.; Jo, S. Transfer Printed Flexible and Stretchable Thin Film Solar Cells Using a Water-Soluble Sacrificial Layer. *Advanced Energy Materials* 2016, 6, 1601269, doi:10.1002/aenm.201601269.
- [32] Lee, C.H.; Kim, D.R.; Zheng, X. Transfer Printing Methods for Flexible Thin Film Solar Cells: Basic Concepts and Working Principles. ACS Nano 2014, 8, 8746–8756, doi:10.1021/nn5037587.
- [33] Lee, H.; Jeong, S.; Kim, J.-H.; Jo, Y.-R.; Eun, H.J.; Park, B.; Yoon, S.C.; Kim, J.H.; Lee, S.-H.; Park, S. Ultra-Flexible Semitransparent Organic Photovoltaics. *npj Flex Electron* 2023, 7, 1–9, doi:10.1038/s41528-023-00260-5.
- [34] Li, L.; Wang, Y.; Wang, X.; Lin, R.; Luo, X.; Liu, Z.; Zhou, K.; Xiong, S.; Bao, Q.; Chen, G.; et al. Flexible All-Perovskite Tandem Solar Cells Approaching 25% Efficiency with Molecule-Bridged Hole-Selective Contact. *Nat Energy* 2022, 7, 708–717, doi:10.1038/s41560-022-01045-2.
- [35] Nassiri Nazif, K.; Daus, A.; Hong, J.; Lee, N.; Vaziri, S.; Kumar, A.; Nitta, F.; Chen, M.E.; Kananian, S.; Islam, R.; et al. High-Specific-Power Flexible Transition Metal Dichalcogenide Solar Cells. *Nat Commun* 2021, *12*, 7034, doi:10.1038/s41467-021-27195-7.
- [36] Li, Y.; Ru, X.; Yang, M.; Zheng, Y.; Yin, S.; Hong, C.; Peng, F.; Qu, M.; Xue, C.; Lu, J.; et al. Flexible Silicon Solar Cells with High Power-to-Weight Ratios. *Nature* 2024, 626, 105–110, doi:10.1038/s41586-023-06948-y.
- [37] Liu, W.; Liu, Y.; Yang, Z.; Xu, C.; Li, X.; Huang, S.; Shi, J.; Du, J.; Han, A.; Yang, Y.; et al. Flexible Solar Cells Based on Foldable Silicon Wafers with Blunted Edges. *Nature* 2023, 617, 717–723, doi:10.1038/s41586-023-05921-z.
- [38] Kaltenbrunner, M.; White, M.S.; Głowacki, E.D.; Sekitani, T.; Someya, T.; Sariciftci, N.S.; Bauer, S. Ultrathin and Lightweight Organic Solar Cells with High Flexibility. *Nat Commun* 2012, *3*, 770, doi:10.1038/ncomms1772.
- [39] Schulte, K.L.; Johnston, S.W.; Braun, A.K.; Boyer, J.T.; Neumann, A.N.; McMahon, W.E.; Young, M.; Coll, P.G.; Bertoni, M.I.; Warren, E.L.; et al. GaAs Solar Cells Grown on Acoustically Spalled GaAs Substrates with 27% Efficiency. *Joule* 2023, 7, 1529–1542, doi:10.1016/j.joule.2023.05.019.

- [40] Kim, Y.; Suh, J.M.; Shin, J.; Liu, Y.; Yeon, H.; Qiao, K.; Kum, H.S.; Kim, C.; Lee, H.E.; Choi, C.; et al. Chip-Less Wireless Electronic Skins by Remote Epitaxial Freestanding Compound Semiconductors. *Science* 2022, 377, 859–864, doi:10.1126/science.abn7325.
- [41] Chen, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Liang, Z.; Cao, Y.; Han, Z.; Feng, X. Flexible Inorganic Bioelectronics. *npj Flex Electron* 2020, *4*, 1–20, doi:10.1038/s41528-020-0065-1.
- [42] Sun, H.; Yang, D.; Liu, Y.; Zhu, X. Highly Flexible X-Ray Detectors Based on Pure Inorganic Metal Iodide Polycrystalline Thin Films as Photon-to-Charge Conversion Layers. ACS Appl. Electron. Mater. 2019, 1, 2637–2645, doi:10.1021/acsaelm.9b00598.
- [43] Pan, J.; Jiang, C.; Zhang, Z.; Zhang, L.; Wang, X.; Tong, L. Flexible Liquid-Filled Fiber Adapter Enabled Wearable Optical Sensors. *Advanced Materials Technologies* 2020, 5, 2000079, doi:10.1002/admt.202000079.
- [44] Kim, Y.-S.; Mahmood, M.; Kwon, S.; Maher, K.; Kang, J.W.; Yeo, W.-H. Wireless, Skin-Like Membrane Electronics With Multifunctional Ergonomic Sensors for Enhanced Pediatric Care. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering* 2020, 67, 2159–2165, doi:10.1109/TBME.2019.2956048.
- [45] Kim, H.; Kim, Y.-S.; Mahmood, M.; Kwon, S.; Zavanelli, N.; Kim, H.S.; Rim, Y.S.; Epps, F.; Yeo, W.-H. Fully Integrated, Stretchable, Wireless Skin-Conformal Bioelectronics for Continuous Stress Monitoring in Daily Life. *Advanced Science* 2020, 7, 2000810, doi:10.1002/advs.202000810.
- [46] Kang, D.Y.; Kim, Y.-S.; Ornelas, G.; Sinha, M.; Naidu, K.; Coleman, T.P. Scalable Microfabrication Procedures for Adhesive-Integrated Flexible and Stretchable Electronic Sensors. *Sensors* 2015, *15*, 23459–23476, doi:10.3390/s150923459.
- [47] Liu, J.; Zhang, L.; Wang, N.; Li, C. Highly Stretchable and Transparent Triboelectric Nanogenerator Based on Multilayer Structured Stable Electrode for Self-Powered Wearable Sensor. *Nano Energy* 2020, 78, 105385, doi:10.1016/j.nanoen.2020.105385.
- [48] Min, J.; Demchyshyn, S.; Sempionatto, J.R.; Song, Y.; Hailegnaw, B.; Xu, C.; Yang, Y.; Solomon, S.; Putz, C.; Lehner, L.E.; et al. An Autonomous Wearable Biosensor Powered by a Perovskite Solar Cell. *Nat Electron* 2023, *6*, 630–641, doi:10.1038/s41928-023-00996-y.
- [49] Mahmood, M.; Kwon, S.; Berkmen, G.K.; Kim, Y.-S.; Scorr, L.; Jinnah, H.A.; Yeo, W.-H. Soft Nanomembrane Sensors and Flexible Hybrid Bioelectronics for Wireless Quantification of Blepharospasm. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering* 2020, 67, 3094–3100, doi:10.1109/TBME.2020.2975773.
- [50] Kim, Y.-S.; Lu, J.; Shih, B.; Gharibans, A.; Zou, Z.; Matsuno, K.; Aguilera, R.; Han, Y.; Meek, A.; Xiao, J.; et al. Scalable Manufacturing of Solderable and Stretchable Physiologic Sensing Systems. *Advanced Materials* 2017, 29, 1701312, doi:10.1002/adma.201701312.
- [51] Lee, S.Y.; Park, K.-I.; Huh, C.; Koo, M.; Yoo, H.G.; Kim, S.; Ah, C.S.; Sung, G.Y.; Lee, K.J. Water-Resistant Flexible GaN LED on a Liquid Crystal Polymer Substrate for Implantable Biomedical Applications. *Nano Energy* 2012, 1, 145–151, doi:10.1016/j.nanoen.2011.07.001.
- [52] Lee, H.E.; Shin, J.H.; Park, J.H.; Hong, S.K.; Park, S.H.; Lee, S.H.; Lee, J.H.; Kang, I.-S.; Lee, K.J. Micro Light-Emitting Diodes for Display and Flexible Biomedical

Applications. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2019**, *29*, 1808075, doi:10.1002/adfm.201808075.

- [53] Kwon, Y.-T.; Kim, H.; Mahmood, M.; Kim, Y.-S.; Demolder, C.; Yeo, W.-H. Printed, Wireless, Soft Bioelectronics and Deep Learning Algorithm for Smart Human–Machine Interfaces. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2020, 12, 49398–49406, doi:10.1021/acsami.0c14193.
- [54] Kwon, Y.-T.; Kim, Y.-S.; Kwon, S.; Mahmood, M.; Lim, H.-R.; Park, S.-W.; Kang, S.-O.; Choi, J.J.; Herbert, R.; Jang, Y.C.; et al. All-Printed Nanomembrane Wireless Bioelectronics Using a Biocompatible Solderable Graphene for Multimodal Human-Machine Interfaces. *Nat Commun* 2020, *11*, 3450, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17288-0.
- [55] Lee, J.H.; Kim, H.; Hwang, J.-Y.; Chung, J.; Jang, T.-M.; Seo, D.G.; Gao, Y.; Lee, J.; Park, H.; Lee, S.; et al. 3D Printed, Customizable, and Multifunctional Smart Electronic Eyeglasses for Wearable Healthcare Systems and Human–Machine Interfaces. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2020, 12, 21424–21432, doi:10.1021/acsami.0c03110.
- [56] Mahmood, M.; Mzurikwao, D.; Kim, Y.-S.; Lee, Y.; Mishra, S.; Herbert, R.; Duarte, A.; Ang, C.S.; Yeo, W.-H. Fully Portable and Wireless Universal Brain–Machine Interfaces Enabled by Flexible Scalp Electronics and Deep Learning Algorithm. *Nat Mach Intell* 2019, 1, 412–422, doi:10.1038/s42256-019-0091-7.
- [57] Morcom, W.R.; Ahrens, S.C.; Spindler, J.P.; Ford, R.T.; Lauffer, J.E. Self-Supported Ultra Thin Silicon Wafer Process 2000.
- [58] Mizushima, Y.; Kim, Y.; Nakamura, T.; Uedono, A.; Ohba, T. Behavior of Copper Contamination on Backside Damage for Ultra-Thin Silicon Three Dimensional Stacking Structure. *Microelectronic Engineering* 2017, 167, 23–31, doi:10.1016/j.mee.2016.10.010.
- [59] Teh, W.H.; Boning, D.S.; Welsch, R.E. Multi-Strata Stealth Dicing Before Grinding for Singulation-Defects Elimination and Die Strength Enhancement: Experiment and Simulation. *IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing* 2015, 28, 408–423, doi:10.1109/TSM.2015.2438875.
- [60] Wang, L.; Zhu, Y.; Wen, R.-T.; Xia, G. Sub-10 Mm-Thick Ge Thin Film Fabrication from Bulk-Ge Substrates via a Wet Etching Method. ACS Omega 2023, 8, 49201– 49210, doi:10.1021/acsomega.3c07490.
- [61] Sanchez-Perez, C.; Garcia, I.; Rey-Stolle, I. Fast Chemical Thinning of Germanium Wafers for Optoelectronic Applications. *Applied Surface Science* 2022, 579, 152199, doi:10.1016/j.apsusc.2021.152199.
- [62] Kim, Y.; Cruz, S.S.; Lee, K.; Alawode, B.O.; Choi, C.; Song, Y.; Johnson, J.M.; Heidelberger, C.; Kong, W.; Choi, S.; et al. Remote Epitaxy through Graphene Enables Two-Dimensional Material-Based Layer Transfer. *Nature* 2017, 544, 340– 343, doi:10.1038/nature22053.
- [63] Kong, W.; Li, H.; Qiao, K.; Kim, Y.; Lee, K.; Nie, Y.; Lee, D.; Osadchy, T.; Molnar, R.J.; Gaskill, D.K.; et al. Polarity Governs Atomic Interaction through Two-Dimensional Materials. *Nature Materials* 2018, 17, 999–1004, doi:10.1038/s41563-018-0176-4.
- [64] Bae, S.H.; Lu, K.; Han, Y.; Kim, S.; Qiao, K.; Choi, C.; Nie, Y.; Kim, H.; Kum, H.S.; Chen, P.; et al. Graphene-Assisted Spontaneous Relaxation towards

Dislocation-Free Heteroepitaxy. *Nature Nanotechnology* **2020**, *15*, 272–276, doi:10.1038/s41565-020-0633-5.

- [65] Kum, H.S.; Lee, H.; Kim, S.; Lindemann, S.; Kong, W.; Qiao, K.; Chen, P.; Irwin, J.; Lee, J.H.; Xie, S.; et al. Heterogeneous Integration of Single-Crystalline Complex-Oxide Membranes. *Nature* 2020, 578, 75–81, doi:10.1038/s41586-020-1939-z.
- [66] Yoon, H.; Truttmann, T.K.; Liu, F.; Matthews, B.E.; Choo, S.; Su, Q.; Saraswat, V.; Manzo, S.; Arnold, M.S.; Bowden, M.E.; et al. Freestanding Epitaxial SrTiO3 Nanomembranes via Remote Epitaxy Using Hybrid Molecular Beam Epitaxy. *Science Advances* 2022, 8, eadd 5328, doi:10.1126/sciadv.add5328.
- [67] Ma, C.-H.; Lin, J.-C.; Liu, H.-J.; Do, T.H.; Zhu, Y.-M.; Ha, T.D.; Zhan, Q.; Juang, J.-Y.; He, Q.; Arenholz, E.; et al. Van Der Waals Epitaxy of Functional MoO2 Film on Mica for Flexible Electronics. *Applied Physics Letters* 2016, 108, 253104, doi:10.1063/1.4954172.
- [68] Li, C.-I.; Lin, J.-C.; Liu, H.-J.; Chu, M.-W.; Chen, H.-W.; Ma, C.-H.; Tsai, C.-Y.; Huang, H.-W.; Lin, H.-J.; Liu, H.-L.; et al. Van Der Waal Epitaxy of Flexible and Transparent VO2 Film on Muscovite. *Chem. Mater.* 2016, 28, 3914–3919, doi:10.1021/acs.chemmater.6b01180.
- [69] Wu, P.-C.; Chen, P.-F.; Do, T.H.; Hsieh, Y.-H.; Ma, C.-H.; Ha, T.D.; Wu, K.-H.; Wang, Y.-J.; Li, H.-B.; Chen, Y.-C.; et al. Heteroepitaxy of Fe3O4/Muscovite: A New Perspective for Flexible Spintronics. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2016, 8, 33794–33801, doi:10.1021/acsami.6b11610.
- [70] Amrillah, T.; Bitla, Y.; Shin, K.; Yang, T.; Hsieh, Y.-H.; Chiou, Y.-Y.; Liu, H.-J.; Do, T.H.; Su, D.; Chen, Y.-C.; et al. Flexible Multiferroic Bulk Heterojunction with Giant Magnetoelectric Coupling via van Der Waals Epitaxy. ACS Nano 2017, 11, 6122–6130, doi:10.1021/acsnano.7b02102.
- [71] Jiang, J.; Bitla, Y.; Huang, C.-W.; Do, T.H.; Liu, H.-J.; Hsieh, Y.-H.; Ma, C.-H.; Jang, C.-Y.; Lai, Y.-H.; Chiu, P.-W.; et al. Flexible Ferroelectric Element Based on van Der Waals Heteroepitaxy. *Science Advances* 2017, *3*, e1700121, doi:10.1126/sciadv.1700121.
- [72] Bitla, Y.; Chen, C.; Lee, H.-C.; Do, T.H.; Ma, C.-H.; Qui, L.V.; Huang, C.-W.; Wu, W.-W.; Chang, L.; Chiu, P.-W.; et al. Oxide Heteroepitaxy for Flexible Optoelectronics. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2016, 8, 32401–32407, doi:10.1021/acsami.6b10631.
- [73] Liu, H.-J.; Wang, C.-K.; Su, D.; Amrillah, T.; Hsieh, Y.-H.; Wu, K.-H.; Chen, Y.-C.; Juang, J.-Y.; Eng, L.M.; Jen, S.-U.; et al. Flexible Heteroepitaxy of CoFe2O4/Muscovite Bimorph with Large Magnetostriction. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2017, 9, 7297–7304, doi:10.1021/acsami.6b16485.
- [74] Dai, L.; Zhao, J.; Li, J.; Chen, B.; Zhai, S.; Xue, Z.; Di, Z.; Feng, B.; Sun, Y.; Luo, Y.; et al. Highly Heterogeneous Epitaxy of Flexoelectric BaTiO3-δ Membrane on Ge. *Nat Commun* **2022**, *13*, 2990, doi:10.1038/s41467-022-30724-7.
- [75] Kim, K.S.; Kang, J.E.; Chen, P.; Kim, S.; Ji, J.; Yeom, G.Y.; Kim, J.; Kum, H.S. Atomic Layer-by-Layer Etching of Graphene Directly Grown on SrTiO3 Substrates for High-Yield Remote Epitaxy and Lift-Off. *APL Materials* 2022, *10*, 041105, doi:10.1063/5.0087890.

- [76] Jia, R.; Kum, H.S.; Sun, X.; Guo, Y.; Wang, B.; Fang, P.; Jiang, J.; Gall, D.; Lu, T.-M.; Washington, M.; et al. Van Der Waals Epitaxy and Remote Epitaxy of LiNbO3 Thin Films by Pulsed Laser Deposition. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A* 2021, *39*, 040405, doi:10.1116/6.0001109.
- [77] Guo, Y.; Sun, X.; Jiang, J.; Wang, B.; Chen, X.; Yin, X.; Qi, W.; Gao, L.; Zhang, L.; Lu, Z.; et al. A Reconfigurable Remotely Epitaxial VO2 Electrical Heterostructure. *Nano Lett.* 2020, 20, 33–42, doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b02696.
- [78] Leontsev, S.; Shah, P.J.; Kum, H.S.; McChesney, J.L.; Rodolakis, F.M.; van Veenendaal, M.; Velez, M.; Rao, R.; Haskel, D.; Kim, J.; et al. Functional Properties of Yttrium Iron Garnett Thin Films on Graphene-Coated Gd3Ga5O12 for Remote Epitaxial Transfer. *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* 2022, 556, 169440, doi:10.1016/j.jmmm.2022.169440.
- [79] Jiang, J.; Sun, X.; Chen, X.; Wang, B.; Chen, Z.; Hu, Y.; Guo, Y.; Zhang, L.; Ma, Y.; Gao, L.; et al. Carrier Lifetime Enhancement in Halide Perovskite via Remote Epitaxy. *Nature Communications* 2019, 10, 1–12, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12056-1.
- [80] Lu, Z.; Sun, X.; Xie, W.; Littlejohn, A.; Wang, G.-C.; Zhang, S.; Washington, M.A.; Lu, T.-M. Remote Epitaxy of Copper on Sapphire through Monolayer Graphene Buffer. *Nanotechnology* 2018, 29, 445702, doi:10.1088/1361-6528/aadb78.
- [81] Dong, J.; Zhang, L.; Dai, X.; Ding, F. The Epitaxy of 2D Materials Growth. Nat Commun 2020, 11, 5862, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-19752-3.
- [82] Ji, J.; Song, X.; Liu, J.; Yan, Z.; Huo, C.; Zhang, S.; Su, M.; Liao, L.; Wang, W.; Ni, Z.; et al. Two-Dimensional Antimonene Single Crystals Grown by van Der Waals Epitaxy. *Nat Commun* 2016, 7, 13352, doi:10.1038/ncomms13352.
- [83] Ribeiro, M.; Gentile, G.; Marty, A.; Dosenovic, D.; Okuno, H.; Vergnaud, C.; Jacquot, J.-F.; Jalabert, D.; Longo, D.; Ohresser, P.; et al. Large-Scale Epitaxy of Two-Dimensional van Der Waals Room-Temperature Ferromagnet Fe5GeTe2. *npj* 2D Mater Appl 2022, 6, 1–9, doi:10.1038/s41699-022-00285-w.
- [84] Cheng, C.-W.; Shiu, K.-T.; Li, N.; Han, S.-J.; Shi, L.; Sadana, D.K. Epitaxial Liftoff Process for Gallium Arsenide Substrate Reuse and Flexible Electronics. *Nat Commun* 2013, 4, 1577, doi:10.1038/ncomms2583.
- [85] Bakti Utama, M.I.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, J.; Yuan, Y.; Belarre, F.J.; Arbiol, J.; Xiong, Q. Recent Developments and Future Directions in the Growth of Nanostructures by van Der Waals Epitaxy. *Nanoscale* 2013, *5*, 3570, doi:10.1039/c3nr34011b.
- [86] Konagai, M.; Sugimoto, M.; Takahashi, K. High Efficiency GaAs Thin Film Solar Cells by Peeled Film Technology. *Journal of Crystal Growth* 1978, 45, 277–280, doi:10.1016/0022-0248(78)90449-9.
- [87] Wu, F.-L.; Ou, S.-L.; Kao, Y.-C.; Chen, C.-L.; Tseng, M.-C.; Lu, F.-C.; Lin, M.-T.; Horng, R.-H. Thin-Film Vertical-Type AlGaInP LEDs Fabricated by Epitaxial Liftoff Process via the Patterned Design of Cu Substrate. *Opt. Express, OE* 2015, 23, 18156–18165, doi:10.1364/OE.23.018156.
- [88] Liu, H.F.; Liu, W.; Chua, S.J. Epitaxial Growth and Chemical Lift-off of GaInN/GaN Heterostructures on c- and r-Sapphire Substrates Employing ZnO Sacrificial Templates. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A* 2010, 28, 590– 594, doi:10.1116/1.3443220.

- [89] Jiang, J.; Dong, J.; Wang, B.; He, C.; Zhao, W.; Chen, Z.; Zhang, K.; Wang, X. Epitaxtial Lift-off for Freestanding InGaN/GaN Membranes and Vertical Blue Light-Emitting-Diodes. J. Mater. Chem. C 2020, 8, 8284–8289, doi:10.1039/D0TC01986K.
- [90] Moug, R.; Bradford, C.; Curran, A.; Izdebski, F.; Davidson, I.; Prior, K.A.; Warburton, R.J. Development of an Epitaxial Lift-off Technology for II–VI Nanostructures Using ZnMgSSe Alloys. *Microelectronics Journal* 2009, 40, 530– 532, doi:10.1016/j.mejo.2008.06.024.
- [91] Mieda, E.; Maeda, T.; Miyata, N.; Yasuda, T.; Kurashima, Y.; Maeda, A.; Takagi, H.; Aoki, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Ichikawa, O.; et al. Wafer-Scale Layer Transfer of GaAs and Ge onto Si Wafers Using Patterned Epitaxial Lift-Off. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 2015, *54*, 036505, doi:10.7567/JJAP.54.036505.
- [92] Chang, W.H.; Wan, H.-W.; Cheng, Y.-T.; Lin, Y.-H.G.; Irisawa, T.; Ishii, H.; Kwo, J.; Hong, M.; Maeda, T. Low Thermal Budget Epitaxial Lift off (ELO) for Ge (111)on-Insulator Structure. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 2022, *61*, SC1024, doi:10.35848/1347-4065/ac3fca.
- [93] Bouaziz, J.; Cancellieri, C.; Rheingans, B.; Jeurgens, L.P.H.; La Mattina, F. Advanced Epitaxial Lift-Off and Transfer Procedure for the Fabrication of High-Quality Functional Oxide Membranes. *Advanced Materials Interfaces* 2023, 10, 2201458, doi:10.1002/admi.202201458.
- [94] Mahenderkar, N.K.; Chen, Q.; Liu, Y.-C.; Duchild, A.R.; Hofheins, S.; Chason, E.; Switzer, J.A. Epitaxial Lift-off of Electrodeposited Single-Crystal Gold Foils for Flexible Electronics. *Science* 2017, 355, 1203–1206, doi:10.1126/science.aam5830.
- [95] Chang, T.-H.; Fan, W.; Liu, D.; Xia, Z.; Ma, Z.; Liu, S.; Menon, L.; Yang, H.; Zhou, W.; Berggren, J.; et al. Selective Release of InP Heterostructures from InP Substrates. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B* 2016, *34*, 041229, doi:10.1116/1.4958799.
- [96] Rajan, A.; Rogers, D.J.; Ton-That, C.; Zhu, L.; Phillips, M.R.; Sundaram, S.; Gautier, S.; Moudakir, T.; El-Gmili, Y.; Ougazzaden, A.; et al. Wafer-Scale Epitaxial Lift-off of Optoelectronic Grade GaN from a GaN Substrate Using a Sacrificial ZnO Interlayer. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 2016, 49, 315105, doi:10.1088/0022-3727/49/31/315105.
- [97] Lin, C.-F.; Dai, J.-J.; Lin, M.-S.; Chen, K.-T.; Huang, W.-C.; Lin, C.-M.; Jiang, R.-H.; Huang, Y.-C. An AlN Sacrificial Buffer Layer Inserted into the GaN/Patterned Sapphire Substrate for a Chemical Lift-Off Process. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2010, *3*, 031001, doi:10.1143/APEX.3.031001.
- [98] Lin, C.-F.; Dai, J.-J.; Wang, G.-M.; Lin, M.-S. Chemical Lift-Off Process for Blue Light-Emitting Diodes. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2010, 3, 092101, doi:10.1143/APEX.3.092101.
- [99] Hsueh, H.-H.; Ou, S.-L.; Wuu, D.-S.; Horng, R.-H. InGaN LED Fabricated on Eco-GaN Template with a Ga2O3 Sacrificial Layer for Chemical Lift-off Application. *Vacuum* 2015, 118, 8–12, doi:10.1016/j.vacuum.2015.02.002.
- [100] Cho, C.-Y.; Lee, S.-J.; Hong, S.-H.; Park, S.-C.; Park, S.-E.; Park, Y.; Park, S.-J. Growth and Separation of High Quality GaN Epilayer from Sapphire Substrate by Lateral Epitaxial Overgrowth and Wet Chemical Etching. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2010, 4, 012104, doi:10.1143/APEX.4.012104.

- [101] Chuang, S.-H.; Pan, C.-T.; Shen, K.-C.; Ou, S.-L.; Wuu, D.-S.; Horng, R.-H. Thin Film GaN LEDs Using a Patterned Oxide Sacrificial Layer by Chemical Lift-Off Process. *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 2013, 25, 2435–2438, doi:10.1109/LPT.2013.2287892.
- [102] Zang, K.Y.; Cheong, D.W.C.; Liu, H.F.; Liu, H.; Teng, J.H.; Chua, S.J. A New Method for Lift-off of III-Nitride Semiconductors for Heterogeneous Integration. *Nanoscale Res Lett* 2010, 5, 1051, doi:10.1007/s11671-010-9601-6.
- [103] Ha, J.-S.; Lee, S.W.; Lee, H.-J.; Lee, H.-J.; Lee, S.H.; Goto, H.; Kato, T.; Fujii, K.; Cho, M.W.; Yao, T. The Fabrication of Vertical Light-Emitting Diodes Using Chemical Lift-Off Process. *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 2008, 20, 175–177, doi:10.1109/LPT.2007.912491.
- [104] Yang, W.; Yang, H.; Qin, G.; Ma, Z.; Berggren, J.; Hammar, M.; Soref, R.; Zhou, W. Large-Area InP-Based Crystalline Nanomembrane Flexible Photodetectors. *Applied Physics Letters* 2010, *96*, 121107, doi:10.1063/1.3372635.
- [105] O'Callaghan, J.; Loi, R.; Mura, E.E.; Roycroft, B.; Trindade, A.J.; Thomas, K.; Gocalinska, A.; Pelucchi, E.; Zhang, J.; Roelkens, G.; et al. Comparison of InGaAs and InAlAs Sacrificial Layers for Release of InP-Based Devices. *Opt. Mater. Express, OME* 2017, 7, 4408–4414, doi:10.1364/OME.7.004408.
- [106] Youtsey, C.; McCarthy, R.; Reddy, R.; Forghani, K.; Xie, A.; Beam, E.; Wang, J.; Fay, P.; Ciarkowski, T.; Carlson, E.; et al. Wafer-Scale Epitaxial Lift-off of GaN Using Bandgap-Selective Photoenhanced Wet Etching. *physica status solidi (b)* 2017, 254, 1600774, doi:10.1002/pssb.201600774.
- [107] Choi, J.H.; Cho, E.H.; Lee, Y.S.; Shim, M.-B.; Ahn, H.Y.; Baik, C.-W.; Lee, E.H.; Kim, K.; Kim, T.-H.; Kim, S.; et al. Fully Flexible GaN Light-Emitting Diodes through Nanovoid-Mediated Transfer. *Advanced Optical Materials* 2014, 2, 267– 274, doi:10.1002/adom.201300435.
- [108] Park, J.; Song, K.M.; Jeon, S.-R.; Baek, J.H.; Ryu, S.-W. Doping Selective Lateral Electrochemical Etching of GaN for Chemical Lift-Off. *Applied Physics Letters* 2009, 94, 221907, doi:10.1063/1.3153116.
- [109] Haggren, T.; Tournet, J.; Jagadish, C.; Tan, H.H.; Oksanen, J. Strain-Engineered Multilayer Epitaxial Lift-Off for Cost-Efficient III–V Photovoltaics and Optoelectronics. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2023, 15, 1184–1191, doi:10.1021/acsami.2c18629.
- [110] Huygens, I.M.; Gomes, W.P.; Strubbe, K. Etching of Germanium in Hydrogenperoxide Solutions. ECS Trans. 2007, 6, 375–386, doi:10.1149/1.2731205.
- [111] Sioncke, S.; Brunco, D.P.; Meuris, M.; Uwamahoro, O.; Steenbergen, J.V.; Vrancken, E.; Heyns, M.M. Etch Rates of Ge, GaAs and InGaAs in Acids, Bases and Peroxide Based Mixtures. *ECS Trans.* 2008, *16*, 451, doi:10.1149/1.2986802.
- [112] Abrenica, G.H.A.; Fingerle, M.; Lebedev, M.V.; Arnauts, S.; Mayer, T.; Holsteyns, F.; Gendt, S. de; Dorp, D.H. van Wet Chemical Processing of Ge in Acidic H2O2 Solution: Nanoscale Etching and Surface Chemistry. *ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol.* 2020, *9*, 084002, doi:10.1149/2162-8777/abb1c5.
- [113] Bornemann, S.; Yulianto, N.; Spende, H.; Herbani, Y.; Prades, J.D.; Wasisto, H.S.; Waag, A. Femtosecond Laser Lift-Off with Sub-Bandgap Excitation for Production

of Freestanding GaN Light-Emitting Diode Chips. *Advanced Engineering Materials* **2020**, *22*, 1901192, doi:10.1002/adem.201901192.

- [114] Gong, Z. Layer-Scale and Chip-Scale Transfer Techniques for Functional Devices and Systems: A Review. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11*, 842, doi:10.3390/nano11040842.
- [115] Tian, W.; Wu, Y.; Xiao, J.; Wang, P.; Li, J. Laser Lift-off Mechanism and Optical-Electric Characteristics of Red Micro-LED Devices. *Opt. Express, OE* 2023, 31, 7887–7899, doi:10.1364/OE.475270.
- [116] Seo, J.-H.; Li, J.; Lee, J.; Gong, S.; Lin, J.; Jiang, H.; Ma, Z. A Simplified Method of Making Flexible Blue LEDs on a Plastic Substrate. *IEEE Photonics Journal* 2015, 7, 1–7, doi:10.1109/JPHOT.2015.2412459.
- [117] Ueda, T.; Ishida, M.; Yuri, M. Separation of Thin GaN from Sapphire by Laser Lift-Off Technique. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* **2011**, *50*, 041001, doi:10.1143/JJAP.50.041001.
- [118] Park, S.S.; Park, I.-W.; Choh, S.H. Freestanding GaN Substrates by Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 2000, 39, L1141, doi:10.1143/JJAP.39.L1141.
- [119] Yulianto, N.; Refino, A.D.; Syring, A.; Majid, N.; Mariana, S.; Schnell, P.; Wahyuono, R.A.; Triyana, K.; Meierhofer, F.; Daum, W.; et al. Wafer-Scale Transfer Route for Top-down III-Nitride Nanowire LED Arrays Based on the Femtosecond Laser Lift-off Technique. *Microsyst Nanoeng* 2021, 7, 1–15, doi:10.1038/s41378-021-00257-y.
- [120] Chang, T.-M.; Fang, H.-K.; Liao, C.; Hsu, W.-Y.; Wu, Y.S. Laser Lift-Off Mechanisms of GaN Epi-Layer Grown on Pattern Sapphire Substrate. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 2014, 4, R20, doi:10.1149/2.0101502jss.
- [121] Wang, Q.; Liu, Y.; Sun, Y.; Tong, Y.; Zhang, G. Fabrication of Extremely Thermal-Stable GaN Template on Mo Substrate Using Double Bonding and Step Annealing Process*. J. Semicond. 2016, 37, 083001, doi:10.1088/1674-4926/37/8/083001.
- [122] Miskys, C.R.; Kelly, M.K.; Ambacher, O.; Stutzmann, M. Freestanding GaN-Substrates and Devices. *physica status solidi (c)* 2003, *n/a*, 1627–1650, doi:10.1002/pssc.200303140.
- [123] Xu, K.; Wang, J.-F.; Ren, G.-Q. Progress in Bulk GaN Growth*. Chinese Phys. B 2015, 24, 066105, doi:10.1088/1674-1056/24/6/066105.
- [124] Delmdahl, R.; Pätzel, R.; Brune, J. Large-Area Laser-Lift-Off Processing in Microelectronics. *Physics Procedia* 2013, 41, 241–248, doi:10.1016/j.phpro.2013.03.075.
- [125] Kelly, M.K.K.M.K.; Vaudo, R.P.V.R.P.; Phanse, V.M.P.V.M.; Görgens, L.G.L.; Ambacher, O.A.O.; Stutzmann, M.S.M. Large Freestanding GaN Substrates by Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy and Laser-Induced Liftoff. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 1999, 38, L217, doi:10.1143/JJAP.38.L217.
- [126] Kobayashi, Y.; Kumakura, K.; Akasaka, T.; Makimoto, T. Layered Boron Nitride as a Release Layer for Mechanical Transfer of GaN-Based Devices. *Nature* 2012, 484, 223–227, doi:10.1038/nature10970.
- [127] Kim, J.; Bayram, C.; Park, H.; Cheng, C.-W.; Dimitrakopoulos, C.; Ott, J.A.; Reuter, K.B.; Bedell, S.W.; Sadana, D.K. Principle of Direct van Der Waals Epitaxy of Single-Crystalline Films on Epitaxial Graphene. *Nat Commun* 2014, *5*, 4836, doi:10.1038/ncomms5836.

- [128] Koma, A.; Sunouchi, K.; Miyajima, T. Fabrication and Characterization of Heterostructures with Subnanometer Thickness. *Microelectronic Engineering* 1984, 2, 129–136, doi:10.1016/0167-9317(84)90057-1.
- [129] Novoselov, K.S.; Geim, A.K.; Morozov, S.V.; Jiang, D.; Zhang, Y.; Dubonos, S.V.; Grigorieva, I.V.; Firsov, A.A. Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films. *Science* 2004, *306*, 666–669, doi:10.1126/science.1102896.
- [130] Geim, A.K.; Novoselov, K.S. The Rise of Graphene. Nature Mater 2007, 6, 183– 191, doi:10.1038/nmat1849.
- [131] Meyer, J.C.; Geim, A.K.; Katsnelson, M.I.; Novoselov, K.S.; Booth, T.J.; Roth, S. The Structure of Suspended Graphene Sheets. *Nature* 2007, 446, 60–63, doi:10.1038/nature05545.
- [132] Momeni, K.; Ji, Y.; Wang, Y.; Paul, S.; Neshani, S.; Yilmaz, D.E.; Shin, Y.K.; Zhang, D.; Jiang, J.-W.; Park, H.S.; et al. Multiscale Computational Understanding and Growth of 2D Materials: A Review. *npj Comput Mater* 2020, *6*, 1–18, doi:10.1038/s41524-020-0280-2.
- [133] Tang, L.; Tan, J.; Nong, H.; Liu, B.; Cheng, H.-M. Chemical Vapor Deposition Growth of Two-Dimensional Compound Materials: Controllability, Material Quality, and Growth Mechanism. Acc. Mater. Res. 2021, 2, 36–47, doi:10.1021/accountsmr.0c00063.
- [134] Wu, C.; Soomro, A.M.; Sun, F.; Wang, H.; Huang, Y.; Wu, J.; Liu, C.; Yang, X.; Gao, N.; Chen, X.; et al. Large-Roll Growth of 25-Inch Hexagonal BN Monolayer Film for Self-Release Buffer Layer of Freestanding GaN Wafer. *Sci Rep* 2016, *6*, 34766, doi:10.1038/srep34766.
- [135] Wang, L.; Yang, S.; Gao, Y.; Yang, J.; Duo, Y.; Song, S.; Yan, J.; Wang, J.; Li, J.; Wei, T. Quasi-van Der Waals Epitaxy of a Stress-Released AlN Film on Thermally Annealed Hexagonal BN for Deep Ultraviolet Light-Emitting Diodes. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2023, 15, 23501–23511, doi:10.1021/acsami.3c03438.
- [136] Alaskar, Y.; Arafin, S.; Wickramaratne, D.; Zurbuchen, M.A.; He, L.; McKay, J.; Lin, Q.; Goorsky, M.S.; Lake, R.K.; Wang, K.L. Towards van Der Waals Epitaxial Growth of GaAs on Si Using a Graphene Buffer Layer. *Advanced Functional Materials* 2014, 24, 6629–6638, doi:10.1002/adfm.201400960.
- [137] Yoo, J.; Ahmed, T.; Chen, R.; Chen, A.; Kim, Y.H.; Kwon, K.C.; Park, C.W.; Kang, H.S.; Jang, H.W.; Hong, Y.J.; et al. Enhanced Nucleation of Germanium on Graphene: Via Dipole Engineering. *Nanoscale* 2018, 10, 5689–5694, doi:10.1039/c7nr06684h.
- [138] XIAO, W.; YAN, Z.; KUSHVAHA, S.S.; XU, M.; WANG, X.-S. DIFFERENT GROWTH BEHAVIOR OF Ge, AI AND Sb ON GRAPHITE. Surface Review and Letters 2012, doi:10.1142/S0218625X06008025.
- [139] Manzo, S.; Strohbeen, P.J.; Lim, Z.H.; Saraswat, V.; Du, D.; Xu, S.; Pokharel, N.; Mawst, L.J.; Arnold, M.S.; Kawasaki, J.K. Pinhole-Seeded Lateral Epitaxy and Exfoliation of GaSb Films on Graphene-Terminated Surfaces. *Nature Communications 2022 13:1* 2022, *13*, 1–9, doi:10.1038/s41467-022-31610-y.
- [140] Wang, Y.; Qu, Y.; Xu, Y.; Li, D.; Lu, Z.; Li, J.; Su, X.; Wang, G.; Shi, L.; Zeng, X.; et al. Modulation of Remote Epitaxial Heterointerface by Graphene-Assisted Attenuative Charge Transfer. ACS Nano 2023, 17, 4023–4033, doi:10.1021/acsnano.3c00026.

- [141] Kum, H.S.; Lee, H.; Kim, S.; Lindemann, S.; Kong, W.; Qiao, K.; Chen, P.; Irwin, J.; Lee, J.H.; Xie, S.; et al. Heterogeneous Integration of Single-Crystalline Complex-Oxide Membranes. *Nature* 2020 578:7793 2020, 578, 75–81, doi:10.1038/s41586-020-1939-z.
- [142] Qiao, K.; Liu, Y.; Kim, C.; Molnar, R.J.; Osadchy, T.; Li, W.; Sun, X.; Li, H.; Myers-Ward, R.L.; Lee, D.; et al. Graphene Buffer Layer on SiC as a Release Layer for High-Quality Freestanding Semiconductor Membranes. *Nano Lett.* 2021, 21, 4013–4020, doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c00673.
- [143] Kim, H.; Liu, Y.; Lu, K.; Chang, C.S.; Sung, D.; Akl, M.; Qiao, K.; Kim, K.S.; Park, B.-I.; Zhu, M.; et al. High-Throughput Manufacturing of Epitaxial Membranes from a Single Wafer by 2D Materials-Based Layer Transfer Process. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2023, 18, 464–470, doi:10.1038/s41565-023-01340-3.
- [144] Bae, S.H.; Kum, H.; Kong, W.; Kim, Y.; Choi, C.; Lee, B.; Lin, P.; Park, Y.; Kim, J. Integration of Bulk Materials with Two-Dimensional Materials for Physical Coupling and Applications. *Nature Materials* 2019, 18, 550–560, doi:10.1038/s41563-019-0335-2.
- [145] Kim, H.; Lu, K.; Liu, Y.; Kum, H.S.; Kim, K.S.; Qiao, K.; Bae, S.H.; Lee, S.; Ji, Y.J.; Kim, K.H.; et al. Impact of 2D-3D Heterointerface on Remote Epitaxial Interaction through Graphene. ACS Nano 2021, 15, 10587–10596, doi:10.1021/ACSNANO.1C03296/SUPPL_FILE/NN1C03296_SI_001.PDF.
- [146] Sitek, J.; Plocharski, J.; Pasternak, I.; Gertych, A.P.; McAleese, C.; Conran, B.R.; Zdrojek, M.; Strupinski, W. Substrate-Induced Variances in Morphological and Structural Properties of MoS2 Grown by Chemical Vapor Deposition on Epitaxial Graphene and SiO2. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2020, 12, 45101–45110, doi:10.1021/acsami.0c06173.
- [147] Kim, H.; Lee, S.; Shin, J.; Zhu, M.; Akl, M.; Lu, K.; Han, N.M.; Baek, Y.; Chang, C.S.; Suh, J.M.; et al. Graphene Nanopattern as a Universal Epitaxy Platform for Single-Crystal Membrane Production and Defect Reduction. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2022, 17, 1054–1059, doi:10.1038/s41565-022-01200-6.
- [148] Diallo, T.M.; Hanuš, T.; Patriarche, G.; Ruediger, A.; Boucherif, A. Unraveling the Heterointegration of 3D Semiconductors on Graphene by Anchor Point Nucleation. *Small* 2024, 20, 2306038, doi:10.1002/smll.202306038.
- [149] Bedell, S.W.; Fogel, K.; Lauro, P.; Shahrjerdi, D.; Ott, J.A.; Sadana, D. Layer Transfer by Controlled Spalling. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 2013, 46, 152002, doi:10.1088/0022-3727/46/15/152002.
- [150] Bedell, S.W.; Shahrjerdi, D.; Hekmatshoar, B.; Fogel, K.; Lauro, P.A.; Ott, J.A.; Sosa, N.; Sadana, D. Kerf-Less Removal of Si, Ge, and III–V Layers by Controlled Spalling to Enable Low-Cost PV Technologies. *IEEE J. Photovoltaics* 2012, 2, 141– 147, doi:10.1109/JPHOTOV.2012.2184267.
- [151] Dross, F.; Robbelein, J.; Vandevelde, B.; Van Kerschaver, E.; Gordon, I.; Beaucarne, G.; Poortmans, J. Stress-Induced Large-Area Lift-off of Crystalline Si Films. *Appl. Phys. A* 2007, *89*, 149–152, doi:10.1007/s00339-007-4195-2.
- [152] Kwon, Y.; Yang, C.; Yoon, S.-H.; Um, H.-D.; Lee, J.-H.; Yoo, B. Spalling of a Thin Si Layer by Electrodeposit-Assisted Stripping. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2013, *6*, 116502, doi:10.7567/APEX.6.116502.

- [153] Crouse, D.; Simon, J.; Schulte, K.L.; Young, D.L.; Ptak, A.J.; Packard, C.E. Increased Fracture Depth Range in Controlled Spalling of (100)-Oriented Germanium via Electroplating. *Thin Solid Films* 2018, 649, 154–159, doi:10.1016/j.tsf.2018.01.031.
- [154] Chen, J.; Chenenko, J.; Packard, C.E. Impacts of Mode Mixity on Controlled Spalling of (100)-Oriented Germanium. JOM 2021, 73, 1607–1616, doi:10.1007/s11837-021-04639-5.
- [155] Sweet, C.A.; Schulte, K.L.; Simon, J.D.; Steiner, M.A.; Jain, N.; Young, D.L.; Ptak, A.J.; Packard, C.E. Controlled Exfoliation of (100) GaAs-Based Devices by Spalling Fracture. *Applied Physics Letters* 2016, *108*, 011906, doi:10.1063/1.4939661.
- [156] Park, H.; Won, H.; Lim, C.; Zhang, Y.; Han, W.S.; Bae, S.-B.; Lee, C.-J.; Noh, Y.; Lee, J.; Lee, J.; et al. Layer-Resolved Release of Epitaxial Layers in III-V Heterostructure via a Buffer-Free Mechanical Separation Technique. *Science Advances* 2022, 8, eabl 6406, doi:10.1126/sciadv.abl6406.
- [157] Bedell, S.W.; Lauro, P.; Ott, J.A.; Fogel, K.; Sadana, D.K. Layer Transfer of Bulk Gallium Nitride by Controlled Spalling. *Journal of Applied Physics* 2017, 122, 025103, doi:10.1063/1.4986646.
- [158] Shahrjerdi, D.; Bedell, S.W.; Bayram, C.; Lubguban, C.C.; Fogel, K.; Lauro, P.; Ott, J.A.; Hopstaken, M.; Gayness, M.; Sadana, D. Ultralight High-Efficiency Flexible InGaP/(In)GaAs Tandem Solar Cells on Plastic. *Advanced Energy Materials* 2013, 3, 566–571, doi:10.1002/aenm.201200827.
- [159] Shahrjerdi, D.; Bedell, S.W.; Ebert, C.; Bayram, C.; Hekmatshoar, B.; Fogel, K.; Lauro, P.; Gaynes, M.; Gokmen, T.; Ott, J.A.; et al. High-Efficiency Thin-Film InGaP/InGaAs/Ge Tandem Solar Cells Enabled by Controlled Spalling Technology. *Applied Physics Letters* 2012, 100, 053901, doi:10.1063/1.3681397.
- [160] Mangum, J.S.; Rice, A.D.; Chen, J.; Chenenko, J.; Wong, E.W.K.; Braun, A.K.; Johnston, S.; Guthrey, H.; Geisz, J.F.; Ptak, A.J.; et al. High-Efficiency Solar Cells Grown on Spalled Germanium for Substrate Reuse without Polishing. *Advanced Energy Materials* 2022, *12*, 2201332, doi:10.1002/aenm.202201332.
- Bedell, S.W.; Bayram, C.; Fogel, K.; Lauro, P.; Kiser, J.; Ott, J.; Zhu, Y.; Sadana, D. Vertical Light-Emitting Diode Fabrication by Controlled Spalling. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2013, *6*, 112301, doi:10.7567/APEX.6.112301.
- [162] Shahrjerdi, D.; Bedell, S.W. Extremely Flexible Nanoscale Ultrathin Body Silicon Integrated Circuits on Plastic. Nano Lett. 2013, 13, 315–320, doi:10.1021/nl304310x.
- [163] Park, H.; Lim, C.; Noh, Y.; Lee, C.-J.; Won, H.; Jung, J.; Choi, M.; Kim, J.-J.; Yoo, H.; Park, H. Investigation of Electrical Characteristics of Flexible CMOS Devices Fabricated with Thickness-Controlled Spalling Process. *Solid-State Electronics* 2020, 173, 107901, doi:10.1016/j.sse.2020.107901.
- [164] Braun, A.K.; Boyer, J.T.; Schulte, K.L.; McMahon, W.E.; Simon, J.; Perna, A.N.; Packard, C.E.; Ptak, A.J. 24% Single-Junction GaAs Solar Cell Grown Directly on Growth-Planarized Facets Using Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy. *Advanced Energy Materials* 2024, 14, 2302035, doi:10.1002/aenm.202302035.
- [165] Ghyselen, B.; Navone, C.; Martinez, M.; Sanchez, L.; Lecouvey, C.; Montmayeul, B.; Servant, F.; Maitrejean, S.; Radu, I. Large-Diameter III–V on Si Substrates by

the Smart Cut Process: The 200 Mm InP Film on Si Substrate Example. *physica status solidi (a)* **2022**, *219*, 2100543, doi:10.1002/pssa.202100543.

- [166] Radu, I.; Boussagol, A.; Barthelemy, A.; Vincent, S. Fundamentals of Wafer Bonding for SOI: From Physical Mechanisms Towards Advanced Modeling. *ECS Trans.* 2008, 16, 349, doi:10.1149/1.2982887.
- [167] Aspar, B.; Lagahe, C.; Moriceau, H.; Soubie, A.; Jalaguier, E.; Biasse, B.; Papon, A.; Chabli, A.; Claverie, A.; Grisolia, J.; et al. Smart-Cut(R) Process: An Original Way to Obtain Thin Films by Ion Implantation. In Proceedings of the 2000 International Conference on Ion Implantation Technology Proceedings. Ion Implantation Technology - 2000 (Cat. No.00EX432); September 2000; pp. 255–260.
- [168] Smart CutTM Soitec Available online: https://www.soitec.com/en/products/smartcut (accessed on 10 September 2023).
- [169] Jouanneau, T.; Bogumilowicz, Y.; Gergaud, P.; Delaye, V.; Barnes, J.-P.; Klinger, V.; Dimroth, F.; Tauzin, A.; Ghyselen, B.; Carron, V. Demonstration of Single Crystal GaAs Layers on CTE-Matched Substrates by the Smart Cut Technology. *ECS Trans.* 2012, 45, 159, doi:10.1149/1.3700466.
- [170] Kim, M.; Cho, S.J.; Dave, Y.J.; Mi, H.; Mikael, S.; Seo, J.-H.; Yoon, J.U.; Ma, Z. Fabrication of Ge-on-Insulator Wafers by Smart-CutTM with Thermal Management for Undamaged Donor Ge Wafers. *Semicond. Sci. Technol.* 2017, 33, 015017, doi:10.1088/1361-6641/aa9bcd.
- [171] Yu, X.; Kang, J.; Zhang, R.; Takenaka, M.; Takagi, S. Characterization of Ultrathin-Body Germanium-on-Insulator (GeOI) Structures and MOSFETs on Flipped Smart-CutTM GeOI Substrates. *Solid-State Electronics* 2016, 115, 120–125, doi:10.1016/j.sse.2015.08.021.
- [172] Di Cioccio, L.; Letertre, F.; Le Tiec, Y.; Papon, A.M.; Jaussaud, C.; Bruel, M. Silicon Carbide on Insulator Formation by the Smart-Cut® Process. *Materials Science and Engineering: B* 1997, 46, 349–356, doi:10.1016/S0921-5107(96)02004-1.
- [173] Huang, K.; Jia, Q.; You, T.; Zhang, R.; Lin, J.; Zhang, S.; Zhou, M.; Zhang, B.; Yu, W.; Ou, X.; et al. Investigation on Thermodynamics of Ion-Slicing of GaN and Heterogeneously Integrating High-Quality GaN Films on CMOS Compatible Si(100) Substrates. *Sci Rep* 2017, 7, 15017, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-15094-1.
- [174] Iwinska, M.; Amilusik, M.; Fijalkowski, M.; Sochacki, T.; Lucznik, B.; Grzanka, E.; Litwin-Staszewska, E.; Weyher, J.L.; Nowakowska-Siwinska, A.; Muziol, G.; et al. HVPE-GaN Growth on GaN-Based Advanced Substrates by Smart CutTM. *Journal of Crystal Growth* 2016, 456, 73–79, doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2016.08.060.
- [175] Dadwal, U.; Scholz, R.; Reiche, M.; Kumar, P.; Chandra, S.; Singh, R. Effect of Implantation Temperature on the Blistering Behavior of Hydrogen Implanted GaN. *Appl. Phys. A* 2013, *112*, 451–456, doi:10.1007/s00339-012-7429-x.
- [176] Chung, R.B.-K.; Kim, D.; Lim, S.-K.; Choi, J.-S.; Kim, K.-J.; Lee, B.-H.; Jung, K.S.; Kim-Lee, H.-J.; Lee, W.J.; Park, B.; et al. Layer-Transferred GaN Template by Ion Cut for Nitride-Based Light-Emitting Diodes. *Appl. Phys. Express* 2013, 6, 111005, doi:10.7567/APEX.6.111005.
- [177] Tapily, K.; Moutanabbir, O.; Abdullah, M.; Gu, D.; Baumgart, H.; Elmustafa, A. Hydrogen Ion-Induced AlN Thin Layer Transfer: An Elastomechanical Study. ECS Trans. 2010, 33, 255, doi:10.1149/1.3483515.

- [178] Min Lee, S.; Hwan Yum, J.; Larsen, E.S.; Chul Lee, W.; Keun Kim, S.; Bielawski, C.W.; Oh, J. Advanced Silicon-on-Insulator: Crystalline Silicon on Atomic Layer Deposited Beryllium Oxide. *Sci Rep* 2017, 7, 13205, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13693-6.
- [179] Tanaka, A.; Sugiura, R.; Kawaguchi, D.; Yui, T.; Wani, Y.; Aratani, T.; Watanabe, H.; Sena, H.; Honda, Y.; Igasaki, Y.; et al. Smart-Cut-like Laser Slicing of GaN Substrate Using Its Own Nitrogen. *Sci Rep* 2021, *11*, 17949, doi:10.1038/s41598-021-97159-w.
- [180] Mizushima, I.; Sato, T.; Taniguchi, S.; Tsunashima, Y. Empty-Space-in-Silicon Technique for Fabricating a Silicon-on-Nothing Structure. *Applied Physics Letters* 2000, 77, 3290–3292, doi:10.1063/1.1324987.
- [181] Sudoh, K.; Iwasaki, H.; Hiruta, R.; Kuribayashi, H.; Shimizu, R. Void Shape Evolution and Formation of Silicon-on-Nothing Structures during Hydrogen Annealing of Hole Arrays on Si(001). *Journal of Applied Physics* 2009, 105, 083536, doi:10.1063/1.3116545.
- [182] Park, S.; Simon, J.; Schulte, K.L.; Ptak, A.J.; Wi, J.-S.; Young, D.L.; Oh, J. Germanium-on-Nothing for Epitaxial Liftoff of GaAs Solar Cells. *Joule* 2019, *3*, 1782–1793, doi:10.1016/j.joule.2019.05.013.
- [183] Depauw, V.; Porret, C.; Moelants, M.; Vecchio, E.; Kennes, K.; Han, H.; Loo, R.; Cho, J.; Courtois, G.; Kurstjens, R.; et al. Wafer-Scale Ge Epitaxial Foils Grown at High Growth Rates and Released from Porous Substrates for Triple-Junction Solar Cells. *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications n/a*, doi:10.1002/pip.3634.
- [184] Ali, N.K.; Hashim, M.R.; Aziz, A.A.; Hassan, H.A.; Ismail, J. Formation of Porous GaAs by Pulsed Current Electrochemical Anodization: SEM, XRD, Raman, and Photoluminescence Studies. *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.* 2009, 12, K9, doi:10.1149/1.3059005.
- [185] Bioud, Y.A.; Boucherif, A.; Belarouci, A.; Paradis, E.; Drouin, D.; Arès, R. Chemical Composition of Nanoporous Layer Formed by Electrochemical Etching of P-Type GaAs. *Nanoscale Res Lett* 2016, *11*, 446, doi:10.1186/s11671-016-1642z.
- [186] Ben Khalifa, S.; Gruzza, B.; Robert-Goumet, C.; Bremond, G.; Hjiri, M.; Saidi, F.; Bideux, L.; Bèji, L.; Maaref, H. Morphology and Optical Properties of P-Type Porous GaAs(100) Layers Made by Electrochemical Etching. *Journal of Luminescence* 2008, 128, 1611–1616, doi:10.1016/j.jlumin.2008.03.008.
- [187] Monaico, E.I.; Monaico, E.V.; Ursaki, V.V.; Honnali, S.; Postolache, V.; Leistner, K.; Nielsch, K.; Tiginyanu, I.M. Electrochemical Nanostructuring of (111) Oriented GaAs Crystals: From Porous Structures to Nanowires. *Beilstein J Nanotechnol* 2020, *11*, 966–975, doi:10.3762/bjnano.11.81.
- [188] Md Taib, M.I.; Zainal, N.; Hassan, Z. Improvement of Porous GaAs (100) Structure through Electrochemical Etching Based on DMF Solution. *Journal of Nanomaterials* 2014, 2014, e294385, doi:10.1155/2014/294385.
- [189] Wang, S.; Huang, Q.; Guo, R.; Xu, J.; Lin, H.; Cao, J. Study on the Layering Phenomenon of SiC Porous Layer Fabricated by Constant Current Electrochemical Etching. *Nanotechnology* 2020, *31*, 205702, doi:10.1088/1361-6528/ab704a.

- [190] Cao, D.T.; Anh, C.T.; Ha, N.T.T.; Ha, H.T.; Huy, B.; Hoa, P.T.M.; Duong, P.H.; Ngan, N.T.T.; Dai, N.X. Effect of Electrochemical Etching Solution Composition on Properties of Porous SiC Film. J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 2009, 187, 012023, doi:10.1088/1742-6596/187/1/012023.
- [191] Yang, S.; Zhao, S.; Chen, J.; Li, Y.; Yan, G.; Guan, M.; Zhang, Y.; Sun, G.; Zeng, Y.; Liu, X. Electrochemical Etching Modes of 4H-SiC in KOH Solutions. *Semicond. Sci. Technol.* 2023, 38, 055019, doi:10.1088/1361-6641/acca41.
- [192] Newby, P.; Bluet, J.-M.; Aimez, V.; Fréchette, L.G.; Lysenko, V. Structural Properties of Porous 6H Silicon Carbide. *physica status solidi c* 2011, *8*, 1950–1953, doi:10.1002/pssc.201000222.
- [193] Yam, F.K.; Hassan, Z.; Ng, S.S. Porous GaN Prepared by UV Assisted Electrochemical Etching. *Thin Solid Films* 2007, 515, 3469–3474, doi:10.1016/j.tsf.2006.10.104.
- [194] Tseng, W.J.; van Dorp, D.H.; Lieten, R.R.; Vereecken, P.M.; Borghs, G. Anodic Etching of N-GaN Epilayer into Porous GaN and Its Photoelectrochemical Properties. J. Phys. Chem. C 2014, 118, 29492–29498, doi:10.1021/jp508314q.
- [195] Son, H.; Uthirakumar, P.; Polyakov, A.Y.; Park, J.H.; Lee, K.H.; Lee, I.-H. Impact of Porosity on the Structural and Optoelectronic Properties of Nanoporous GaN Double Layer Fabricated via Combined Electrochemical and Photoelectrochemical Etching. *Applied Surface Science* 2022, 592, 153248, doi:10.1016/j.apsusc.2022.153248.
- [196] Shushanian, A.; Iida, D.; Zhuang, Z.; Han, Y.; Ohkawa, K. Analysis of the N-GaN Electrochemical Etching Process and Its Mechanism in Oxalic Acid. *RSC Adv.* 2022, *12*, 4648–4655, doi:10.1039/D1RA07992A.
- [197] Griffin, P.H.; Oliver, R.A. Porous Nitride Semiconductors Reviewed. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 2020, 53, 383002, doi:10.1088/1361-6463/ab9570.
- [198] Liu, J.; Cui, J.; Xiao, H. Electrochemical Etching of N-Type GaN in Different Electrolytes. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds* 2024, 983, 173846, doi:10.1016/j.jallcom.2024.173846.
- [199] Al-Heuseen, K.; Hashim, M.R.; Ali, N.K. Effect of Different Electrolytes on Porous GaN Using Photo-Electrochemical Etching. *Applied Surface Science* 2011, 257, 6197–6201, doi:10.1016/j.apsusc.2011.02.031.
- [200] Leisner, M.; Carstensen, J.; Föll, H. Pores in N-Type InP: A Model System for Electrochemical Pore Etching. *Nanoscale Res Lett* 2010, 5, 1190–1194, doi:10.1007/s11671-010-9624-z.
- [201] Cao, D.; Wang, B.; Lu, D.; Zhou, X.; Ma, X. Preparation and Novel Photoluminescence Properties of the Self-Supporting Nanoporous InP Thin Films. *Sci Rep* 2020, 10, 20564, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-77651-5.
- [202] Buckley, D.N.; Quill, N.; O'Dwyer, C.; Lynch, R.P. Etching Mechanisms in III-V Semiconductors: Electrochemical Etching of Indium Phosphide. *ECS Trans.* 2019, 92, 1, doi:10.1149/09206.0001ecst.
- [203] Bioud, Y.A.; Boucherif, A.; Belarouci, A.; Paradis, E.; Fafard, S.; Aimez, V.; Drouin, D.; Arès, R. Fast Growth Synthesis of Mesoporous Germanium Films by High Frequency Bipolar Electrochemical Etching. *Electrochimica Acta* 2017, 232, 422–430, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2017.02.115.

- [204] Rojas, E.G.; Plagwitz, H.; Terheiden, B.; Hensen, J.; Baur, C.; Roche, G.L.; Strobl, G.F.X.; Brendel, R. Mesoporous Germanium Formation by Electrochemical Etching. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2009, 156, D310, doi:10.1149/1.3147271.
- [205] Tutashkonko, S.; Boucherif, A.; Nychyporuk, T.; Kaminski-Cachopo, A.; Arès, R.; Lemiti, M.; Aimez, V. Mesoporous Germanium Formed by Bipolar Electrochemical Etching. *Electrochimica Acta* 2013, 88, 256–262, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2012.10.031.
- [206] Fang, C.; Föll, H.; Carstensen, J.; Langa, S. Electrochemical Pore Etching in Ge-An Overview. *phys. stat. sol. (a)* 2007, 204, 1292–1296, doi:10.1002/pssa.200674312.
- [207] Choi, H.C.; Buriak, J.M. Preparation and Functionalization of Hydride Terminated Porous Germanium. *Chem. Commun.* **2000**, 1669–1670, doi:10.1039/b004011h.
- [208] Fang, C.; Föll, H.; Carstensen, J. Electrochemical Pore Etching in Germanium. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry 2006, 589, 259–288, doi:10.1016/j.jelechem.2006.02.021.
- [209] Hanuš, T.; Mouchel, L.; Ilahi, B.; Dupuy, A.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Boucherif, A. Potential Monitoring during Ge Electrochemical Etching: Towards Tunable Double Porosity Layers. *Electrochimica Acta* 2024, 474, 143529, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2023.143529.
- [210] Boucherif, A.; Korinek, A.; Aimez, V.; Arès, R. Near-Infrared Emission from Mesoporous Crystalline Germanium. *AIP Advances* 2014, 4, 107128, doi:10.1063/1.4898643.
- [211] Tutashkonko, S.; Alekseev, S.; Nychyporuk, T. Nanoscale Morphology Tuning of Mesoporous Ge: Electrochemical Mechanisms. *Electrochimica Acta* 2015, 180, 545–554, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2015.08.112.
- [212] Dupuy, A.; Aziziyan, M.R.; Machon, D.; Arès, R.; Boucherif, A. Anisotropic Mesoporous Germanium Nanostructures by Fast Bipolar Electrochemical Etching. *Electrochimica* Acta 2021, 378, 137935, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2021.137935.
- [213] Schreiber, W.; Liu, T.; Janz, S. The Effect of Passivation to Etching Duration Ratio on Bipolar Electrochemical Etching of Porous Layer Stacks in Germanium. *Journal* of *Physics and Chemistry of Solids* 2023, 176, 111265, doi:10.1016/j.jpcs.2023.111265.
- [214] Boucherif, A.; Beaudin, G.; Aimez, V.; Arès, R. Mesoporous Germanium Morphology Transformation for Lift-off Process and Substrate Reuse. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2013, 102, 011915, doi:10.1063/1.4775357.
- [215] Shishkin, Y.; Ke, Y.; Yan, F.; Devaty, R.P.; Choyke, W.J.; Saddow, S.E. CVD Epitaxial Growth of 4H-SiC on Porous SiC Substrates. *Materials Science Forum* 2006, 527–529, 255–258, doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.527-529.255.
- [216] Winter, E.; Schreiber, W.; Schygulla, P.; Souza, P.L.; Janz, S.; Lackner, D.; Ohlmann, J. III-V Material Growth on Electrochemically Porosified Ge Substrates. *Journal of Crystal Growth* 2023, 602, 126980, doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2022.126980.
- [217] Kou, X.; Machness, A.; Paluch, E.; Goorsky, M. Homoepitaxial Growth of InP on Electrochemical Etched Porous InP Surface. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 2018, 7, P269, doi:10.1149/2.0161805jss.

- [218] Zhang, Y.; Leung, B.; Han, J. A Liftoff Process of GaN Layers and Devices through Nanoporous Transformation. *Applied Physics Letters* 2012, 100, 181908, doi:10.1063/1.4711218.
- [219] Ishikawa, H.; Shimanaka, K.; Tokura, F.; Hayashi, Y.; Hara, Y.; Nakanishi, M. MOCVD Growth of GaN on Porous Silicon Substrates. *Journal of Crystal Growth* 2008, 310, 4900–4903, doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2008.08.030.
- [220] Mbeunmi, A.B.P.; El-Gahouchi, M.; Arvinte, R.; Jaouad, A.; Cheriton, R.; Wilkins, M.; Valdivia, C.E.; Hinzer, K.; Fafard, S.; Aimez, V.; et al. Direct Growth of GaAs Solar Cells on Si Substrate via Mesoporous Si Buffer. *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells* 2020, 217, 110641, doi:10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110641.
- [221] Heintz, A.; Ilahi, B.; Pofelski, A.; Botton, G.; Patriarche, G.; Barzaghi, A.; Fafard, S.; Arès, R.; Isella, G.; Boucherif, A. Defect Free Strain Relaxation of Microcrystals on Mesoporous Patterned Silicon. *Nat Commun* 2022, *13*, 6624, doi:10.1038/s41467-022-34288-4.
- [222] Liu, L.; Zhang, X.; Wang, S.; Wang, G.; Yu, J.; Hu, X.; Xu, Q.; Xu, X.; Zhang, L. Nucleation Mechanism of GaN Crystal Growth on Porous GaN/Sapphire Substrates. *CrystEngComm* 2022, 24, 1840–1848, doi:10.1039/D2CE00017B.
- [223] Beattie, M.N.; Bioud, Y.A.; Hobson, D.G.; Boucherif, A.; Valdivia, C.E.; Drouin, D.; Arès, R.; Hinzer, K. Tunable Conductivity in Mesoporous Germanium. *Nanotechnology* 2018, 29, 215701, doi:10.1088/1361-6528/aab3f7.
- [224] Ward, J.S.; Remo, T.; Horowitz, K.; Woodhouse, M.; Sopori, B.; VanSant, K.; Basore, P. Techno-Economic Analysis of Three Different Substrate Removal and Reuse Strategies for III-V Solar Cells. *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications* 2016, 24, 1284–1292, doi:10.1002/pip.2776.
- [225] Steckenreiter, V.; Hensen, J.; Knorr, A.; Kajari-Schröder, S.; Brendel, R. Reuse of Substrate Wafers for the Porous Silicon Layer Transfer. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* 2016, 6, 783–790, doi:10.1109/JPHOTOV.2016.2545406.
- [226] Chapotot, A.; Ilahi, B.; Hanuš, T.; Hamon, G.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Darnon, M.; Boucherif, A. Sequential Fabrication of Multiple Ge Nanomembranes from a Single Wafer: Towards Sustainable Recycling of Ge Substrates. *Sustainable Materials and Technologies* 2024, 39, e00806, doi:10.1016/j.susmat.2023.e00806.
- [227] Ruzmetov, D.; Zhang, K.; Stan, G.; Kalanyan, B.; Bhimanapati, G.R.; Eichfeld, S.M.; Burke, R.A.; Shah, P.B.; O'Regan, T.P.; Crowne, F.J.; et al. Vertical 2D/3D Semiconductor Heterostructures Based on Epitaxial Molybdenum Disulfide and Gallium Nitride. ACS Nano 2016, 10, 3580–3588, doi:10.1021/ACSNANO.5B08008/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/NN-2015-08008K 0002.JPEG.
- [228] Koma, A. Van Der Waals Epitaxy-a New Epitaxial Growth Method for a Highly Lattice-Mismatched System. *Thin Solid Films* 1992, 216, 72–76, doi:10.1016/0040-6090(92)90872-9.
- [229] Hong, Y.J.; Fukui, T. Controlled van Der Waals Heteroepitaxy of InAs Nanowires on Carbon Honeycomb Lattices. ACS Nano 2011, 5, 7576–7584, doi:10.1021/nn2025786.
- [230] Mukherjee, S.; Nateghi, N.; Jacobberger, R.M.; Bouthillier, E.; de la Mata, M.; Arbiol, J.; Coenen, T.; Cardinal, D.; Levesque, P.; Desjardins, P.; et al. Growth and

Luminescence of Polytypic InP on Epitaxial Graphene. *Advanced Functional Materials* **2018**, doi:10.1002/adfm.201705592.

- [231] Periwal, P.; Thomsen, J.D.; Reidy, K.; Varnavides, G.; Zakharov, D.N.; Gignac, L.; Reuter, M.C.; Booth, T.J.; Hofmann, S.; Ross, F.M. Catalytically Mediated Epitaxy of 3D Semiconductors on van Der Waals Substrate. *Applied Physics Reviews* 2020, 7, doi:10.1063/5.0006300.
- [232] Diallo, T.M.; Aziziyan, M.R.; Arvinte, R.; Harmand, J.C.; Patriarche, G.; Renard, C.; Fafard, S.; Arès, R.; Boucherif, A. In-Situ Transmission Electron Microscopy Observation of Germanium Growth on Freestanding Graphene: Unfolding Mechanism of 3D Crystal Growth During Van Der Waals Epitaxy. *Small* 2021, 2101890, doi:10.1002/SMLL.202101890.
- [233] Wang, Y.; Kim, J.C.; Wu, R.J.; Martinez, J.; Song, X.; Yang, J.; Zhao, F.; Mkhoyan, A.; Jeong, H.Y.; Chhowalla, M. Van Der Waals Contacts between Three-Dimensional Metals and Two-Dimensional Semiconductors. *Nature* 2019, 568, 70– 74, doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1052-3.
- [234] Kong, W.; Li, H.; Qiao, K.; Kim, Y.; Lee, K.; Nie, Y.; Lee, D.; Osadchy, T.; Molnar, R.J.; Gaskill, D.K.; et al. Polarity Governs Atomic Interaction through Two-Dimensional Materials. *Nature Materials* 2018, 17, 999–1004, doi:10.1038/s41563-018-0176-4.
- [235] Journot, T.; Okuno, H.; Mollard, N.; Michon, A.; Dagher, R.; Gergaud, P.; Dijon, J.; Kolobov, A. V.; Hyot, B. Remote Epitaxy Using Graphene Enables Growth of Stress-Free GaN. *Nanotechnology* 2019, *30*, doi:10.1088/1361-6528/ab4501.
- [236] Emtsev, K.V.; Bostwick, A.; Horn, K.; Jobst, J.; Kellogg, G.L.; Ley, L.; McChesney, J.L.; Ohta, T.; Reshanov, S.A.; Röhrl, J.; et al. Towards Wafer-Size Graphene Layers by Atmospheric Pressure Graphitization of Silicon Carbide. *Nature Mater* 2009, *8*, 203–207, doi:10.1038/nmat2382.
- [237] Diallo, T.M.; Aziziyan, M.R.; Arvinte, R.; Arès, R.; Fafard, S.; Boucherif, A. CVD Growth of High-Quality Graphene over Ge (100) by Annihilation of Thermal Pits. *Carbon* 2021, 174, 214–226, doi:10.1016/J.CARBON.2020.12.024.
- [238] Heilmann, M.; Deinhart, V.; Tahraoui, A.; Höflich, K.; Lopes, J.M.J. Spatially Controlled Epitaxial Growth of 2D Heterostructures via Defect Engineering Using a Focused He Ion Beam. *npj 2D Materials and Applications 2021 5:1* 2021, *5*, 1–7, doi:10.1038/s41699-021-00250-z.
- [239] Zhang, F.; Wang, Y.; Erb, C.; Wang, K.; Moradifar, P.; Crespi, V.H.; Alem, N. Full Orientation Control of Epitaxial MoS2 on hBN Assisted by Substrate Defects. *Physical Review B* 2019, 99, 155430, doi:10.1103/PHYSREVB.99.155430/FIGURES/8/MEDIUM.
- [240] Shin, Y.J.; Wang, Y.; Huang, H.; Kalon, G.; Wee, A.T.S.; Shen, Z.; Bhatia, C.S.; Yang, H. Surface-Energy Engineering of Graphene. *Langmuir* 2010, 26, 3798– 3802, doi:10.1021/LA100231U/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/LA-2010-00231U 0005.JPEG.
- [241] Wei, T.; Hauke, F.; Hirsch, A.; Wei, T.; Hauke, F.; Hirsch, A. Evolution of Graphene Patterning: From Dimension Regulation to Molecular Engineering. *Advanced Materials* 2021, 33, 2104060, doi:10.1002/ADMA.202104060.
- [242] Ferrah, D.; Renault, O.; Marinov, D.; Arias-Zapata, J.; Chevalier, N.; Mariolle, D.; Rouchon, D.; Okuno, H.; Bouchiat, V.; Cunge, G. CF4/H2 Plasma Cleaning of

Graphene Regenerates Electronic Properties of the Pristine Material. *ACS Applied Nano* Materials **2019**, 2, 1356–1366, doi:10.1021/ACSANM.8B02249/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/AN-2018-02249E_M002.JPEG.

- [243] Cunge, G.; Ferrah, D.; Petit-Etienne, C.; Davydova, A.; Okuno, H.; Kalita, D.; Bouchiat, V.; Renault, O. Dry Efficient Cleaning of Poly-Methyl-Methacrylate Residues from Graphene with High-Density H2 and H2-N2 Plasmas. *Journal of Applied Physics* 2015, *118*, 123302, doi:10.1063/1.4931370.
- [244] Arias-Zapata, J.; Ferrah, D.; Mehedi, H.; Cunge, G.; Zelsmann, M. Effective Patterning and Cleaning of Graphene by Plasma Etching and Block Copolymer Lithography for Nanoribbon Fabrication. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology* A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films 2018, 36, 05G505, doi:10.1116/1.5035333.
- [245] Schwierz, F. Graphene Transistors. *Nature Nanotechnology 2010 5:7* 2010, 5, 487–496, doi:10.1038/nnano.2010.89.
- [246] Ferrari, A.C.; Basko, D.M. Raman Spectroscopy as a Versatile Tool for Studying the Properties of Graphene. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2013, *8*, 235–246, doi:10.1038/nnano.2013.46.
- [247] Tuinstra, F.; Koenig, J.L. Raman Spectrum of Graphite. *The Journal of Chemical Physics* **2003**, *53*, 1126–1130, doi:10.1063/1.1674108.
- [248] Cançado, L.G.; Jorio, A.; Ferreira, E.H.M.; Stavale, F.; Achete, C.A.; Capaz, R.B.; Moutinho, M.V.O.; Lombardo, A.; Kulmala, T.S.; Ferrari, A.C. Quantifying Defects in Graphene via Raman Spectroscopy at Different Excitation Energies. *Nano Letters* 2011, 11, 3190–3196, doi:10.1021/nl201432g.
- [249] Ferrari, A.; Robertson, J. Interpretation of Raman Spectra of Disordered and Amorphous Carbon. *Physical Review B* 2000, 61, 14095, doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.61.14095.
- [250] Turchanin, A.; Weber, D.; Büenfeld, M.; Kisielowski, C.; Fistul, M.V.; Efetov, K.B.; Weimann, T.; Stosch, R.; Mayer, J.; Gölzhäuser, A. Conversion of Self-Assembled Monolayers into Nanocrystalline Graphene: Structure and Electric Transport. ACS Nano 2011, 5, 3896–3904, doi:10.1021/nn200297n.
- [251] Yu, Y.; Wang, T.; Chen, X.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Y.; Niu, Y.; Yu, J.; Ma, H.; Li, X.; Liu, F.; et al. Demonstration of Epitaxial Growth of Strain-Relaxed GaN Films on Graphene/SiC Substrates for Long Wavelength Light-Emitting Diodes. *Light: Science & Applications 2021 10:1* 2021, *10*, 1–8, doi:10.1038/s41377-021-00560-3.
- [252] Hanuš, T.; Arias-Zapata, J.; Ilahi, B.; Provost, P.-O.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Boucherif, A. Large-Scale Formation of Uniform Porous Ge Nanostructures with Tunable Physical Properties. *Advanced Materials Interfaces* 2023, 10, 2202495, doi:10.1002/admi.202202495.
- [253] Ngo, T.H.; Gil, B.; Shubina, T.V.; Damilano, B.; Vezian, S.; Valvin, P.; Massies, J. Enhanced Excitonic Emission Efficiency in Porous GaN. *Sci Rep* 2018, *8*, 15767, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-34185-1.
- [254] Huang, S.; Zhang, Y.; Leung, B.; Yuan, G.; Wang, G.; Jiang, H.; Fan, Y.; Sun, Q.; Wang, J.; Xu, K.; et al. Mechanical Properties of Nanoporous GaN and Its Application for Separation and Transfer of GaN Thin Films. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2013, 5, 11074–11079, doi:10.1021/am4032345.
- [255] Föll, H.; Carstensen, J.; Frey, S. Porous and Nanoporous Semiconductors and Emerging Applications. *Journal of Nanomaterials* 2006, 2006, e91635, doi:10.1155/JNM/2006/91635.
- [256] Yan, S.; Song, H.; Lin, S.; Wu, H.; Shi, Y.; Yao, J. GeO2 Encapsulated Ge Nanostructure with Enhanced Lithium-Storage Properties. *Advanced Functional Materials* 2019, 29, 1807946, doi:10.1002/adfm.201807946.
- [257] Nanostructured Materials for Next-Generation Energy Storage and Conversion: Fuel Cells; Li, F., Bashir, S., Liu, J.L., Eds.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2018; ISBN 978-3-662-56363-2.
- [258] Choi, S.; Cho, Y.-G.; Kim, J.; Choi, N.-S.; Song, H.-K.; Wang, G.; Park, S. Mesoporous Germanium Anode Materials for Lithium-Ion Battery with Exceptional Cycling Stability in Wide Temperature Range. *Small* 2017, *13*, 1603045, doi:10.1002/smll.201603045.
- [259] Ke, F.-S.; Mishra, K.; Jamison, L.; Peng, X.-X.; Ma, S.-G.; Huang, L.; Sun, S.-G.; Zhou, X.-D. Tailoring Nanostructures in Micrometer Size Germanium Particles to Improve Their Performance as an Anode for Lithium Ion Batteries. *Chem. Commun.* 2014, 50, 3713–3715, doi:10.1039/C4CC00051J.
- [260] Park, M.-H.; Kim, K.; Kim, J.; Cho, J. Flexible Dimensional Control of High-Capacity Li-Ion-Battery Anodes: From 0D Hollow to 3D Porous Germanium Nanoparticle Assemblies. *Advanced Materials* 2010, 22, 415–418, doi:10.1002/adma.200901846.
- [261] Fugattini, S.; Gulzar, U.; Andreoli, A.; Carbone, L.; Boschetti, M.; Bernardoni, P.; Gjestila, M.; Mangherini, G.; Camattari, R.; Li, T.; et al. Binder-Free Nanostructured Germanium Anode for High Resilience Lithium-Ion Battery. *Electrochimica Acta* 2022, 411, 139832, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2022.139832.
- [262] Chen, Z.-G.; Han, G.; Yang, L.; Cheng, L.; Zou, J. Nanostructured Thermoelectric Materials: Current Research and Future Challenge. *Progress in Natural Science: Materials International* 2012, 22, 535–549, doi:10.1016/j.pnsc.2012.11.011.
- [263] Kurlyandskaya, G.V.; Portnov, D.S.; Beketov, I.V.; Larrañaga, A.; Safronov, A.P.; Orue, I.; Medvedev, A.I.; Chlenova, A.A.; Sanchez-Ilarduya, M.B.; Martinez-Amesti, A.; et al. Nanostructured Materials for Magnetic Biosensing. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects* 2017, 1861, 1494–1506, doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.12.003.
- [264] Zegadi, R.; Lorrain, N.; Meziani, S.; Dumeige, Y.; Bodiou, L.; Guendouz, M.; Zegadi, A.; Charrier, J. Theoretical Demonstration of the Interest of Using Porous Germanium to Fabricate Multilayer Vertical Optical Structures for the Detection of SF6 Gas in the Mid-Infrared. *Sensors* 2022, 22, 844, doi:10.3390/s22030844.
- [265] Zegadi, R.; Lorrain, N.; Bodiou, L.; Guendouz, M.; Ziet, L.; Charrier, J. Enhanced Mid-Infrared Gas Absorption Spectroscopic Detection Using Chalcogenide or Porous Germanium Waveguides. J. Opt. 2021, 23, 035102, doi:10.1088/2040-8986/abdf69.
- [266] Cavalcoli, D.; Impellizzeri, G.; Romano, L.; Miritello, M.; Grimaldi, M.G.; Fraboni,
 B. Optical Properties of Nanoporous Germanium Thin Films. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2015, 7, 16992–16998, doi:10.1021/acsami.5b02089.
- [267] Sauze, S.; Aziziyan, M.R.; Brault, P.; Kolhatkar, G.; Ruediger, A.; Korinek, A.; Machon, D.; Arès, R.; Boucherif, A. Integration of 3D Nanographene into

Mesoporous Germanium. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12*, 23984–23994, doi:10.1039/D0NR04937A.

- [268] Machon, D.; Sauze, S.; Arès, R.; Boucherif, A. Probing the Coupling between the Components in a Graphene–Mesoporous Germanium Nanocomposite Using High-Pressure Raman Spectroscopy. *Nanoscale Adv.* 2021, 3, 2577–2584, doi:10.1039/D1NA00123J.
- [269] Impellizzeri, G.; Romano, L.; Fraboni, B.; Scavetta, E.; Ruffino, F.; Bongiorno, C.; Privitera, V.; Grimaldi, M.G. Nanoporous Ge Electrode as a Template for Nano-Sized (<5 Nm) Au Aggregates. *Nanotechnology* 2012, 23, 395604, doi:10.1088/0957-4484/23/39/395604.
- [270] Cavalli, A.; Alkurd, N.; Johnston, S.; Diercks, D.R.; Roberts, D.M.; Ley, B.E.; Simon, J.; Young, D.L.; Packard, C.E.; Ptak, A.J. Performance of III–V Solar Cells Grown on Reformed Mesoporous Ge Templates. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* 2021, 1–7, doi:10.1109/JPHOTOV.2021.3120514.
- [271] Jing, C.; Zhang, C.; Zang, X.; Zhou, W.; Bai, W.; Lin, T.; Chu, J. Fabrication and Characteristics of Porous Germanium Films. *Sci Technol Adv Mater* 2009, 10, 065001, doi:10.1088/1468-6996/10/6/065001.
- [272] Armatas, G.S.; Kanatzidis, M.G. High-Surface-Area Mesoporous Germanium from Oxidative Polymerization of the Deltahedral [Ge9]4– Cluster: Electronic Structure Modulation with Donor and Acceptor Molecules. *Advanced Materials* 2008, 20, 546–550, doi:10.1002/adma.200701751.
- [273] Kartopu, G.; Bayliss, S.C.; Hummel, R.E.; Ekinci, Y. Simultaneous Micro-Raman and Photoluminescence Study of Spark-Processed Germanium: Report on the Origin of the Orange Photoluminescence Emission Band. *Journal of Applied Physics* 2004, 95, 3466–3472, doi:10.1063/1.1650919.
- [274] Yin, H.; Xiao, W.; Mao, X.; Zhu, H.; Wang, D. Preparation of a Porous Nanostructured Germanium from GeO2via a "Reduction–Alloying–Dealloying" Approach. J. Mater. Chem. A 2014, 3, 1427–1430, doi:10.1039/C4TA05244G.
- [275] Toinin, J.P.; Portavoce, A.; Hoummada, K.; Texier, M.; Bertoglio, M.; Bernardini, S.; Abbarchi, M.; Chow, L. Nanoporous Ge Thin Film Production Combining Ge Sputtering and Dopant Implantation. *Beilstein J. Nanotechnol.* 2015, *6*, 336–342, doi:10.3762/bjnano.6.32.
- [276] Rudawski, N.G.; Jones, K.S. Nanostructured Germanium Prepared via Ion Beam Modification. *Journal of Materials Research* 2013, 28, 1633–1645, doi:10.1557/jmr.2013.24.
- [277] Ko, T.S.; Shieh, J.; Yang, M.C.; Lu, T.C.; Kuo, H.C.; Wang, S.C. Phase Transformation and Optical Characteristics of Porous Germanium Thin Film. *Thin Solid Films* 2008, *516*, 2934–2938, doi:10.1016/j.tsf.2007.06.023.
- [278] Zhang, Y.-Y.; Shin, S.-H.; Kang, H.-J.; Jeon, S.; Hwang, S.H.; Zhou, W.; Jeong, J.-H.; Li, X.; Kim, M. Anti-Reflective Porous Ge by Open-Circuit and Lithography-Free Metal-Assisted Chemical Etching. *Applied Surface Science* 2021, 546, 149083, doi:10.1016/j.apsusc.2021.149083.
- [279] Choi, H.C.; Buriak, J.M. Preparation and Functionalization of Hydride Terminated Porous Germanium. *Chem. Commun.* **2000**, 1669–1670, doi:10.1039/B004011H.

- [280] Korotcenkov, G.; Cho, B.K. Silicon Porosification: State of the Art. Critical Reviews in Solid State and Materials Sciences 2010, 35, 153–260, doi:10.1080/10408436.2010.495446.
- [281] Santinacci, L.; Djenizian, T. Electrochemical Pore Formation onto Semiconductor Surfaces. Comptes Rendus Chimie 2008, 11, 964–983, doi:10.1016/j.crci.2008.06.004.
- [282] Dupuy, A.; Roland, A.; Aziziyan, M.R.; Sauze, S.; Machon, D.; Arès, R.; Boucherif, A. Monolithic Integration of Mesoporous Germanium: A Step toward High-Performance on-Chip Anode. *Materials Today Communications* 2021, 26, 101820, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtcomm.2020.101820.
- [283] Uhlir Jr., A. Electrolytic Shaping of Germanium and Silicon. *Bell System Technical Journal* **1956**, *35*, 333–347, doi:10.1002/j.1538-7305.1956.tb02385.x.
- [284] Vazquez, G.; Alvarez, E.; Navaza, J.M. Surface Tension of Alcohol Water + Water from 20 to 50 .Degree.C. J. Chem. Eng. Data 1995, 40, 611–614, doi:10.1021/je00019a016.
- [285] Zhao, M.; Keswani, M. Fabrication of Radially Symmetric Graded Porous Silicon Using a Novel Cell Design. *Sci Rep* 2016, 6, 24864, doi:10.1038/srep24864.
- [286] Fundamentals of Porous Silicon Preparation. In Porous Silicon in Practice; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2011; pp. 1–42 ISBN 978-3-527-64190-1.
- [287] Provost, P.-O.; Boucherif, A. Wafer Receiver, Electrochemical Porosification Apparatus and Method Using Same.
- [288] Zaumseil, P. High-Resolution Characterization of the Forbidden Si 200 and Si 222 Reflections. J Appl Crystallogr 2015, 48, 528–532, doi:10.1107/S1600576715004732.
- [289] Hanuš, T.; Arias-Zapata, J.; Ilahi, B.; Provost, P.-O.; Chapotot, A.; Boucherif, A. Fabrication of Ultrathin Ge Template for Growth of Multijunction Solar Cells Based on Wafer-Scale Porous Ge. In Proceedings of the 2022 IEEE 49th Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC); June 2022; pp. 1291–1291.
- [290] Paupy, N.; Elhmaidi, Z.O.; Chapotot, A.; Hanuš, T.; Arias-Zapata, J.; Ilahi, B.; Heintz, A.; Mbeunmi, A.B.P.; Arvinte, R.; Aziziyan, M.R.; et al. Wafer-Scale Detachable Monocrystalline Germanium Nanomembranes for the Growth of III–V Materials and Substrate Reuse. *Nanoscale Adv.* 2023, doi:10.1039/D3NA00053B.
- [291] Veldhuis, S.A.; Brinks, P.; Stawski, T.M.; Göbel, O.F.; ten Elshof, J.E. A Facile Method for the Density Determination of Ceramic Thin Films Using X-Ray Reflectivity. J Sol-Gel Sci Technol 2014, 71, 118–128, doi:10.1007/s10971-014-3336-2.
- [292] Bessaïs, B. Ultrathin Porous Silicon Films. In *Handbook of Porous Silicon*; Canham, L., Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2018; pp. 157–165 ISBN 978-3-319-71381-6.
- [293] Fodor, B.; Agocs, E.; Bardet, B.; Defforge, T.; Cayrel, F.; Alquier, D.; Fried, M.; Gautier, G.; Petrik, P. Porosity and Thickness Characterization of Porous Si and Oxidized Porous Si Layers – An Ultraviolet–Visible–Mid Infrared Ellipsometry Study. *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials* 2016, 227, 112–120, doi:10.1016/j.micromeso.2016.02.039.

- [294] Aspnes, D.E.; Studna, A.A. Dielectric Functions and Optical Parameters of Si, Ge, GaP, GaAs, GaSb, InP, InAs, and InSb from 1.5 to 6.0 eV. *Phys. Rev. B* 1983, 27, 985–1009, doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.27.985.
- [295] Di, M.; Bersch, E.; Diebold, A.C.; Consiglio, S.; Clark, R.D.; Leusink, G.J.; Kaack, T. Comparison of Methods to Determine Bandgaps of Ultrathin HfO2 Films Using Spectroscopic Ellipsometry. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A* 2011, 29, 041001, doi:10.1116/1.3597838.
- [296] Hanuš, T.; Ilahi, B.; Chapotot, A.; Pelletier, H.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Boucherif, A. Wafer-Scale Ge Freestanding Membranes for Lightweight and Flexible Optoelectronics. *Materials Today Advances* 2023, 18, 100373, doi:10.1016/j.mtadv.2023.100373.
- [297] Myny, K. The Development of Flexible Integrated Circuits Based on Thin-Film Transistors. *Nat Electron* 2018, 1, 30–39, doi:10.1038/s41928-017-0008-6.
- [298] Lee, Y.; Chung, J.W.; Lee, G.H.; Kang, H.; Kim, J.-Y.; Bae, C.; Yoo, H.; Jeong, S.; Cho, H.; Kang, S.-G.; et al. Standalone Real-Time Health Monitoring Patch Based on a Stretchable Organic Optoelectronic System. *Science Advances* 2021, 7, eabg 9180, doi:10.1126/sciadv.abg9180.
- [299] Wang, P.; Hu, M.; Wang, H.; Chen, Z.; Feng, Y.; Wang, J.; Ling, W.; Huang, Y. The Evolution of Flexible Electronics: From Nature, Beyond Nature, and To Nature. *Advanced Science* 2020, 7, 2001116, doi:10.1002/advs.202001116.
- [300] Choi, S.; Kang, C.; Byun, C.-W.; Cho, H.; Kwon, B.-H.; Han, J.-H.; Yang, J.-H.; Shin, J.-W.; Hwang, C.-S.; Cho, N.S.; et al. Thin-Film Transistor-Driven Vertically Stacked Full-Color Organic Light-Emitting Diodes for High-Resolution Active-Matrix Displays. *Nat Commun* 2020, 11, 2732, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-16551-8.
- [301] Shulaker, M.M.; Hills, G.; Park, R.S.; Howe, R.T.; Saraswat, K.; Wong, H.-S.P.; Mitra, S. Three-Dimensional Integration of Nanotechnologies for Computing and Data Storage on a Single Chip. *Nature* 2017, 547, 74–78, doi:10.1038/nature22994.
- [302] Qin, G.; Jung, Y.H.; Zhang, H.; Jiang, N.; Ma, P.; Stetson, S.; Racanelli, M.; Ma, Z. Microwave Flexible Electronics Directly Transformed from Foundry-Produced, Multilayered Monolithic Integrated Circuits. *Advanced Electronic Materials* 2022, 8, 2101350, doi:10.1002/aelm.202101350.
- [303] Kim, D.-H.; Ahn, J.-H.; Choi, W.M.; Kim, H.-S.; Kim, T.-H.; Song, J.; Huang, Y.Y.; Liu, Z.; Lu, C.; Rogers, J.A. Stretchable and Foldable Silicon Integrated Circuits. *Science* 2008, 320, 507–511, doi:10.1126/science.1154367.
- [304] Tai, Y.-C.; An, S.; Huang, P.-R.; Jheng, Y.-T.; Lee, K.-C.; Cheng, H.-H.; Kim, M.; Chang, G.-E. Transfer-Printing-Enabled GeSn Flexible Resonant-Cavity-Enhanced Photodetectors with Strain-Amplified Mid-Infrared Optical Responses. *Nanoscale* 2023, 10.1039.D2NR07107J, doi:10.1039/D2NR07107J.
- [305] Kunert, B.; Mols, Y.; Baryshniskova, M.; Waldron, N.; Schulze, A.; Langer, R. How to Control Defect Formation in Monolithic III/V Hetero-Epitaxy on (100) Si? A Critical Review on Current Approaches. *Semicond. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 33, 093002, doi:10.1088/1361-6641/aad655.
- [306] Jin, H.; Jin, H.; Chen, L.; Chen, L.; Li, J.; Li, J.; An, X.; Wu, Y.P.; Zhu, L.; Yi, H.; et al. Vertically Stacked RGB LEDs with Optimized Distributed Bragg Reflectors. *Opt. Lett.*, *OL* 2020, 45, 6671–6674, doi:10.1364/OL.408416.

- [307] Chun, J.; Lee, K.J.; Leem, Y.-C.; Kang, W.-M.; Jeong, T.; Baek, J.H.; Lee, H.J.; Kim, B.-J.; Park, S.-J. Vertically Stacked Color Tunable Light-Emitting Diodes Fabricated Using Wafer Bonding and Transfer Printing. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2014, 6, 19482–19487, doi:10.1021/am505415q.
- [308] Lim, J.; Shim, J.; Geum, D.-M.; Kim, S. Experimental Demonstration of Germanium-on-Silicon Slot Waveguides at Mid-Infrared Wavelength. *IEEE Photonics Journal* 2022, 14, 1–9, doi:10.1109/JPHOT.2022.3167695.
- [309] Kang, J.; Cheng, Z.; Zhou, W.; Xiao, T.-H.; Gopalakrisna, K.-L.; Takenaka, M.; Tsang, H.K.; Goda, K. Focusing Subwavelength Grating Coupler for Mid-Infrared Suspended Membrane Germanium Waveguides. *Opt. Lett.*, *OL* 2017, *42*, 2094– 2097, doi:10.1364/OL.42.002094.
- [310] Liu, C.; Ma, W.; Chen, M.; Ren, W.; Sun, D. A Vertical Silicon-Graphene-Germanium Transistor. *Nat Commun* 2019, 10, 4873, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12814-1.
- [311] Atalla, M.R.M.; Assali, S.; Attiaoui, A.; Lemieux-Leduc, C.; Kumar, A.; Abdi, S.; Moutanabbir, O. All-Group IV Transferable Membrane Mid-Infrared Photodetectors. *Advanced Functional Materials* 2021, 31, 2006329, doi:10.1002/adfm.202006329.
- [312] Cho, N.; Kim, M.; Ma, Z. Germainum Photodetectors Coupled with Silicon Waveguides on a Flexible Substrate Using Nanomembrane Transfer Printing Method. In Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Group IV Photonics; August 2013; pp. 77–78.
- [313] Wu, S.; Zhou, H.; Chen, Q.; Zhang, L.; Lee, K.H.; Bao, S.; Fan, W.; Tan, C.S. Suspended Germanium Membranes Photodetector with Tunable Biaxial Tensile Strain and Location-Determined Wavelength-Selective Photoresponsivity. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2021**, *119*, 191106, doi:10.1063/5.0068849.
- [314] Nam, D.; Roy, A.M.; Huang, K.C.Y.; Brongersma, M.L.; Saraswat, K.C. Strained Germanium Membrane Using Thin Film Stressor for High Efficiency Laser. In Proceedings of the CLEO:2011 - Laser Applications to Photonic Applications (2011), paper JTuI85; Optica Publishing Group, May 1 2011; p. JTuI85.
- [315] Armand Pilon, F.T.; Lyasota, A.; Niquet, Y.-M.; Reboud, V.; Calvo, V.; Pauc, N.; Widiez, J.; Bonzon, C.; Hartmann, J.M.; Chelnokov, A.; et al. Lasing in Strained Germanium Microbridges. *Nat Commun* 2019, *10*, 2724, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-10655-6.
- [316] La Mattina, A.A.; Mariani, S.; Barillaro, G. Bioresorbable Materials on the Rise: From Electronic Components and Physical Sensors to In Vivo Monitoring Systems. *Advanced Science* 2020, 7, 1902872, doi:10.1002/advs.201902872.
- [317] Zhao, H.; Xue, Z.; Wu, X.; Wei, Z.; Guo, Q.; Xu, M.; Qu, C.; You, C.; Mei, Y.; Zhang, M.; et al. Biodegradable Germanium Electronics for Integrated Biosensing of Physiological Signals. *npj Flex Electron* 2022, *6*, 1–10, doi:10.1038/s41528-022-00196-2.
- [318] Kim, Y.; Cruz, S.S.; Lee, K.; Alawode, B.O.; Choi, C.; Song, Y.; Johnson, J.M.; Heidelberger, C.; Kong, W.; Choi, S.; et al. Remote Epitaxy through Graphene Enables Two-Dimensional Material-Based Layer Transfer. *Nature* 2017, 544, 340– 343, doi:10.1038/nature22053.

- [319] Kong, W.; Li, H.; Qiao, K.; Kim, Y.; Lee, K.; Nie, Y.; Lee, D.; Osadchy, T.; Molnar, R.J.; Gaskill, D.K.; et al. Polarity Governs Atomic Interaction through Two-Dimensional Materials. *Nature Mater* 2018, 17, 999–1004, doi:10.1038/s41563-018-0176-4.
- [320] Bae, S.-H.; Lu, K.; Han, Y.; Kim, S.; Qiao, K.; Choi, C.; Nie, Y.; Kim, H.; Kum, H.S.; Chen, P.; et al. Graphene-Assisted Spontaneous Relaxation towards Dislocation-Free Heteroepitaxy. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2020, 15, 272–276, doi:10.1038/s41565-020-0633-5.
- [321] Jiang, J.; Sun, X.; Chen, X.; Wang, B.; Chen, Z.; Hu, Y.; Guo, Y.; Zhang, L.; Ma, Y.; Gao, L.; et al. Carrier Lifetime Enhancement in Halide Perovskite via Remote Epitaxy. *Nat Commun* 2019, 10, 4145, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12056-1.
- [322] Yoon, J.; Jo, S.; Chun, I.S.; Jung, I.; Kim, H.-S.; Meitl, M.; Menard, E.; Li, X.; Coleman, J.J.; Paik, U.; et al. GaAs Photovoltaics and Optoelectronics Using Releasable Multilayer Epitaxial Assemblies. *Nature* 2010, 465, 329–333, doi:10.1038/nature09054.
- [323] Maeda, T.; Chang, W.-H.; Irisawa, T.; Ishii, H.; Hattori, H.; Poborchii, V.; Kurashima, Y.; Takagi, H.; Uchida, N. Advanced Germanium Layer Transfer for Ultra Thin Body on Insulator Structure. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2016**, *109*, 262104, doi:10.1063/1.4973405.
- [324] Akatsu, T.; Deguet, C.; Sanchez, L.; Allibert, F.; Rouchon, D.; Signamarcheix, T.; Richtarch, C.; Boussagol, A.; Loup, V.; Mazen, F.; et al. Germanium-on-Insulator (GeOI) Substrates—A Novel Engineered Substrate for Future High Performance Devices. *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing* 2006, 9, 444–448, doi:10.1016/j.mssp.2006.08.077.
- [325] Chapotot, A.; Ilahi, B.; Arias-Zapata, J.; Hanuš, T.; Ayari, A.; Hamon, G.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Darnon, M.; Boucherif, A. Cost-Effective Ge Substrate Reconditioning by Wet Etching for Substrate Reuse. *Surfaces and Interfaces (To be published)*.
- [326] Falub, C.V.; von Känel, H.; Isa, F.; Bergamaschini, R.; Marzegalli, A.; Chrastina, D.; Isella, G.; Müller, E.; Niedermann, P.; Miglio, L. Scaling Hetero-Epitaxy from Layers to Three-Dimensional Crystals. *Science* 2012, 335, 1330–1334, doi:10.1126/science.1217666.
- [327] Thompson, W.H.; Yamani, Z.; Nayfeh, H.M.; Hasan, M.-A.; Greene, J.E.; Nayfeh, M.H. Growth of Germanium on Porous Silicon (001). *MRS Online Proceedings Library* 1996, 452, 255–260, doi:10.1557/PROC-452-255.
- [328] Van Hoof, G.; Schurmans, M.; Robertz, B.; Ménard, J.-F.; Dessein, K. Moving Towards Sustainable Germanium Sourcing Evaluated by Means of Life Cycle Assessment. J. Sustain. Metall. 2020, 6, 333–343, doi:10.1007/s40831-020-00277-4.
- [329] Hanuš, T.; Ilahi, B.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Boucherif, A. Sustainable Production of Ultrathin Ge Freestanding Membranes. *Sustainability* 2024, 16, 1444, doi:10.3390/su16041444.
- [330] Blanco, E.; Martín, P.; Domínguez, M.; Fernández-Palacios, P.; Lombardero, I.; Sanchez-Perez, C.; García, I.; Algora, C.; Gabás, M. Refractive Indices and Extinction Coefficients of P-Type Doped Germanium Wafers for Photovoltaic and Thermophotovoltaic Devices. *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells* 2024, 264, 112612, doi:10.1016/j.solmat.2023.112612.

- [331] Daligou, G.; Soref, R.; Attiaoui, A.; Hossain, J.; Atalla, M.R.M.; Vecchio, P.D.; Moutanabbir, O. Group IV Mid-Infrared Thermophotovoltaic Cells on Silicon. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* 2023, 13, 728–735, doi:10.1109/JPHOTOV.2023.3282707.
- [332] van der Heide, J.; Posthuma, N.E.; Flamand, G.; Poortmans, J. Development of Low-cost Thermophotovoltaic Cells Using Germanium Substrates. *AIP Conference Proceedings* 2007, 890, 129–138, doi:10.1063/1.2711729.
- [333] King, R.R.; Law, D.C.; Edmondson, K.M.; Fetzer, C.M.; Kinsey, G.S.; Yoon, H.; Sherif, R.A.; Karam, N.H. 40% Efficient Metamorphic GaInP/GaInAs/Ge Multijunction Solar Cells. *Applied Physics Letters* 2007, 90, 183516, doi:10.1063/1.2734507.
- [334] European Commission (EC) (2020) Critical Raw Materials Resilience: Charting a Path towards Greater Security and Sustainability Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/42849 (accessed on 10 January 2024).
- [335] Interior Releases 2018's Final List of 35 Minerals Deemed Critical to U.S. National Security and the Economy | U.S. Geological Survey Available online: https://www.usgs.gov/news/national-news-release/interior-releases-2018s-finallist-35-minerals-deemed-critical-us (accessed on 10 January 2024).
- [336] Thomas, C.L. United States Geological Survey (USGS) 2018 Minerals Yearbook -Germanium Available online: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/national-mineralsinformation-center/germanium-statistics-and-information.
- [337] United States Geological Survey (USGS) 2023 Mineral Commodity Summaries -Germanium Available online: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/national-mineralsinformation-center/germanium-statistics-and-information.
- [338] Kamran Haghighi, H.; Irannajad, M. Roadmap for Recycling of Germanium from Various Resources: Reviews on Recent Developments and Feasibility Views. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 2022, 29, 48126–48151, doi:10.1007/s11356-022-20649-5.
- [339] Meshram, P.; Abhilash Strategies for Recycling of Primary and Secondary Resources for Germanium Extraction. *Mining, Metallurgy & Exploration* 2022, 39, 689–707, doi:10.1007/s42461-022-00549-5.
- [340] Germanium Substrates Available online: https://eom.umicore.com/en/germaniumsolutions/products/germanium-substrates/ (accessed on 10 January 2024).
- [341] Lombardero, I.; Ochoa, M.; Miyashita, N.; Okada, Y.; Algora, C. Theoretical and Experimental Assessment of Thinned Germanium Substrates for III–V Multijunction Solar Cells. *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications* 2020, 28, 1097–1106, doi:10.1002/pip.3281.
- [342] Algora, C.; García, I.; Palacios, P.F.; Gómez-Reboreda, D.; Martín, P.; Sanchez-Perez, C.; Cifuentes, L.; Lombardero, I.; Gabás, M.; Rey-Stolle, I. Advances in Flexible and Lightweight 3J Space Solar Cells for High Power Density Applications. In Proceedings of the 2023 13th European Space Power Conference (ESPC); October 2023; pp. 1–4.
- [343] Moon, S.; Kim, K.; Kim, Y.; Kang, H.K.; Park, K.-H.; Lee, J. Ultrathin Flexible Ge Solar Cells for Lattice-Matched Thin-Film InGaP/(In)GaAs/Ge Tandem Solar Cells. *Solar RRL* 2023, 7, 2300387, doi:10.1002/solr.202300387.
- [344] Cavalli, A.; Alkurd, N.; Johnston, S.; Diercks, D.R.; Roberts, D.M.; Ley, B.E.; Simon, J.; Young, D.L.; Packard, C.E.; Ptak, A.J. Performance of III–V Solar Cells

Grown on Reformed Mesoporous Ge Templates. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* **2022**, *12*, 337–343, doi:10.1109/JPHOTOV.2021.3120514.

- [345] Martín, P.; Orejuela, V.; Sanchez-Perez, C.; García, I.; Rey-Stolle, I. Device Architectures for Germanium TPV Cells with Efficiencies over 30%. In Proceedings of the 2023 14th Spanish Conference on Electron Devices (CDE); June 2023; pp. 1– 4.
- [346] Guo, Q.; Fang, Y.; Zhang, M.; Huang, G.; Chu, P.K.; Mei, Y.; Di, Z.; Wang, X. Wrinkled Single-Crystalline Germanium Nanomembranes for Stretchable Photodetectors. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 2017, 64, 1985–1990, doi:10.1109/TED.2016.2618423.
- [347] Nam, D.; Sukhdeo, D.; Roy, A.; Balram, K.; Cheng, S.-L.; Huang, K.C.-Y.; Yuan, Z.; Brongersma, M.; Nishi, Y.; Miller, D.; et al. Strained Germanium Thin Film Membrane on Silicon Substrate for Optoelectronics. *Opt. Express, OE* 2011, 19, 25866–25872, doi:10.1364/OE.19.025866.
- [348] Jeong, J.; Kim, T.; Lee, B.J.; Lee, J. PCA-Based Sub-Surface Structure and Defect Analysis for Germanium-on-Nothing Using Nanoscale Surface Topography. *Sci Rep* 2022, 12, 7205, doi:10.1038/s41598-022-11185-w.
- [349] Zhu, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Li, B.; Xia, G. (Maggie); Wen, R.-T. Achieving Porous Germanium from Both P- and n-Type Epitaxial Ge-on-Si via Bipolar Potentiostatic Etching. *Electrochimica Acta* 2023, 470, 143307, doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2023.143307.
- [350] Karagoz, A.; Basim, G.B. Controlling Germanium CMP Selectivity through Slurry Mediation by Surface Active Agents. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 2015, 4, P5097, doi:10.1149/2.0151511jss.
- [351] Cerniglia, N.; Wang, P. Dissolution of Germanium in Aqueous Hydrogen Peroxide Solution. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1962, 109, 508, doi:10.1149/1.2425457.
- [352] Turner, D.R. On the Mechanism of Chemically Etching Germanium and Silicon. J. *Electrochem. Soc.* **1960**, *107*, 810, doi:10.1149/1.2427519.
- [353] Chapotot, A.; Ilahi, B.; Arias-Zapata, J.; Hanuš, T.; Ayari, A.; Hamon, G.; Cho, J.; Dessein, K.; Darnon, M.; Boucherif, A. Germanium Surface Wet-Etch-Reconditioning for Porous Lift-off and Substrate Reuse. *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing* 2023, 168, 107851, doi:10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107851.
- [354] Czochralski, J. Ein Neues Verfahren Zur Messung Der Kristallisationsgeschwindigkeit Der Metalle. Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie 1918, 92U, 219–221, doi:10.1515/zpch-1918-9212.
- [355] Teal, G.K.; Sparks, M.; Buehler, E. Growth of Germanium Single Crystals Containing p – n Junctions. *Phys. Rev.* 1951, 81, 637–637, doi:10.1103/PhysRev.81.637.
- [356] Depuydt, B.; Theuwis, A.; Romandic, I. Germanium: From the First Application of Czochralski Crystal Growth to Large Diameter Dislocation-Free Wafers. *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing* 2006, 9, 437–443, doi:10.1016/j.mssp.2006.08.002.
- [357] Kim, H.; Kim, J.C.; Jeong, Y.; Yu, J.; Lu, K.; Lee, D.; Kim, N.; Jeong, H.Y.; Kim, J.; Kim, S. Role of Transferred Graphene on Atomic Interaction of GaAs for Remote Epitaxy. *Journal of Applied Physics* 2021, *130*, 174901, doi:10.1063/5.0064232.